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WIT-83173

From: Medical Directors Office 
To: O"Brien, Aidan 
Cc: Mackle, Eamon; medical revalidation 
Subject: CORRESPONDENCE FROM DR RICHARD WRIGHT, MEDICAL DIRECTOR - IMMEDIATE RESPONSE 

REQUIRED 
Date: 30 November 2015 15:30:36 
Importance: High 

Dear Mr O’Brien, despite constant reminders as per the emails below, you 
have still not submitted appraisal documentation for the period January to 
December 2014 nor have you advised the Revalidation Team when you are 
planning to hold your appraisal meeting. As you are aware, the 
requirement to undertake an annual appraisal is a contractual one and it is 
also your professional responsibility to participate in the Trust’s Medical 
Appraisal Scheme. 

Therefore please advise by return the date of your 
appraisal meeting and ensure that your documentation is 

received by the Revalidation Team no later than Friday 

18th December 2015. 

Kind regards 
Dr Richard Wright 
Medical Director 
(Responsible Officer) 

From: medical revalidation 
Sent: 17 November 2015 14:54 
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Subject: RE: Appraisal 2014
Importance: High 

Dear Aidan, just following up on the email below. 

Regards, 
Patrick 

REVALIDATION TEAM 

Visit the dedicated SouthernDocs website for 
information on Appraisal & Revalidation, 
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Medical Training and Paying/Private Patients 
www.southerndocs.hscni.net 
( ) 

Personal Information redacted by the 
USI

From: medical revalidation 
Sent: 03 November 2015 12:02 
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Subject: Appraisal 2014 

Dear Aidan, just following up on the email below. Can you complete your Paying Patients 
Declaration and scan it back to us. Also can you scan across your appraisal forms and ensure they 
include the following: 

1. Front page completed; 
2. Forms 1-7 completed and duly signed; 
3. Appendixes 1, 2 & 3 completed. 

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
Sent: 19 October 2015 13:26 
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Subject: Appraisal 2014 

Hi Aidan, just following up on the email below, can you confirm that your appraisal is in progress 
or complete and if complete can you scan the following duly completed and signed off forms:-

1 Front page 
2 Form 1-7 
3 Appendices 1, 2 & 3 

Many thanks for your assistance in this matter. 

Regards 
Katie 

www.southerndocs.hscni.net
www.southerndocs.hscni.net
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WIT-83175
REVALIDATION TEAM 

Visit the dedicated SouthernDocs website for 
information on Appraisal & Revalidation, 
Medical Training and Paying/Private Patients 
www.southerndocs.hscni.net 
( 

Personal Information redacted by the 
USI ) 

From: medical revalidation 
Sent: 05 October 2015 22:06 
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Cc: Mackle, Eamon 
Subject: FOR IMMEDIATE RESPONSE PLEASE 

Hello Aidan, just following up on the emails below.  We need a response as 
soon as you can please. 

Kind regards 
Revalidation Team 

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

From: Thompson, Norma
Sent: 25 September 2015 11:15
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Subject: FOR IMMEDIATE RESPONSE PLEASE 

Hello Aidan, can you please advise by return the date of your appraisal 
meeting as we have yet to receive a response to the reminder emails 
below.  We have to produce regular reports for the Trust Board and 
Governance Committee as to who hasn’t completed their medical appraisal 
as yet. However if you let us know a date we can record you as ‘In Progress’ 
on our database, rather than ‘Not Complete’. 

You will also have received emails about completing a Paying Patients 

www.southerndocs.hscni.net
www.southerndocs.hscni.net
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Declaration which we need submitted by the end of September 2015 in 
order to meet Internal Audit requirements (even if you do not undertaking 
Paying / Private Patient work, you still need to complete this form to say 
so).  Can you complete the attached and return to this email address as 
soon as possible please. 

Thanks for your assistance with this. 

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
Sent: 14 September 2015 11:53
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Subject: FW: FOR REPLY / ACTION: YOUR OUTSTANDING 2014 APPRAISAL 

Hello Aidan just following up on the email below. 

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
Sent: 04 September 2015 13:45
To: 'O'Brien, Aidan' 
Subject: FW: FOR REPLY / ACTION: YOUR OUTSTANDING 2014 APPRAISAL 

Hello Aidan just following up on the email below. 

www.southerndocs.hscni.net
www.southerndocs.hscni.net


Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 04/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

WIT-83177

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
Sent: 27 August 2015 16:05
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
Personal Information redacted by the USI

From: medical revalidation 
Sent: 20 August 2015 21:36
To: O'Brien, Aidan 
Subject: FOR REPLY / ACTION: YOUR OUTSTANDING 2014 APPRAISAL 

Medical Director’s Office 
CONFIDENTIAL VIA EMAIL 

Dear Colleague 

www.southerndocs.hscni.net
www.southerndocs.hscni.net
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Further to the reminder email below, our records indicate that we have yet 
to receive confirmation that you have had an appraisal for the calendar 
year January to December 2014 or are in the process of arranging one.  As 
you are aware, the requirement to undertake an annual appraisal is a 
contractual one and it is also your professional responsibility to participate 
in the Trust’s Medical Appraisal Scheme. 

Therefore, please confirm by return the date of your planned Appraisal 
meeting.  Once your appraisal meeting has taken place, please ensure you 
forward all of your original signed appraisal documentation either to this 
email address or by post to Katie Shields, Medical Director’s Office, Clanrye 
House, Daisy Hill Hospital, Newry in order that we may update our 
database.  All Forms 1 to 7 and Appendix 1 (Training Matrix), Appendix 2 
(Appraiser Feedback) and Appendix 3 (Appraisee Feedback) must be 
submitted along with the new front page checklist (current forms attached 
for ease of reference).  The original Forms 1 to 7 will be returned to you 
once they have been saved electronically. 

NB:  It is your responsibility to organise your appraisal meeting and 
to submit your documentation to the Revalidation Team - click here 
for an up-to-date directory of trained Appraisers. 

Please note your signed completed appraisal 
documentation must be submitted to us no later than the 

end of September 2015 in order to meet audit 
requirements. 

If you have already completed your appraisal and believe you have 
submitted your documentation please let us know.  In the meantime, if you 
have any queries or wish to discuss further please do not hesitate to 
contact us. 

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
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) 
Personal Information redacted by the USI

From: medical revalidation 
Sent: 20 July 2015 17:43
To: All Consultant and SAS Grades 
Subject: FOR ACTION: OUTSTANDING 2014 APPRAISALS 
Importance: High 

Dear Colleagues – just a reminder that all 2014 appraisal documentation should have 
been submitted to the Medical Director’s Office by now.  If you haven’t already done 
so, can you please submit all signed originals and appendices (as per the email below) 
to Katie Shields, Revalidation Support Team, Clanrye House, DHH via internal mail or 
by scanning the originals and emailing them to this email address no later than the 
end of August 2015. 

NB:  If you have already submitted your 2014 appraisal documentation 
and have received confirmation of receipt from the Medical Director’s 
office then please disregard this email. 

Kind regards 
Revalidation Support Team 

From: medical revalidation 
Sent: 05 January 2015 12:36
To: AMDs, CDs, Consultants, SAS Doctors 
Subject: TRUST'S MEDICAL APPRAISAL FORMS 

Dear Colleagues – there have been a few old versions of the Trust’s Medical Appraisal 
Forms submitted recently with some of the appendices missing.  Please note the 
forms were updated last April and there are now four appendices, along with Forms 1 
to 7 as follows:-

Appendix 1 – Training Matrix (must be submitted) 
Appendix 2 – Appraiser Feedback form (must be submitted) 
Appendix 3 – Appraisee Feedback form (must be submitted) 
Appendix 4 – Aide Memoire and Quality Assurance Tool (for own use as a checklist – 
does not need to be submitted). 

The most up to date appraisal forms are attached but can also be downloaded from 

www.southerndocs.hscni.net
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WIT-83180
Personal Information redacted by 

the USI

http://www.southerndocs.hscni.net/appraisalscheme/ 

Please also ensure that the signed originals of all 7 Appraisal Forms are submitted via 
internal mail to the Revalidation Support Team, Medical Director’s Office, Clanrye 
House, DHH.  The forms will then be scanned in and saved electronically before being 
returned to you with an acknowledgement memo.  Until all of the forms and required 
appendices have been submitted, your appraisal for that year will be recorded as 
incomplete. 

Appraisals for the period January to December 2014 are due to be submitted by May 
2015 therefore you should be commencing the process soon if you have not already 
done so.  Please email the Revalidation Support Team for any information you 
require for your 2014 appraisal documentation. 

In the meantime, if you have any other appraisal and / or revalidation queries, please 
do not hesitate to contact us. 

Kind regards 
Revalidation Support Team 

http://www.southerndocs.hscni.net/appraisalscheme
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© 2016 The British Association of Urological Surgeons 

The text of this document may be reproduced free of charge in any format or 
medium provided it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading context. 
The material must be acknowledged as BAUS copyright and the document title 
correctly specifed. 

BAUS is a registered charity in England and Wales (1127044) 

Email: admin@baus.org.uk 

Website: www.baus.org.uk 

www.baus.org.uk
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Introduction 
It is now 15 years since the document ‘A Quality Urological Service 
for Patients in the New Millennium’ with guidelines on workload, 
manpower and standards of care in urology was published by BAUS. 
Delivery of urological care has been transformed in the interim due to 
changes in the socio-political environment allied to advances in medical 
care. Examples include the introduction of new technology, the move 
away from open surgery, the development of rapid diagnostic services, 
increased public expectation and government targets on the timely 
delivery of health care. 

At present there are approximately 1000 consultant urologists working 
in the UK. The UK has one of the lowest rates of consultants per head of 
the population in Europe and consultant urologists have a challenging 
role delivering expert and timely clinical care. 

Careful job planning is crucial to enable consultants to fulfl their role 
successfully and support them to deliver high quality safe patient 
care.  At its most basic, job planning may include routine outpatients, 
diagnosis and management of complex cases, operating and 
contributing to the effcient running of the urology unit. In addition, all 
consultant urologists are expected to participate in quality improvement 
initiatives, as outlined in the GMC document ‘Good Medical Practice’. For 
consultant urologists working in the UK, this entails a commitment to 
contribute to the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) 
Clinical Outcomes Publication (COP) Programme, which is supported by 
BAUS through its various national audits.  It also involves spending time 
and effort refecting on, and reviewing, patient care activities so that 
quality and safety improve continuously. 

Hence, the roles of a consultant urologist are many and diverse; 
teaching, training, researching, managerial decision making, running 
departments and developing local services. It would not be expected 
that all consultants are involved in all these activities at the same time 
but rather that they are undertaken across a team of consultants at 
specialty/directorate level. The NHS depends on consultants being 
involved in the wider management and leadership of the organisations 
they work in, and the NHS generally. 
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A successful job plan should facilitate these activities and refect the 
diverse roles that the consultant plays in shaping and developing 
services.  It should also enable a healthy work-life balance, avoiding 
burnout. 

This document details the essential components of a successful job plan 
and offers guidance on the activity that consultants might deliver on 
behalf of their trust, aiming to deliver safe timely care, focusing on the 
individual needs of the patient.  Much of the source material can be 
accessed elsewhere and a comprehensive list of references is detailed in 
Appendix 6. 

Personal Information redacted by the USI

Kieran J. O’Flynn 

President, BAUS 
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2 Making Job Planning a 
Success         

2.1 What is a job plan? 
Job plans are an annual agreement between the employer and the 
consultant setting out: 

• the work that is done for the trust, refecting a balance between 
operative work, outpatients and emergency care 

• when and where the work is done 

• how much time you are expected to be available for work 

• what will be delivered for the employer, patients and the employee 

• what resources are necessary for the work to be achieved 

• what fexibility there is around the above 

2.2 What are the hallmarks of a 
successful job plan? 

Key to a successful job plan is a ft for purpose process.  Job planning 
should be: 

• undertaken in a spirit of collaboration and co-operation 

• completed in good time 

• refective of the professionalism of being a doctor 

• focused on measurable outcomes that beneft patients 

• consistent with the objectives of the NHS, the employing 
organisation and the teams and individuals with whom the urologist 
will work 



Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 04/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

  
 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
  

 

5 2 - Making Job Planning a Success WIT-83187

• clear about the supporting resources the trust will provide to ensure 
that objectives can be met 

• transparent, fair and honest 

• fexible and responsive to changing service needs during each job 
plan year 

• fully agreed and not imposed 

• focused on enhancing outcomes for patients whilst maintaining 
service effciency 

It is important that the support offered by non-medical personnel (e.g. 
surgical care practitioners, administrative staff, specialist nurses etc) is 
shared between all consultants in the department. 

Agreement should also be sought on any action(s) the consultant and/or 
trust should take to reduce or remove potential organisational or systems 
barriers. 

2.3 How might a job plan be constructed? 
The services provided by a consultant fall into 4 broad categories: 

• Direct Clinical Care (DCC) 

• Supporting Professional Activities (SPAs) 

• Additional responsibilities (Trust based) 

• External duties (outside Trust) 

Consultants remain accountable to their employer for the achievement 
of agreed objectives in both DCC and SPA time. While consultants receive 
an SPA allowance, this is generally to support CPD and other activities 
commensurate to the consultant grade and to the service objectives 
of the employer. This gives the employer the right to monitor the 
performance of the consultant during SPA time, looking at time spent 
and outcomes achieved. 
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2.4 When should the job plan be 
reviewed? 

The job plan should be reviewed on an annual basis.  All aspects of the 
job plan should be used to consider, amongst other possible issues: 

• what factors affect the achievement, or otherwise, of objectives 

• adequacy of resources to meet objectives 

• any possible changes to duties or responsibilities, or the schedule of 
programmed activities 

• ways of improving management of workload 

• the planning and management of the consultant’s career in the short 
and long term 
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3 Direct Clinical Care 
For consultant urologists, this includes the following: 

• outpatient activities 

• operating sessions including pre-op and post-op care 

• emergency duties (including emergency work carried out during or 
arising from on-call) 

• clinical diagnostic work, other patient treatment 

• multi-disciplinary team meetings about direct patient care 

• administration directly related to the above 

3.1 Outpatient activities 
For most urologists, the majority of their clinical practice is based in 
outpatients. The conversion rate from outpatient activity to an inpatient 
stay has reduced in recent years with the greater use of outpatient 
diagnostics and day case facilities. Increasingly the model for the 
provision of outpatient services has shifted with more activity being 
delivered on a one-stop basis where the patient is discharged after a 
single comprehensive appointment that may include imaging (e.g. 
ultrasound and/or CT) and endoscopy. Where such a model is delivered 
it is anticipated that 60-70% patients can be safely discharged back to 
primary care. 

BAUS’ view is that enormous clinics are no longer appropriate. Patients 
deserve a full discussion where their concerns can be listened to 
and addressed. Recent clarifcation of the law concerning consent 
(Montgomery vs Lanarkshire Health Board, 2015) mandates that, in the 
event an intervention or operative procedure is planned, the urologist is 
required to share all relevant information with the patient to help him/ 
her decide whether (or not) to proceed with an intervention or procedure. 
Not only must urologists carefully counsel the patient, they must also 
document the discussion as part of the consent process, or indeed the 
patient’s reluctance to have a procedure performed. This inevitably takes 
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time and the proposed clinic templates, which are less onerous than 
previously published standards, refect these changes in practice. 

3.2 Weekend working 
With increasing pressure towards 7-day working, trusts may request 
that urologists provide regular non-emergency Saturday working.  At 
present this can only be done by mutual agreement.  New consultant 
appointments by trusts may specify regular Saturday work and an 
individual who applies for a post on this basis would demonstrate their 
consent to the arrangements. Urologists should seek assurances that the 
same level of support and mentoring would be available on Saturdays 
as would be available to them, and other consultants in the department, 
during Monday to Friday. Without such support (e.g. administrative 
support, nursing input, post-operative care, radiology, pathology and 
support of medical doctors), a newly appointed consultant would fnd 
it diffcult to meet the obligations in the Royal College of Surgeons of 
England’s ‘Good Surgical Practice’. 
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93 - Direct Clinical Care WIT-83191

Table 1 BAUS recommendations for consultant clinical activity, based on 1PA (4 hours in 
England, 3.75 hours in Wales), including time for clinical supervision and dictation  

Clinical Activity Suggested Comment 
no. of patients 
per consultant 

New outpatients visit -generic 11 Based on consultation time of 20 minutes 
per patient with time for administration 

Follow-up outpatient visit 
generic 

15 Based on consultation time of 10-15  
minutes per patient 

Outpatients (combined new 12 Based on 6 new consultations 
and review patients) (6x20 minutes) and 6-8 reviews 

(6x15 minutes) 

New outpatient visit - specialist 30-45 minutes. Number of patients seen 
will be dictated by the complexity of the 
patients seen, allowing suffcient time for 
counselling and consenting 

Follow-up outpatient - specialist 15-45 minutes depending on nature of 
the problem 

Outpatients (one-stop) 7-8 To include provision of fexible cystoscopy, 
imaging, TRUS and consent as applicable 

Haematuria clinic 
(new patients only) 

6-8 To include fexible cystoscopy 

TRUS clinic 5-6 40-50 minutes per patient. Need to allow 
suffcient time for confrmation of consent 
and provision of antibiotic prophylaxis 

Urodynamic clinic 4-5 40-50 minutes per patient 

ESWL (am/pm session) 3-6 40-50 minutes depending on 
complexity of patient 

Flexible cystoscopy 8-10 25-30 minutes. Need to allow suffcient 
time for confrmation of consent 

Flexible cystoscopy and botox 4-6 40-60 minutes. Need to allow suffcient 
time for confrmation of consent 

Multidisciplinary team meeting General allocation 0.5-1PA direct clinical 
(oncology, stones, reconstruction etc) care depending on time 

Theatre For an all day list (8 hours/2PAs) an 
allocation of 2.5 PAs is desirable to cover 
pre- and post-op ward rounds 
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3.3 Emergency work 
Survey evidence shows that urological emergencies account for 
approximately 20-25% of all surgical admissions. BAUS believes that 
consultant urologists should have reduced clinical commitments when 
on call, particularly in the morning, to allow all emergency admissions 
to be reviewed daily by the on-call consultant. There should be no 
scheduled private practice whilst on call.  In larger units with a high 
emergency workload, and in the setting of an increasingly consultant led 
service, BAUS’ view is that the urology team should be completely free of 
elective commitments to cover emergencies. 

Emergency work will fall into two main categories: 

i. Predictable emergency work: this is emergency work that takes 
place at regular and predictable times, often as a consequence of a 
period of on-call work e.g. daily weekend ward rounds. This should 
be programmed into the working week as scheduled programmed 
activity (PA); 

ii. Unpredictable emergency work arising from on-call duties: this is 
work done whilst on call and associated directly with the consultant’s 
on-call duties e.g. recall to hospital to see urgent admissions or 
operate on an emergency basis. It will also include offering telephone 
advice to colleagues and remotely reviewing imaging and test 
results. 

3.4 On-call availability 
As an absolute minimum, all emergency surgical admissions must be 
discussed and documented with the responsible consultant urologist 
within 12 hours of admission. Where practicable, BAUS supports a daily 
consultant-supervised ward round/review, 7 days a week, to support 
ongoing decision making and to review the management plans and 
results. 

While most urological admissions are not taken to theatre, BAUS’ view 
is that the patient must be seen by the on-call consultant urologist 
within a maximum of 24 hours from admission, 7 days a week. Local 
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arrangements should be agreed for appropriate escalation of clinical 
involvement according to changes in clinical condition. 

Urologists who need to attend their trust after 12am (midnight) should 
not be expected to attend for regular day time work on the following 
morning.  On the rare occasion that the consultant has to work through 
the night, he/she should not be expected to work the following day.  It 
is accepted that, in addition to providing on-call cover at their base 
hospital, urologists may also be required to provide advice to a number of 
units across the network. Under such circumstances, local arrangements 
will need to be made so that cover can be provided in the event the 
consultant urologist is busy on a different site. 

A BAUS audit of emergency provision by urologists demonstrated that 
in teaching hospitals 25% of urologists are free of other duties and 85% 
are supported by a properly constituted mid-grade rota. In larger DGHs 
(population >350000), only 15% are free from other duties and only 55% 
have mid-grade support. For smaller DGHs, only 5% are free of other 
duties and only 15% have mid-grade cover. Many urologists support 
emergency care in smaller hospitals, with support from a ‘hospital at 
night team’ or FY1/FY2 cover. The provision of consultant urological cover 
in smaller DGHs is likely to become increasingly problematic for those 
consultants covering on a 1:4 basis or less, and innovative solutions will 
need to be identifed to address the problem. 

3.5 Acting down 
The term ‘acting down’ is used to refer to situations where, as the result 
of an emergency or crisis, a consultant is required to undertake duties 
which would normally be performed by a non-consultant member of 
medical staff.  It does not apply to duties that a consultant undertakes as 
part of his or her normal workload but which could also be undertaken by 
a non-consultant member of staff. 

Acting down places an increased burden on consultants and should be 
the exception rather than the rule.  All efforts should be made to avoid 
it through, for example, effective management of absences (including 
holidays and sickness) and absence cover for non-consultant career 
grades by comparable staff. 



BAUS Guide to Job Planning

Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 04/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

   

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

    
   
  

  

  

  

12 WIT-83194

Consultants are not contractually obliged to act down or to be 
compulsorily resident on-call to cover the duties of non-consultant staff. 
In general, consultants are only requested to act down when there is a 
critical shortage of non-consultant staff and the only alternative would 
be to close the department. NHS Employers does not endorse any one 
approach and trust arrangements will be a matter for local discussion 
and agreement with the affected urologists. 

3.6 Patient administration 
All consultant urologists will need dedicated time to review referrals, 
outcomes from MDTs, results from investigations, queries from GPs and 
consultant colleagues, and dictate and sign off correspondence. This 
work is directly related to patient care and would normally attract an 
allowance of 1 PA, although an extra allowance should be allocated when 
the administrative burden is high. 

3.7 On-call availability supplement 
Most consultant urologists are required to participate in an on-call rota; 
the clinician will be paid a supplement in addition to basic salary, in 
recognition of his or her availability to work during on-call periods. The 
availability supplement will be paid at the appropriate rate set out in 
Table 2 below. 

Table 2 Frequency of rota commitment and availability supplement 

Frequency of Value of availability supplement 
rota commitment as a percentage of full-time 

basic salary  for Category A duties 

1 in 1 to 1 in 4 8.0% 

1 in 5 to 1 in 8 5.0% 

1 in 9 or less 3.0% 
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The level of supplement will depend on both: 

• the contribution of the consultant to the on-call rota, and 

• the category of the consultant’s on-call duties 

Less than full-time consultants, whose contribution when on call is the 
same as that of full-time consultants on the same rota, should receive the 
appropriate percentage of the equivalent full-time salary. 

While the employing trust will determine the category of the urologists 
on-call duties i.e. Category A or B, it is BAUS’ strong view that Category A 
should apply to almost all urologists. The consultant is typically required 
to review emergency admissions and return immediately to the hospital 
when called or has to undertake interventions with a similar level of 
complexity to those that would normally be carried out on site, e.g. any 
emergency operative procedure. 

3.8 Additional /extra programmed 
activities 

Schedule 6 of the current consultant contract (2003) deals with extra 
programmed activities and spare professional capacity. Consultant 
urologists wishing to undertake private practice, and who wish to remain 
eligible for pay progression, are required to offer up the frst portion of 
any spare professional capacity (up to a maximum of 1 PA per week). 

Where a consultant intends to undertake such work, the employing 
organisation may (but is not obliged to) offer the consultant the 
opportunity to carry out up to 1 extra PA per week on top of the standard 
commitment set out in their contract of employment. In practice, many 
trusts are happy to do so, recognising that they get extra work from the 
consultant with little extra cost. 

Schedule 6.2 of the terms and conditions of the current consultant 
contract sets out the provisions regarding offers to consultants and the 
periods of notice required. There is fexibility to agree a fxed number of 
extra PAs to be undertaken as required over the course of the year and 
trusts may fnd this provision particularly helpful in that arrangements 
can be tailored to refect varying service needs. 
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One approach, for example, is to assess on a departmental basis how 
many extra PAs are likely to be required during the course of a year to 
temporarily increase capacity, for example for waiting list work, to cover 
clinics and lists, or to cover a vacancy. 
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4 Supporting Professional 
Activities (SPAs) 

4.1 Categories of SPAs 
The consultant contract (2003) defned categories of PAs. Within a full-
time framework of 10 PAs, the contract states that a full-time consultant 
surgeon would normally devote on average 7.5 PAs per week to DCC 
and 2.5 to SPAs. However, over the past decade, many new consultant 
appointments have been made with a reduction in the number of SPAs 
and many urologists have found their SPA time reduced. 

SPAs may include: 

• continuing professional development (CPD) 

• job planning 

• appraisal 

• participation in training 

• medical education 

• formal teaching 

• audit (including the BAUS audits) 

• research 

• clinical management 

• local clinical governance activities 

CPD activities encompass clinical, personal, professional and academic 
activities. BAUS strongly supports the value of SPAs to ensure urologists 
have time to maintain and develop their skills, undertake CPD and 
contribute to the BAUS audits. Urologists are expected to gather evidence 
of audit and outcomes to support annual appraisal and revalidation. 
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BAUS concurs with the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges estimate that 
1.5 SPAs per week is the minimum time required for a consultant to meet 
the needs for CPD for revalidation purposes. However, any job plan with 
only 1.5 SPAs leaves no time for teaching, undergraduate examination, 
research, trainee supervision, managerial input or clinical governance 
work outside of audit of personal practice. For these reasons, BAUS 
recommends the inclusion of a minimum of 2.5 SPAs in a 10 PA contract, 
enabling a consultant urologist to fulfl these commitments. 

Expectations in relation to SPA allocation should be detailed in the job 
plan. Those consultants with less than full-time contracts will need to 
devote proportionately more of their time to supporting professional 
activities as they will have the same need as full-time colleagues to 
participate in continuing professional development. 

Additional SPA time should be linked to the employing organisation’s 
objectives, such as research, clinical management or specifc medical 
education roles. Added SPAs should be evidenced by a commitment to 
training, teaching, research, governance etc. Individual urologists should 
be prepared to justify, through the job planning process, that their 
allocated SPA time is appropriate, or to negotiate for additional time as 
required. Table 3 illustrates some examples. 
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174 - Supporting Professional Activities WIT-83199
Table 3 Suggested SPA allocations for additional Trust roles 

Activity Role Duties Allocation (SPA) 

Education Specialty tutor (trainees Oversee job planning, educational 0.5 
and non-consultant development and yearly appraisal 
hospital doctors) 

Assigned educational  Conduct PBAs, CEXs and CBDs 0.125-0.25 
supervisor (per trainee) Conduct interim and fnal review 

for ARCP 

Surgical tutor (RCS) Support core surgical training 
and education within the hospital 
setting 

Undergraduate tutor Range from occasional teaching 0.25-1 
(urology) events to co-ordinating 

student experience on 
a urology attachment 

Audit and 
clinical 

Unit governance lead Oversee review of adverse incidents, 
complaints, risk register and SUIs 

0.5-1 

governance Appraiser Reading, critiquing, conducting 
and writing up appraisal 

0.5-1 
(depending
on number 

of appraisals)  
or 4-6  hours 
per appraisal 

Audit Overseeing and supporting unit 
strategy for audits and COP 
publications 

0.25-0.5 

Management Clinical director Developing and overseeing a 1-2 
(depending on size complex range of strategic, 
of department) operational and clinical 

responsibilities 

Clinical lead Delivering strategic, operational 1-2 
and clinical responsibilities 

Rota co-ordinator Developing a fair and equitable 0.25-0.5 
rota for consultant and junior 
colleagues 

Junior doctors’ leads May be responsible for day to 0.5-1 
day placement of junior doctors to 
meet both educational needs and 
department requirements 

Research e.g. NIHR funded studies Recruitment to national trials 1-2 

1 
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4.2  Additional responsibilities (Trust based) 
These are special responsibilities agreed between a consultant and the 
employing organisation which cannot be absorbed within the time that would 
normally be set aside for SPAs. These activities will not be undertaken by the 
generality of consultants in the employing organisation. 

Roles may include (the list is not exhaustive): 

• Medical director 

• Clinical director or lead clinician 

• Clinical audit lead 

• Clinical governance lead 

• Undergraduate dean 

• Postgraduate dean 

• Clinical tutor 

• Regional adviser 
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5 External Duties (Outside Trust) 
In addition to DCC activity and SPAs, urologists often take on extra 
responsibilities outside the trust. Examples include (the list is not exhaustive): 

• Medical Royal College work, including RCS England Invited Review 
Mechanism (IRM) 

• Departments of Health 

• BAUS work, including Trustees, Sections, Council 

• Intercollegiate Board of Urology 

• National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) 

• National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) 

• Regional Cancer Boards etc 

Most of these types of work are not remunerated and consultants will need 
to work with their managers to determine what allocation of time may be 
appropriate. Trusts are not obliged to give a consultant in excess of 10 days per 
year (30 days per 3-year cycle) for study/professional leave, although some will 
choose to do so, recognising the wider benefts for the NHS. Where the work is 
regular, it should be set out and scheduled. Where it is irregular, an allocation of 
PAs can be agreed or there could be a substitution for other activities. The clinical 
director can approve up to 12 PAs of leave per annum to undertake external 
duties. Above this threshold, approval should be sought from the medical director. 
Where external duties beyond 12 PAs per year are carried out for another body 
(e.g. deanery/LETB/Departments of Health), agreement to substitute this activity 
for DCC activity is unlikely unless the full cost of the PA is recoverable from the 
other body. If the consultant and clinical director agree the consultant’s clinical 
workload should remain the same, then additional PAs for DCC may be offered. 

Any potential commitment to external duties is likely to impact on the service 
provided at trust level and this should be discussed with colleagues and 
management before applying for the post so that: 

• the impact on service can be assessed and managed 

• any potential benefts to the organisation can be identifed 

• there is fairness and transparency between team members at the outset 
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Opportunities to contribute in this way are likely to arise and vary during 
the course of a consultant urologist’s career recognising that individuals 
may wish to take up additional responsibilities at different stages in their 
careers. Consultants and employers should agree outcomes for these activities 
and arrangements for reporting back to the employer and inclusion in the 
consultant’s appraisal/revalidation folder. 
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6 Criteria for Pay Thresholds 
Following the annual job plan review, the clinical manager who has 
conducted the review will report the outcome, via the medical director, to 
the chief executive. The report will be copied to the urologist, and to the 
chief executive of any other NHS organisation with which the consultant 
holds a contract of employment.  For the purposes of decisions on pay 
thresholds, the report will set out whether the consultant has: 

• made every reasonable effort to meet the time and service 
commitments in the job plan 

• participated satisfactorily in the appraisal process 

• participated satisfactorily in reviewing the job plan and setting 
personal objectives 

• met the personal objectives in the job plan, or where this is not 
achieved for reasons beyond the consultant’s control, made every 
reasonable effort to do so 

• worked towards any changes identifed in the last job plan review 
as being necessary to support achievement of the employing 
organisation’s objectives 

• taken up any offer to undertake additional PAs that the employing 
organisation has made to the consultant in accordance with Schedule 
6 of the consultant contract (2003) 

• met the standards of conduct governing the relationship between 
private practice and NHS commitments set out in Schedule 9 of the 
consultant contract (2003) 
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7 Leave Entitlements 

7.1 Annual leave 
A week’s annual leave for a full time consultant is 5 days or 10 PAs.  If the 
urologist has time out of the system during the week, he/she should not 
pro rata the week’s annual leave. 

The easiest way is to annualise the PA allocation for leave – 2 PAs per 
day of annual leave (for a consultant more than 7 years in post) = 64 
PAs leave per annum. For time off that is less than a week, allocate the 
same number of PAs that a consultant would work in that day – e.g. 3 PA 
theatre day = 3 PAs of leave. This does not take into account the non-
timetabled activity so a working week would always be equivalent to the 
number of PAs are worked in that given week, according to the job plan. 

Consultants are entitled to annual leave at the following rates per year, 
exclusive of public holidays and extra statutory days: 

Table 4 Annual leave entitlement against number of years of completed 
service as a consultant 

Up to seven years 30 days 

Seven or more years 32 days 

The leave entitlements of consultants in regular appointment are 
additional to 8 public holidays and 2 statutory holidays or days in lieu 
thereof. The 2 statutory days may, by local agreement, be converted to a 
period of annual leave. 

In addition a consultant who, in the course of his or her duty, was 
required to be present in hospital or other place of work between the 
hours of midnight and 9am on statutory or public holidays should 
receive a day off in lieu. 
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7.2  Professional and study leave 
This includes: 

• study, usually but not exclusively or necessarily on a course or 
programme, for CPD 

• research 

• teaching and assessment e.g. SAC in Urology etc 

• examining or taking examinations eg undergraduate, MRCS, 
FRCS(Urol) etc 

• visiting clinics and attending professional conferences for CPD 

• training 

The recommended standard for consultants is leave with pay and 
expenses within a maximum of 30 days (including off-duty days falling 
within the period of leave) in any period of 3 years for professional 
purposes within the United Kingdom. 
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8 Annualised Job Planning 
Many consultants (those with senior managerial responsibility, single 
parents, clinical academics etc) do not have a working/domestic pattern 
that lends itself to preparing a job plan based on weekly activities.  Both 
the consultant and the employing trust/health board (where applicable) 
may be best served by adopting a job plan that is wholly or partially 
annualised.  A major advantage of an annualised job plan is that it 
will enable the trust to have a clear understanding of the activities a 
consultant will deliver on a yearly basis. Based on the numbers shown 
in the right hand columns of Appendix 4 (page 33), the yearly capacity 
of a unit to deliver urological services can be calculated along with the 
associated costs.  In turn, this can inform the trust in its discussion with 
commissioners about the capacity and demands on the service. 

Annualised job plans are likely to have some weekly fxed sessions and, 
in addition, will include the major responsibilities the individual will 
be expected to take on over the coming year and usually the relative 
amounts of time spent on each activity. The principles of job planning 
remain unchanged. The job plan should be a prospective document that 
sets out the requirements of the organisation and the priorities for the 
individual to meet those requirements.  Like all other job plans it should 
include the objectives for the consultant, or team of consultants, and the 
support the organisation agrees to provide. 

All, or part, of a job plan may need to be agreed on an annualised basis for 
the following reasons (the list is not exhaustive): 

• where a consultant has a signifcant managerial role (e.g. a full time 
medical director) 

• clinical variation 

• social or domestic circumstances 

• clinical academics 

As an example - an individual and the organisation may agree that during 
28 weeks of school term time, an individual works an 11 PA job plan. In 
the remaining weeks only 8 PAs are worked, with the total amount being 
averaged over the year to derive a 10 PA job plan.  A description of working 
out an annualised job plan is detailed in Appendix 2 (pages 29-31). 
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9 Burnout Among Urologists 
in the Workplace 

9.1 Rates of burnout in urologists and 
causative factors 

The traditional characterisation of a consultant urologist/surgeon would 
include intense ambition, high intelligence, focus and organisation 
at work, and perfectionism.  Such an achiever would be expected to 
thrive on stress rather than suffer burnout.  Occupational burnout or 
job burnout is characterized by exhaustion, lack of enthusiasm and 
motivation, feelings of ineffectiveness, and also may have the dimension 
of frustration or cynicism.  All these factors may contribute to reduced 
effciency in the workplace.  People experiencing burnout often do not 
see any hope of positive change in their situations. While clinicians are 
usually aware of being under a lot of stress, they do not always notice 
burnout when it happens. The same admirable personality traits of 
perfectionism and diligence actually predispose, rather than protect 
against, burnout. 

In 2015, the British Association of Urological Surgeons and the Irish 
Society of Urology published their collaborative study in the BJUI 
revealing rates of self-reported burnout and causative factors among 
urologists. The study used an internationally accepted and reproducible 
research tool, the Maslach Burnout Inventory, which measures emotional 
exhaustion, depersonalisation and loss of personal achievement. Key 
fndings from the cross sectional survey of 575 urologists were: 

• 52% of respondents had high levels of emotional exhaustion and 
levels of depersonalisation 

• 26% had moderate or high (29%) levels of emotional exhaustion 

• 23% had moderate or high (27%) levels of depersonalisation 

• 28% had moderate or high (31%) levels of loss of personal achievement 
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Self-reported burnout was more common in certain subgroups. 
Consultants reported higher levels than trainees, particularly those 
consultants under 44 years of age.  Ethnicity was not a factor. While 
gender was not a factor overall, higher levels of emotional exhaustion 
were reported among females.  Posts with responsibility or leadership 
were an adverse factor, whereas those with research commitments 
reported lower levels of burnout. 

The top three reported stressors included: 

• excessive administrative workload 

• overall excessive work volume 

• lack of institutional resources 

The least three potential stressors reported included operating stress, 
clinical decision making and appointment status.  It appears the old 
adage that a surgeon is happiest when left to operate in theatre applies. 

8% of urologists reported seeking professional help for burnout and 
7% had taken time off work. 1 1% reported taking prescription drugs to 
cope with burnout/depression/anxiety at work.  A further 18% reported 
taking non-prescription drugs/alcohol to cope, more commonly amongst 
trainees (28%) than consultants (13%). 

When asked, 80% of urologists considered medical staff should be 
evaluated in their workplace for symptoms of burnout.  60% reported 
they would avail themselves of workplace counselling if it was provided. 
60% reported they would be happy to discuss burnout with their 
medical colleagues. 

From a sociological viewpoint it may be uncomfortable to accept that 
consultant surgeons can suffer burnout but the fndings do not surprise 
those in occupational health.  Comparable rates are seen in non-medical 
high level positions.  It is therefore important that the risk of workplace 
stress and burnout is now recognised and, where potential causes of 
breakdown are identifed, these should be addressed and if possible 
avoided.  It is also encouraging that urologists themselves feel there 
should be ongoing assessment for signs of burnout and they are willing 
to seek help in that eventuality. With the recent changes in pension 
arrangements, modern day consultants will be expected to work until 
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66-68 years of age or will face being penalised with their pension 
arrangements should they choose to retire early.  Consultants in the latter 
stages of their careers are unlikely to have the same mental or physical 
reserves as their younger colleagues and new working arrangements 
will need to be developed to safeguard both the consultant staff and the 
service. 

9.2 What help is currently available? 
For any urologist suffering symptoms or signs that may be related to 
workplace stress, or in a burnout situation, there are agencies which 
offer help although services may vary in different locations.  Hospital 
occupational health and GP services are available to all.  Some trusts 
offer a specialist service for doctors in distress.  Discussion with work 
colleagues can be most helpful. Advice may also be sought through the 
surgical Royal Colleges or the BMA Counselling Service (telephone: 0330 
123 1245) which is staffed by professional telephone counsellors 24 hours a 
day, 7 days a week. 
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10 Appendices 

Appendix 1 Specimen Consultant Urologist 
Job Plan 

Based on an 11 PA contract with 1 extra PA of DCC activity, enabling the consultant to 
do private practice with 1:6 on call 

Day Location Time Work Category Number of PAs 
Monday 8am-9am CPD SPA 0.25 

9am-1pm Flexi cystoscopy clinic DCC 1 
1pm-3pm Patient related admin DCC 0.5 
3pm-5pm Teaching SPA 0.5 

Tuesday 8am-12pm One stop clinic DCC 1 
12.30pm-1.30pm Audit SPA 0.25 
1.30pm-5.30pm Urodynamic clinic DCC 1 

Wednesday 8am–12pm Private practice 
2pm-6pm OPD DCC 1 

Thursday 7.30am-8.30am 
8.30am-5.30pm 
5.30pm-6.30pm 

Pre-op ward round 
Theatre 
Management 

DCC 
DCC 
SPA 

0.25 
2 

0.25 

Friday 9am-10am 
10am-12pm 
12pm-1pm 
1.30pm-5.30pm

Ward round 
Patient related admin 
Journal club 
 MDT 

DCC 
DCC 
SPA 
DCC 

0.25 
0.5 

0.25 
1 

Predictable Ward round on-call DCC 0.75 
emergency on-call 

Unpredictable 
emergency on-call 

Total 

Emergency patient 
admissions 
Telephone 
consultations/advice 

DCC 0.25 

DCC 9.5 
11 PA 

SPA 1.5 
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Appendix 2 Working Out an Annualised 
Job Plan 

The trust has a commitment to deliver elective and emergency urological 
services 52 weeks of the year.  Most trusts recognise that consultants will 
work for 42 weeks of the year allowing for 6 weeks (30+ days, depending 
on seniority) annual leave, 2 weeks (10 days) professional/study leave 
and sundry bank holidays etc. Hence the cost to the trust of providing a 
designated session (PA) 52 weeks of the year is 52÷42 = 1.23. 

Figure 1 Job plan for a consultant on a 1:8 with a 10 PA annualised job plan 
and no elective duties when on call 

52 weeks 

Consultant 42 weeks 
working year 

Routine 
clinical work 

On call 

35.5 weeks 

6 weeks 

Key: 
block of 4 weeks 

For a consultant on a 10 PA contract, 420 PAs of activity will need to be 
provided by the consultant annually. The precise nature of the PAs will 
depend on the requirements of the trust, frequency of on call and the 
services (clinical, managerial, educational etc) provided by the consultant. 
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30 WIT-83212

Figure 2 Number of PAs of activity to be delivered based on type of contract 

Contract Annual number of PAs to be delivered 
based on 42 week working year 

12PA 504 

11PA 462 

10PA 420 

9PA 378 

8PA 336 

7PA 294 

6PA 252 

For a consultant working in an 8 consultant unit, where all consultants 
take part in a dedicated on call rota, with no routine duties, each 
consultant will perform on call duties 6.5 weeks of the year, free of 
elective care.  In a year: 

• 35.5 weeks will be spent on routine activity 

• 6.5 weeks will be spent on emergency care 

Two elements need to be factored into provision of emergency care, 
namely routine clinical activity (ward rounds, urgent clinic reviews etc) 
and unpredictable activity in which a PA would be 3 hours (‘premium 
time’ - which for consultants is currently the hours between 7pm and 
7am and all day Saturday and Sunday). For urology it is estimated that, 
when on call, there are 3 hours of unpredictable activity per day ie 21 
hours or 7 PAs per week. When the consultant is on call, they are unlikely 
to be providing routine outpatient care and this is refected in the 
reduced allocation of annualised PAs for a routine clinical session from 
1PA to 0.845PAs. This is shown on the next page. 
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A consultant on a 1:8 rota will be engaged in routine clinical activity (i.e. 
not on call) for 35.5 weeks of the year. Annualised over a working year, 
each PA of activity can be calculated as follows - (35.5÷42) x1 = 0.845. As an 
example, a consultant doing a regular Tuesday clinic between 9am and 
1pm will be working 0.845 PAs on an annual basis. 

1 PA  - 1 routine clinic 
42 weeks per year 

0.155 PA - No routine 
clinic when on call 
6.5 weeks per year 

0.845 PA - 1 routine 
clinic 35.5 weeks per 
year 

The two right hand columns in 
Appendix 4 (page 33) show the 
true cost to the trust (in PAs) of 
providing elective and emergency 
care each week and on a yearly basis. 
This allows a trust to calculate its 
capacity to deliver outpatient care 
and the associated consultant costs. 
For a urology unit to see 8000 new 
patients per year, based on a one 
stop model with 8 new patients per 
clinic, 1000 single consultants’ clinics 
(PAs) would need to be provided, 
recognising that a consultant on a 1:8 
rota, with no elective commitments 
when on call, doing 2 new clinics per 
week, would be providing a total of 71 
PAs and would see 568 patients. 

With respect to emergency care, a trust would need to make provision for 
827 PAs of DCC per year (52 weeks). This would allow for predictable on-
call (ward rounds etc), unpredictable care (emergency review and theatre) 
and the provision of emergency/review clinics 5 days per week. 
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Appendix 3 Specimen Timetable for a Less 
Than Full-time Urologist with 
a Standard or Annualised Job 
Plan.* 

Based on a consultant doing a 1:12 on call with 6 PAs per week 

Day Time Work PAs Number of annualised 
PA (based on 37.7 weeks 
routine work) and no 
routine work on call 

Monday AM OPD 1 0.897 

PM Flexible cystoscopy 1 0.897 

Tuesday AM One stop clinic 1 0.897 

PM Revalidation / governance / 
AES /teaching 1 0.897 

On call (1:12) 0.5 0.5 

Wednesday All day Week 1 
Operating list (with pre-op 
and post-op round) 

2.5 2.24 

Week 2 
Admin/ward rounds etc am 1 0.897 

TRUS/urodynamics pm 1 0.897 

Total 6.25 5.95 
PAs (average) 

*A consultant wishing to work a 6PA week might prefer to work a standard 42 
week year delivering care on a weekly basis. Alternatively, the consultant and 
the trust may be better served by a contract that refects the constraints and 
demands on the service and/or family and domestic considerations. On an 
annualised contract the consultant would deliver 252 PAs of care during a 42 
week working year across the spectrum of urological care. 
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Appendix 4 Time Allocation and Assigned 
PAs on an Annualised Contract 
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Annualised Job Plan 10 PAs 
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Appendix 6 Additional Reading 
GMC. Good Medical Practice.  Published 25 March 2013. Came into effect 22 
April 2013. 
http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/good_medical_practice.asp 

NHS Employers.  Consultant Contract [Terms and Conditions – 
Consultants (England) 2003] 
http://www.nhsemployers.org/~/media/Employers/Documents/ 
Pay%20and%20reward/Consultant_Contract_V9_Revised_Terms_and_ 
Conditions_300813_bt.pdfConsultant 

The Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. Advice on SPAs in Consultant Job 
Planning. AOMRC, 8 February 2010. 
http://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/AOMRC_ 
Statement_2010-02-08_Advice_on_SPAs.pdf 

The Royal College of Surgeons of England.  Emergency Surgery: Standards 
for unscheduled care.   Guidance for providers, commissioners and service 
planners.  February 2011. 
https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/college-publications/ 
docs/emergency-surgery-standards-for-unscheduled-care/ 

BMA.  Information on job planning – including detailed guides on 
job planning (via the link below).  Includes A Guide to Consultant Job 
Planning (July 2011). 
http://www.bma.org.uk/support-at-work/contracts/job-planning 

Medical Protection Society.  New Judgment on Patient Consent.  20 March 
2015. 
http://www.medicalprotection.org/uk/for-members/news/ 
news/2015/03/20/new-judgment-on-patient-consent 

The Supreme Court.  Judgement: Montgomery (Appellant) v Lanarkshire 
Health Board (Respondent) (Scotland).  11 March 2015. 
https://www.supremecourt.uk/decided-cases/docs/UKSC_2013_0136_ 
Judgment.pdf 

https://www.supremecourt.uk/decided-cases/docs/UKSC_2013_0136
http://www.medicalprotection.org/uk/for-members/news
http://www.bma.org.uk/support-at-work/contracts/job-planning
https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/college-publications
http://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/AOMRC
http://www.nhsemployers.org/~/media/Employers/Documents
http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/good_medical_practice.asp
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Position Statement on the Management of Emergency Surgery at the 
General, Paediatric and Urological Surgery Interface.  Association of 
Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland, British Association of Paediatric 
Surgeons, British Association of Urological Surgeons, SAC in General 
Surgery, SAC in Paediatric Surgery, SAC in Urology.  2015. 
https://fssa2015.fles.wordpress.com/2015/03/fssa_interface_egs.pdf 

ISCP Core Surgical Training. 2015. 
https://www.iscp.ac.uk/curriculum/surgical/specialty_year_syllabus. 
aspx?enc=vVY4XFLbRSZIHhnkUDQyVoJGVh3MGYxzpE0YSpfvy0k= 

‘Rates of Self-reported ‘burnout’ and causative factors amongst urologists 
in Ireland and the UK; a comparative cross sectional study’.  O’Kelly, Fardod 
et al. BJUI Int, 2016; 117 (Issue 2):363-372. 

Helpguide.org.  Burnout Prevention and Recovery.  Signs, symptoms and 
coping strategies for mental exhaustion. 
http://www.helpguide.org/articles/stress/preventing-burnout.htm 

http://www.helpguide.org/articles/stress/preventing-burnout.htm
https://Helpguide.org
https://www.iscp.ac.uk/curriculum/surgical/specialty_year_syllabus
https://fssa2015.files.wordpress.com/2015/03/fssa_interface_egs.pdf
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British Association of 
Urological Surgeons 

Email: admin@baus.org.uk 
Website: www.baus.org.uk 

BAUS is a registered charity in England and Wales (1127044) 

www.baus.org.uk
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); Glackin, Anthony; Haynes, Mark; Mark 
(mark.d.haynes ); Young, Michael; O"Brien, Aidan; ODonoghue, JohnP; 
odonoghuejp ; Tony Glackin ( ); McCourt, Leanne; McMahon, Jenny; 
ONeill, Kate; Young, Jason; Caddell, Caroline; Lockhart, Sharon; Magee, Naomi; Magill, Gayle; McElvanna, 
Ciara; Uprichard, Susanna 

From: Corrigan, Martina 
To: Henry, Gillian

); ((Aidanpobrien Personal 
Information 
redacted by 

the USI

Personal Information redacted by the USI

Personal 
Information 

redacted by the 
USI

Personal 
Information 

redacted by the 
USI

Personal Information redacted by 
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; Haughey, Mary; Carroll, Ronan; Sharpe, Dorothy; Matthews, Josephine; 

Cc: Witczak, Maria; Dignam, Paulette; Elliott, Noleen; Hanvey, Leanne; Loughran, Teresa; Robinson, NicolaJ; 
Troughton, Elizabeth 

Subject: HOLD THE DATE 
Date: 22 June 2018 04:04:32 

Dear all 

We are planning to hold a Urology Service Development Day and therefore we would be grateful 
if you could hold Monday 24 September for this workshop.  I am hoping to book somewhere like 
the Seagoe Parish Hall, but I will confirm the venue nearer the time. 

In the meantime it would be great if you could hold the date and I will come back with more 
details. 

Regards 

Martina 

Martina Corrigan 
Head of ENT, Urology, Ophthalmology and Outpatients 
Craigavon Area Hospital 

INTERNAL: EXT 
EXTERNAL : 
Mobile: 
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From: Corrigan, Martina 

WIT-83338

To: 

Personal Information redacted by the 
USI

O"Brien, AidanYoung, Michael
Michael Young's email addressAidan O'Brien's email address

Tony Glackin 
Mark Haynes's email address

John P O'Donoghue's email address

; ; Glackin, Anthony; Haynes, Mark; Mark 
; ; ; ODonoghue, JohnP; 

; 
Subject: Away day - monday 24 September 
Date: 06 September 2018 12:49:04 
Importance: High 

Dear all 

Just checking if you are happy for this to still go ahead?  As means of an update regarding 
myself…… 

Personal Information redacted by the USI

If this is still going ahead then I can get Stephen to bring me down and collect me until I am 
confident regarding the driving but I am conscious I would have liked to be prepared for this 
beforehand. 

I will be guided by yourselves. 

Thanks 

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
To: ; 
Cc: ; Glackin, Anthony; Haynes, Mark; ; Young, 

Michael; O"Brien, Aidan; ODonoghue, JohnP; odonoghuejp@gmail.com 

Michael Young's email address Anthony Glackin's email 
addressAidan O'Brien's email address Mark Haynes's email address

Subject: RE: Away day - monday 24 September 
Date: 08 September 2018 11:58:15 

Thanks 

I suppose the point I was trying to make was that we need to make sure that the Away Day, is 
well structured with a tight agenda and clear objectives of what we want to achieve. I feel that 
we really need to ensure that it is a worthwhile day particularly as clinical activity has been 
cancelled and also as there are so many others due to attend (Consultants/Thorndale staff/Ward 
staff/Lead nurses and Ronan Carroll) are all scheduled to be at this event. 

Whilst I will ensure that I will be there if this was to go ahead, I am just concerned that we have 
not prepared anything and I would have really liked to be involved in the preparation for this day 
with regards to objectives, papers/stats etc……. so as we all will get the full benefit of this away 
day. 

. 

Personal information redacted by USI

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

From: 
Sent: 07 September 2018 16:40
To: 
Cc: Corrigan, Martina

Michael Young's email address

Anthony Glackin's email address

Subject: Re: Away day - monday 24 September 

No  = I think we should still have 
was going to send you a few points 
you may wish to consider a start and finish time that is not all day ? 9-30 to 2  or 10-30 to 1 
with consultants and 1-3 with the nurses  just an idea. 
It would be best that Martina is there though but if not possible it can still be an 
opportunity 

MY 
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Sent from Windows Mail 

From: Anthony Glackin's email address

Sent: ‎ ‎ ‎ ‎ September‎ ‎ ‎ ‎Friday, 7 ‎ 2018‎ 16:01 
To: Aidan O'Brien's email address , Michael Young's email address , Glackin, Anthony, Haynes, 
Mark, Mark Haynes's email address , michael.young Personal Information redacted by the USI , O'Brien, 
Aidan, ODonoghue, JohnP, John P O'Donoghue's email address , Corrigan, Martina 

Dear Martina, 
I think we might be best postponing the away day until your return. October is already 
scheduled. So November is looking like the earliest suitable time. 

Tony 

Get Outlook for Android 

On Thu, Sep 6, 2018 at 12:49 PM +0100, "Corrigan, Martina" 
< > wrote: Personal Information redacted by the USI

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

The Information and the Material transmitted is intended only for the
person or entity to which it is addressed and may be
Confidential/Privileged
Information and/or copyright material. 

Any review, transmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking of
any action in reliance upon this information by persons or entities
other than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you receive this in 
error,
please contact the sender and delete the material from any computer. 

Southern Health & Social Care Trust archive all Email (sent & received)
for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Trust 'IT Security
Policy',
Corporate Governance and to facilitate FOI requests. 

Southern Health & Social Care Trust IT Department 
Personal Information redacted by the USI
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From: Williams, Marc 
To: O"Brien, Aidan; Newell, Denise E; Green, Lynn 
Subject: FW: 
Date: 24 June 2019 09:06:06 

Patient 112

Denise/Lynn 

Please see below. 
Can these images be imported or do we need the discs? If so, can these discs be requested from 
RVH so that the images are imported for MDT this week? 
Thanks 
Marc 

From: O'Brien, Aidan 
Sent: 23 June 2019 16:52 
To: Williams, Marc 

Patient 112Subject: FW: 

Marc, 

I have just triaged a referral regarding this Personal 
Information 
redacted by 

the USI

old man whom I would hope to have 
discussed at our MDM on Thursday 27 June 2019. 
All of his recent, relevant imaging has been performed at RVH. 
I do hope that it is not inappropriate for me to ask you if you could arrange to have the images 
imported for MDM discussion. 
The relevant scans are 

· CT Thorax, Abdomen and Pelvis 0n 20 March 2019 
· CT Kidney on 17 April 2019 
· PET CT 15 June 2019 

I will be in SWAH all day tomorrow, otherwise I would ask the PACS staff in Radiology. 
I do not have an email address for them, 

Thank you, 

Aidan. 

From: O'Brien, Aidan 
Sent: 23 June 2019 16:31 
To: McVeigh, Shauna
Cc: cancer.tracker 
Subject: Patient 112

Shauna, 

I would be grateful if you would list this man for MDM discussion on Thursday 27 June 2019, but 
only if the images of recent scans have been successfully imported from RVH have been 



Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 04/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

 

 

 

 

 

WIT-83365
imported to facilitate discussion. 
I have asked Dr. Marc Williams to have the images imported. 
Please enter the following clinical summary on CaPPS: 

‘This Personal 
Information 
redacted by 

the USI

old man was found to have a mild Haemophilia A in 2011, since when he has only 
required prophylactic Factor VIII therapy in relation to surgical procedures. He had a papillary 
carcinoma of the right thyroid lobe managed by right thyroid lobectomy in 2014, followed by 
complete thyroidectomy in 2015, followed by radio-iodine therapy in 2015. There has been no 
evidence of recurrence since. In 2017, he had a diagnosis of an inherited, non-ischaemic, dilated 
cardiomyopathy, with a left ventricular ejection fraction of 35%. 

He has been known to have cervical lymphadenopathy since 2016. There was no evidence of 
malignancy on fine needle aspiration cytology in 2017. The cervical lymphadenopathy had 
become more pronounced on clinical review and was considered pathological on ultrasound 
scanning in March 2019. On CT scanning, he was reported to have extensive lymphadenopathy 
extending from his neck to both groins, in addition to having small, bilateral pulmonary nodules. 
He was found to have suspicious atypia on further fine needle aspiration cytology in March 2019. 
Excision lymph node biopsy in April 2019 confirmed a diagnosis of low grade, follicular 
lymphoma. A bone marrow biopsy was performed on 12 June 2019 to determine whether there 
was evidence of bone marrow infiltration, resulting in a pancytopaenia, as such involvement 
would be considered an indication for treatment. 

On CT scanning in March 2019, he was also reported to have a mixed density lesion of the lower 
pole of the right kidney, measuring 4.9 cm in axial diameter. On triphasic CT scanning in April 
2019, the lesion was reported to have a maximum diameter of 6.5 cm. The lesion was reported 
to have a maximum SUV of 2.9 on PET CT scanning on 15 June 2019. As the lymphadenopathy 
had a maximum SUV of 9.0, these findings suggested a synchronous different right renal 
pathology. Renal involvement by lymphoma would be considered a separate indication for 
treatment.’ 

Thank you, 

Aidan. 
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From: Drake, Mary < 
Sent: 15 August 2019 17:46 

> Personal Information redacted by the USI

To: O'Brien, Aidan < > 
Subject: RE: 

Personal Information redacted by the USI

Patient 112

HI Aidan, 
As you correctly state, Mr Patient 

112 has commenced chemotherapy for follicular NHL. I would be happy to accept your guidance wrt 
biopsy of the renal lesion – if it appears to be a renal cell ca, maybe the best approach would be for him to complete chemo, and 
then be considered for partial nephrectomy. I hope that chemo will be finished in around 12 weeks or so. 
Happy to discuss 
All the best, 
Mary 

, Personal Information 
redacted by the USI

From: O'Brien, Aidan [mailto:
Sent: 15 August 2019 17:06
To: Drake, Mary 

Dear Dr. Drake, 

This is Aidan O’Brien, Consultant Urologist at Craigavon Area Hospital. 

You had referred this man to the Department of Urology at Belfast City Hospital in June 2019 for consideration of biopsy of a 
right renal lesion found on CT scanning performed in the assessment of extensive lymphadenopathy, since found to be a 
follicular lymphoma. 
If renal lesional biopsy confirmed renal involvement by lymphoma, that would have been considered an indication for treatment. 
Presumably because the patient lives in Personal 

Informatio
n 

redacted 
by the 
USI

in our catchment area, your referral was redirected to us. 
When discussed at our MDM on 27 June 2019, we agreed to arrange a biopsy with Factor VIII prophylaxis. 
I firstly regret the delay in doing so. 

In speaking with Kathryn Boyd, Consultant Haematologist here, she advised that it is her understanding that Factor VIII is 
administered prophylactically for surgical procedures only in Belfast. 
Haemophiliacs are no longer managed in Craigavon. 
If that is so, then he would need to have the biopsy performed in Belfast. 

However, I do note that you have since commenced chemotherapy, though currently suspended due to an arrhythmia. 
On viewing the images, I suspect that this lesion is a cystic, renal cell carcinoma. 
If it was his only pathology, I don’t think that biopsy would be strongly indicated. 
Instead, one would consider partial ? radical nephrectomy. 

I have arranged to meet Patient 
112 as an outpatient tomorrow. 

My question in the interim is ‘Is renal lesional biopsy still required?’ 

I would be grateful for your advice, 

Thank you, 

Aidan. 

The Information and the Material transmitted is intended only for the
person or entity to which it is addressed and may be Confidential/Privileged
Information and/or copyright material. 

] Personal Information redacted by the USI

Subject: Patient 112
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Any review, transmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking of
any action in reliance upon this information by persons or entities
other than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you receive this in error,
please contact the sender and delete the material from any computer. 

Southern Health & Social Care Trust archive all Email (sent & received)
for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Trust 'IT Security Policy',
Corporate Governance and to facilitate FOI requests. 

Southern Health & Social Care Trust IT Department Personal Information redacted 
by the USI

This message contains information from Belfast Health And Social Care Trust which may be privileged and confidential.
If you believe you are not the intended recipient any disclosure, distribution or use of the contents is prohibited.
If you have received this message in error please notify the sender immediately. 

This email has been scanned for the presence of computer viruses. 
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From: Haynes, Mark < 
Sent: 04 October 2019 12:37 

> Personal Information redacted by the USI

To: O'Brien, Aidan > 
Cc: Elliott, Noleen < > 
Subject: RE: 

Personal Information redacted by the USI

Personal Information redacted by the USI

Patient 112

Thanks Aidan 

As everything with regards the renal mass will be done in BCH I am happy to take this on from here. 

As we were unclear as to what was happening he has been booked to my OP next week and I will discuss with him then. Given 
that the renal mass is enlarging and the nodes have responding I would favour proceeding to nephrectomy without biopsy, once 
his thrombocytompaenia has recovered, with factor VIII cover, in BCH, and can start the process of POA etc in BCH after I meet 
him on Monday. 

Mark 

From: O'Brien, Aidan 
Sent: 04 October 2019 12:18 
To: Haynes, Mark
Cc: Elliott, Noleen 

Patient 112Subject: RE: 

Mark, 

I did not appreciate that Patient 
112

Patient 
112

was listed for MDM discussion yesterday. 
By the time that I reviewed on 16 August, he had already begun treatment for lymphoma, based upon the high SUV levels 
on PET CT scanning and upon the bone marrow findings. 
The chemotherapy consists of six cycles of O-CHOP three weeks apart. 
He has had a CT scan performed in Belfast following three cycles, demonstrating a significant response of the lymphadenopathy 
to treatment. 
However, it has been reported that there has been an increased in the size of the right renal lesion which now has a maximum 
diameter of 8 cms. 
I have been in contact with Dr. Mary Drake who had been managing the patient, finding her to be on leave 

. Personal Information redacted by the USI

She advised that his further management has been taken over by Professor Morris, Consultant Haematologist, while she is off. 
I have not been able to speak to Professor Morris. 
In any case, I have spoken with the patient who remains extremely well. 
He has had his fourth cycle last Thursday, 26 September 2019. 
He is scheduled to have his fifth on 17 October, and the last on 07 November 2019. 
Dr. Drake has advised me that after a period of recovery, and on the assumption that he still did have a maintained response, he 
would embark upon a single agent, maintenance regimen for a period of two years. 
In view of the fact that the current treatment has been accompanied by a thrombocytopaenia, Dr. Drake and I had considered 
that either biopsy or nephrectomy or both would be best performed following resolution of the cyclical thrombocytopaenia, and 
with Factor VIII cover, in Belfast. 

So, I had planned to have his further management discussed at our MDM next week when I would be present to advise of the 
above, and when we may be able to review the recent CT images from Belfast. 
I had also arranged for his further management to be discussed at the Haematology MDM in Belfast, by Dr. Oonagh Shields, 
Chair of their MDM, so that we may be have their advice regarding the optimal timing for biopsy / surgery etc. 

I will provide an update for our MDM for next week, 
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From: Haynes, Mark
Sent: 04 October 2019 08:06 

Subject: RE: 
To: O'Brien, Aidan; Elliott, Noleen 

Patient 112

Hi Aidan 

This man was brought back to MDM yesterday by Shauna for clarity regarding where things are with his investigation. He has not 

yet had a biopsy and there is no OP letter on ECR from when you saw him on 16th August. 

Is the biopsy in hand? Can I help by organising while I am in BCH? 

Mark 

From: Haynes, Mark
Sent: 24 July 2019 11:09
To: O'Brien, Aidan; Elliott, Noleen 

Patient 112Subject: 

Morning Aidan 

RE ( Male / ) Personal 
Information 

redacted by the 
USI

Patient 112 Persona
l 

Informat
ion 

redacte
d by the 

USI

This man was discussed at MDM on 27th June regarding a renal lesion and the outcome was that your were going to organise a 
renal biopsy (with Factor VIII). A further referral has come in about his renal lesion which I am triaging as nil extra needed. Have 
you the biopsy in hand? 

Mark 
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Via email 

WIT-83409
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Mr Andrew Anthony 

Tughans 

Marlborough House 

30 Victoria Street 

Belfast 

Dear Mr Anthony, 

RE: UROLOGY STRUCTURED CLINICAL RECORD REVIEW PROCESS 

I wish to update you on progress regarding our lookback on patients under the care of your 

client between January 2019 and June 2020 while he were employed as Consultant 

Urologist within the Southern Health and Social Care Trust. 

As a result of this lookback we have identified to date a further 53 patients whose care we 

have found to have met the threshold for a Serious Adverse Incident Review. Further to 

discussions with the Department of Health and Health and Social Care Board the review of 

these cases will not be undertaken as Serious Adverse Incident reviews but instead will be 

conducted using a Structured Clinical Record Review that is underpinned by Structured 

Judgement Review Methodology.  The use of this methodology will support the Trust 

identification of learning and allow the Trust to take any further actions required to maintain 

patient safety. Each review will be undertaken at this stage by Consultant Urologists not 

under the employment of the Southern Health and Social Care Trust. 

Upon completion of this exercise it is anticipated that a summary themed report detailing 

the outcomes of this work will be produced.  A copy of this will be shared with your client 

when it becomes available. 

I trust you will pass this update on to your client. 

Yours sincerely 
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tughans.com 

Avril Frizell 
Directorate of Legal Services 
Business Services Organisation 
2 Franklin Street 
Belfast 
BT2 8DQ 

Our Ref: 

Your Ref: 

Date: 

AFA/NW-McC/00003911.100 

13 June 2022 

By Email 
Personal Information redacted by the USI

Dear Ms Frizell 

MR AIDAN O’BRIEN 

On 20 May I was forwarded a letter by DLS. I assume there was an administrative error as it was not 
on headed paper nor signed off. I assume however, as you were copied into the covering email, that 
you are the correct Solicitor I should respond to. If not, please direct me elsewhere. 

The correspondence in question advised me that you were updating me on the lookback on patients 
under the care of Mr O’Brien from January 2019 to June 2022 in his capacity as an NHS consultant. 
I should make it clear that, other than being made aware that there was such a process ongoing, Mr 
O’Brien has neither been provided with substantive information in relation to it nor invited to contribute 
in any way to it. We have no way of telling how the Trust went about identifying the 53 patients your 
letter refers to, nor of the underlying issues raised. 

We have not been provided with any information by you in relation to the discussions between your 
client and the DOH whereby it was concluded Serious Adverse Incident Review’s (“SAI”) should not 
be undertaken, but rather Structured Clinical Records Reviews (“SCR”) were the preferred method 
of investigation. Please provide the relevant documentation to me. You will be aware of the serious 
concerns my client has in relation to how the SHSCT went about the SAI’s undertaken in late 
2020/early 2021. 

I would welcome the following clarification from the letter of 20 May: 

1. Who identified the 53 patients whose clinical records have been or are to be reviewed? 

2. The methodology used to identify the 53 patients. 

3. Copies of all communications with the 53 patients and all information given to them concerning 
the SCRR. 

4. Is the review under the auspices of a Royal College? If so which one? 

5. Can you please let us have the Royal College’s procedures for carrying out such a review? 

Tughans T +44 (0) 28 9055 3300 
Marlborough House F +44 (0) 28 9055 0096 
30 Victoria Street DX 433 NR Belfast 1 
Belfast BT1 3GG E law@tughans.com 

A full list of our partners is available for inspection at the above office | Partners qualified to practice in the Republic of Ireland: Andrew Anthony, Neil Smyth, 
Timothy Kinney & Alistair Wilson. 
Service address in the Republic of Ireland: Hamilton House, 28 Fitzwilliam Place, Dublin 2. 

100.7407276.1 
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WIT-83411

tughans.com 

6. If not under a Royal College’s procedures, please identify the procedures your client is 
following? 

7. Has the Royal College, other institution, or the independent urologists referred to in the letter 
been made aware of the ongoing public inquiry and GMC investigation. On perusal of 
guidelines from certain Royal Colleges we note a SCR or similar process would not normally 
be undertaken when there are already investigations of such a kind ongoing. 

8. Is Mr O’Brien to be provided with the records for the patients, and the documentation that 
substantiates, presumably on the Trust’s analysis, the finding they have met the threshold for 
a SAI? 

9. Is Mr O’Brien to be invited to contribute to the SCR? If not, why not? 

10. Please identify the Consultant Urologists that either have been appointed or are to be 
appointed so that we can ensure there is no conflict of interest arising from our perspective. 

11. Whether Mr O’Brien is to be afforded the opportunity to contribute to the review or not, is he to 
be afforded the opportunity of commenting on any draft summary themed report prior to its 
conclusion? If not why not? 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

Kind regards. 

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
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Clinical History of Service User A 

WIT-83420

Introduction 

The following clinical history of Service User / Patient A has been compiled from photocopies of 
documentation contained within the patient’s hospital chart and from information retrieved from 
the Northern Ireland Electronic Care Record (NIECR. 

Clinical History 

Service User A (SUA) was  old at the time of his referral in June 2019. He was born on 
.

 He was found to have essential hypertension in 2003 and to 

Personal 
Information 

redacted by the 
USI

Pers
onal 
Infor
mati
on 

reda
cted 
by 
the 
USI

Personal Information redacted by 
the USI

Personal Information redacted by the USI

have mixed hyperlipidaemia when he presented with angina in May 2004, leading to a diagnosis of 
ischaemic heart disease in July 2004. He underwent cardiac catheterisation in September 2004. He 
suffered acute myocardial infarction in May 2016 and underwent percutaneous coronary arterial 
intervention for triple vessel disease in June 2016. At the time of his referral in June 2019, he had 
remained on Bendroflumethiazide 2.5mg daily since 2003, Aspirin 75mg daily since 2004, 
Rosuvastatin 10mg daily since 2006, Diltiazem 180mg daily since 2016, Isosorbide Mononitrate 
50mg daily since 2016 and Glyceryl Trinitrate 400mcg to be taken when required since 2016 

SUA had also had a diagnosis of osteoarthritis in 2004 and a clinical diagnosis of right greater 
trochanteric bursitis in 2008. He suffered duodenitis in 2004, remaining on Pantoprazole since 
2005. He had varicose veins stripped from his right leg in 2006 and a right inguinal herniorrhaphy 
performed in 2012. He was found to have type II diabetes in 2017 and remained on Glicazide 
30mg daily since then. He additionally had been taking Pregabalin 25mg twice daily for chronic 
pain since 2018. 

SUA had been prescribed Finasteride 5mg daily in February 2010 for urinary symptoms indicative 
of bladder outlet obstruction. He had additionally been prescribed Oxybutynin MR 10mg daily in 
2016 for storage urinary symptoms. He remained on both when referred by his GP on Thursday 13 
June 2019 due to the finding of serum PSA levels of 19.16ng/ml in May 2019 and of 19.81ng/ml 
when repeated in June 2019. He was referred to Omagh Hospital and Primary Care Centre. The 
referral was triaged by a consultant urologist at Altnagelvin Area Hospital. The referral was 
redirected on 13 June 2019 to the Department of Urology at Craigavon Area Hospital (CAH) as the 
patient lived in Enniskillen, County Fermanagh, for which region the Southern Health & Social Care 
Trust provided the urological service. 

The redirected referral was received by the Southern Trust Booking Centre on Friday 14 June 2019. 
As I was Urologist of the Week from Thursday 13 June 2019, I triaged the referral. There were 
concerns within the Trust in February 2019 regarding the increasingly long periods of time newly 
referred patients suspected of, or at increased risk of, having prostate cancer, were awaiting a first 
outpatient consultation, and who were then waiting 67 days for a first appointment. By June 2019, 
some such patients were waiting up to 15 weeks for a first outpatient appointment. In view of 
such long waiting times and in order to expedite his assessment, I contacted SUA by telephone to 
confirm receipt of his referral and to ascertain whether there were any contraindications to him 
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having MRI scanning. I then requested an appointment for SUA to have a MRI scan of his prostate 
gland at South West Acute Hospital (SWAH) in Enniskillen. 

It was my usual practice to request that an appointment be arranged for such a patient from 
County Fermanagh at my clinic at SWAH, for the patient’s convenience, but also in view of the 
clinical urgency and in the context of long waiting times for appointments. However, in addition, 
my colleagues and I had learned in 2019 that newly referred patients were not necessarily being 
placed on waiting lists for first outpatient appointments if investigations, such as scans, were 
requested at triage. Instead, there was an expectation that results or reports of these 
investigations would be returned to consultants who would then determine whether outpatient 
appointments were required. 

I therefore requested that an appointment be arranged for him to attend my clinic at SWAH in 
Enniskillen on Monday 22 July 2019, or alternatively at a New Patient Clinic at CAH if an 
appointment could be arranged for him earlier than 22 July 2019, following MRI scanning, though 
that would have been most unlikely due to the long waiting times. The triaged referral was 
returned to the Office of Cancer Services at CAH on Monday 17 June 2019. The Office then 
arranged an appointment for SUA at my clinic at SWAH on Monday 22 July 2019 at 11.10 am. 

SUA had MRI scanning performed on 10 July 2019. His ellipsoidal prostatic volume was calculated 
to be 32ml. He was reported to have an equivocal, PI-RADS 3 lesion within the left anterior mid-
portion of the transition zone which otherwise had the appearances characteristic of benign 
nodular hyperplasia. However, there were appearances characteristic of carcinoma affecting the 
peripheral zone bilaterally, more so on the left side than on the right side. The suspect carcinoma 
was reported to abut the prostatic capsule and the external sphincter, but there was no 
radiological evidence of extracapsular infiltration, lymphadenopathy or of skeletal metastatic 
disease. 

I met SUA at my clinic at SWAH on Monday 22 July 2019 as arranged. He reported urinary 
symptoms of mild severity, consisting only of a sensation of unsatisfactory voiding following 
micturition and of nocturia, having to rise once or twice each night to pass urine. I found him to 
have a moderately enlarged, indurated prostate gland on examination. I informed SUA of the 
significance of his elevated serum PSA levels, of the findings on MRI scanning and of the 
probability that he would be found to have malignancy of his prostate gland on further 
investigation. I requested an appointment for him to attend SWAH to have ultrasound scanning of 
his urinary tract, including an assessment of bladder voiding. I requested an appointment for him 
to attend CAH for transrectal, ultrasound guided, prostatic biopsies. I submitted by email a clinical 
summary to the cancer tracker, requesting that SUA’s further management be discussed by the 
Urology Multidisciplinary Team (MDT) at a Multidisciplinary Meeting (MDM) when the reports of 
ultrasound scanning and prostatic biopsies were both available. 

Prostatic biopsies were performed by Ms O’Neill, Clinical Nurse Specialist, with antibiotic 
prophylaxis at CAH on 20 August 2019. There was no evidence of adenocarcinoma on 
histopathological examination of nine cores taken from the right lateral lobe of his prostate gland. 
However, he was found to have Gleason 4+3=7 adenocarcinoma in seven of eleven cores taken 
from the left lateral lobe. The maximum core tumour length was 6mm and tumour was reported 
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to involve approximately 8% of total core tissue volume. There was no evidence of perineural, 
lymphovascular or extraprostatic infiltration. 

Ultrasound scanning of his urinary tract was performed on 21 August 2019. Both upper urinary 
tracts were reported to be normal. He was reported to have a prostatic volume of approximately 
40ml and to have a postmicturitional, residual urine volume of 204ml. 

The findings were discussed at the Urology MDM, chaired by Mr O’Donoghue, on 29 August 2019, 
when Mr Glackin and Mr O’Brien, Consultant Urologists, Dr McConville and Dr Williams, 
Consultant Radiologists, Dr McClean, Consultant Pathologist and Ms O’Neill, Clinical Nurse 
Specialist, were also present. There was no consultant oncologist present. It was agreed that SUA 
had high risk prostatic carcinoma and that he would be reviewed by me to arrange a radioisotope 
bone scan and a CT scan of his chest, abdomen and pelvis, followed by further MDM discussion 
when the reports of both were available. 

I reviewed SUA at my next available clinic at SWAH on Monday 23 September 2019. I informed 
him of the high risk nature of his prostatic carcinoma particularly in view of him having serum PSA 
levels of almost 20ng/ml, levels which may have been suppressed by Finasteride which he had 
been taking since 2010. I explained that his serum PSA levels may have been significantly higher if 
he had not been taking Finasteride, and it was for that reason that it had been recommended at 
MDM that he should have bone and CT scanning performed to ensure that there was no evidence 
of metastatic disease. I also explained to him the role of androgens in prostate cancer, the impact 
of androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) and of the different forms of ADT. Particularly in view of 
the history of ischaemic heart disease, I advised him to embark upon treatment of his high-risk 
carcinoma by having Bicalutamide 150 mg daily prescribed before and without waiting for his 
disease to be staged by having the scans performed. I also requested his GP to prescribe 
Tamoxifen 10 mg daily to minimise the risk and severity of gynaecomastia developing as a 
consequence of androgen blockade. I advised SUA that further treatment options would then be 
discussed with him following completion of staging. 

I repeated his serum PSA level on 23 September 2019, finding it to have increased to 21.8ng/ml. I 
also found that he had a very normal serum testosterone level of 19.3nmol/L. I later requested 
appointments for him to have CT scanning and bone scanning performed at SWAH and CAH 
respectively. 

SUA subsequently contacted my secretary to advise that he had experienced significant adverse 
effects since taking the combination of Bicalutamide and Tamoxifen. When I spoke with him by 
telephone on Monday 14 October 2019, he reported that he had particularly become fuzzy or light 
headed to the extent that he was concerned as to whether it was safe for him to drive. In view of 
such a risk to the safety of himself and to others, I advised SUA to discontinue taking both with 
immediate effect, and not to take either for the remainder of October 2019. I advised SUA that I 
would write to his GP requesting that he be prescribed the lower dose of 50 mg of Bicalutamide, 
and which I requested that he begin taking on 1 November 2019. I also requested SUA to arrange 
an appointment with the GP practice nurse to have his serum PSA level repeated during the first 
week of November 2019, so that the result would be available at his next review at my clinic at 
SWAH on Monday 11 November 2019. I submitted by email an update to the previous clinical 
summary, detailing the adverse effects and the alterations to his immediate therapy, requesting 
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that the update be included when his further management would be discussed at MDM when the 
reports of CT and bone scans would be available. 

There was no evidence of metastatic disease on CT scanning performed on 28 October 2019 or on 
radioisotope bone scanning performed on 31 October 2019. 

SUA’s intolerance of the combination of Bicalutamide 150 mg daily and Tamoxifen 10 mg daily, the 
discontinuation of both and the planned resumption of the lower dose of Bicalutamide was 
related in the update to the clinical summary discussed at the Urology MDM on 31 October 2019 
when it was noted that there was no radiological evidence of metastatic disease. Those attending 
this MDM included Mr O’Donoghue, Mr Glackin, Mr Haynes and Mr O’Brien, Consultant 
Urologists, Dr Williams, Consultant Radiologist, Ms McCourt and Ms O’Neill, both Clinical Nurse 
Specialists. No oncologist was present. No issue was raised in relation to the appropriateness of 
prescribing the lower dose of Bicalutamide to a patient who appeared to have been unable to 
tolerate the higher dose. Even though this MDM was again chaired by Mr O’Donoghue, he either 
incorrectly dictated that SUA had ‘intermediate risk prostatic carcinoma to start ADT and refer for 
ERBT (sic)’, or the MDM Plan had been incorrectly typed by the cancer tracker in attendance. 

When I reviewed SUA at the next available clinic at SWAH on Monday 11 November 2019, I was 
pleased to find him somewhat better than when I had spoken with him by telephone on 14 
October 2019, though not quite as well as he had been prior to having Bicalutamide and 
Tamoxifen prescribed. I was pleased to inform him that there had been no evidence of metastatic 
disease on CT and bone scanning. He did not have a serum PSA level repeated and the result 
available prior to the consultation that day. I discussed with him the prospect of proceeding to 
definitive treatment with curative intent, in the form of the combination of ADT and radical 
radiotherapy. However, at that time, he had just begun to tolerate taking Bicalutamide 50 mg 
daily. I would have preferred to be able to increase the dose of Bicalutamide that day, particularly 
as I was unaware of the biochemical response to ADT to date, but I was concerned that he would 
not be able to tolerate an increased dose at that time, as he had yet to regain his former well-
being. In any case, his dominant priority was to proceed with his pre-arranged holiday at 

, and to do so without fear of being unwell due to recurrence of adverse 

Personal 
Informati

on 
redacted 

by the 
USIeffects of an increased dose of Bicalutamide. I was particularly concerned that he may have 

discontinued ADT altogether while on holiday if he felt unwell. He undertook to remain on 
Bicalutamide 50 mg daily until his further review in January 2020. 

I did not consider it appropriate at his review on 11 November 2019 to refer SUA to Oncology with 
a view to considering radical radiotherapy. He had just embarked upon neo-adjuvant hormonal 
therapy to which he appeared to have experienced intolerance due to adverse effects which 
warranted discontinuation for a period of two weeks, prior to resumption of a lower dose of 
Bicalutamide. Though feeling somewhat better, he still did not feel as well as he did prior to 
commencement of hormonal therapy. I did not know the biochemical response that he already 
had to the interrupted androgen blockade as I did not know what his serum PSA level was at 
review on 11 November 2019. If he had not been looking forward to his arranged holiday, I believe 
that I would have had little difficulty in persuading him to remain on Bicalutamide, at least until a 
further review to reassess his well-being, and with the result of a serum PSA level. I did not 
consider it appropriate to refer him for radical radiotherapy until I had established that he was 
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tolerant of a comparatively safer form of androgen deprivation therapy that was oncologically 
effective. 

I repeated his serum PSA level on 11 November 2019 and was pleased to find that it had 
decreased significantly to 3.84ng/ml, reflecting the androgen dependency of his prostatic 
carcinoma. I contacted SUA by telephone on 2 January 2020, finding that he had continued to take 
Bicalutamide 50 mg daily since November 2019, without any adverse effects, and that he and his 
wife had thoroughly enjoyed their holiday. I asked him to arrange an appointment with the 
practice nurse to have a serum PSA level repeated prior to his further review later that month. 

I reviewed SUA on 27 January 2020. I was very pleased to find him keeping very well. He continued 
to tolerate Bicalutamide 50 mg daily without difficulty. His only persistent urinary symptom was 
that of nocturia, having to rise twice each night to pass urine. I was also pleased to find that his 
serum PSA level had decreased further to 2.23ng/ml when repeated on 7 January 2020. As he 
continued to have a progressive biochemical response to a tolerable, low dose of Bicalutamide, 
and wary of any further adverse effects jeopardising his further management, I advised him to 
increase the dose of Bicalutamide to 100 mg daily, and with a view to his referral for consideration 
of radical radiotherapy, or a combination of brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy, as 
the inclusion of brachytherapy may have been all the more attractive in view of the biochemical 
response to ADT to date. These radiotherapeutic options were discussed with him that day. 

I contacted SUA by telephone on 07 March 2020 to enquire of his well-being and particularly of his 
tolerance of the increased dose of Bicalutamide, and with a view to increasing the dose further to 
150 mg daily if he had remained tolerant of 100 mg daily. Entirely expecting that his serum PSA 
levels would have continued to decrease, it was my intent to refer him that day for consideration 
of radical radiotherapy or the combination of brachytherapy and radiotherapy, as discussed at 
review in January 2020. As was my practice, I intended to request him to have a further serum PSA 
level repeated so that the report would be available when he would attend the Cancer Centre in 
Belfast for consultation. 

However, on doing so, I noted that his serum PSA level had increased to 5.37ng/ml when repeated 
on 5 March 2020. He advised me that he had remained very well since review in January 2020. He 
confirmed that he had been taking the increased daily dose of 100 mg of Bicalutamide and 
reported no adverse effects since doing so. I therefore advised him to increase the daily dose to 
150 mg. I considered with him the possible explanations for the unexpected increase in his serum 
PSA level, advising that it may have been spurious, or that he may have been less compliant in 
taking the increased dose of Bicalutamide than he believed, though he assured me that he had 
been, or that it could be indicative of disease progression. In view of his previous adverse effects, 
we agreed to increase the daily dose of Bicalutamide to 150 mg and to have a serum PSA level 
repeated in April 2020 prior to his further review at the next available clinic at SWAH on 27 April 
2020. I wrote to his GP requesting that he prescribe Bicalutamide 150 mg daily and which was 
prescribed on 13 March 2020. 

SUA began to experience difficulty in passing urine later in March 2020. He attended the 
Emergency Department at SWAH on 23 March 2020, as his urinary flow was poor. However, I 
gathered from SUA subsequently that he was considered to be achieving adequate bladder voiding 
at that time. He again attended on 7 April 2020 due to increased difficulty in passing urine during 
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the previous week. Though there was no evidence of bladder distention on examination, his 
bladder contained 600 ml of urine on ultrasound scanning following micturition. He was 
catheterised. Not only had he developed increased bladder outlet obstruction, his serum PSA level 
had increased to 12.08ng/ml even though he had been taking the increased dose of 150 mg of 
Bicalutamide daily since early March 2020. 

Regrettably, he could not be reviewed on 27 April 2020 as the clinic was cancelled by the Trust due 
to the Covid 19 pandemic lockdown. 

On subsequently learning of the need for catheterisation, I contacted SUA by telephone on 
Monday 1 June 2020. He advised that he found the indwelling catheter to be uncomfortable. He 
was otherwise feeling reasonably well. He did not report any systemic features of increased 
tumour burden. I discussed with him the significance of the further increase in his serum PSA level 
in April 2020, advising him that it should be concluded that his prostate cancer had progressed. 
Particularly as he had experienced no adverse toxicity from the increased dose of Bicalutamide, I 
advised that he additionally have a LHRH agonist administered. On discussing the option of having 
his prostate resected to relieve him of the need for continued urethral catheterisation, he was 
keen to proceed. I contacted the GP practice by telephone to request that he be prescribed and 
administered Leuprorelin 3.75 mg subcutaneously and to have a serum PSA level repeated. He was 
administered Leuprorelin 3.75 mg subcutaneously on 3 June 2020 when his serum PSA level had 
increased markedly to 27.22ng/ml. His serum PSA level increased further to 29.5ng/ml by the 12 
June 2020 even though he was by then managed with combined androgen blockade. 

I also advised SUA to self-isolate and arranged for him to have Covid testing performed prior to his 
admission to Daisy Hill Hospital (DHH) in Newry on 17 June 2020 for endoscopic resection of his 
prostate gland. On endoscopic assessment, I found him to have a large, obstructive prostate gland 
which was resected. He was found to be febrile and bradycardic at 08.00 pm on 17 June 2020. 
Blood cultures were taken and telemetry was initiated. He was prescribed intravenous fluids and 
antibiotics. He remained well though febrile at review on 18 June 2020. Thereafter, he remained 
afebrile. 

When I reviewed him as an inpatient on Saturday 20 June 2020, all postoperative haematuria had 
resolved. I advised that the indwelling urethral catheter be removed later that day, but he was 
unable to pass urine following its removal. He was re-catheterised. 

SUA was reviewed as an inpatient by Mr. Haynes, Consultant Urologist, on Monday 22 June 2020. 
Mr. Haynes advised SUA that he could be discharged from DHH that day with an indwelling 
urethral catheter. A referral was made for a further trial removal of the catheter at SWAH two 
weeks later. A bone scan and a CT scan of chest, abdomen and pelvis were requested, and SUA 
was referred to Dr David Stewart, Consultant in Clinical Oncology at Altnagelvin Area Hospital for 
consideration of radical radiotherapy if no evidence of metastatic disease was found on further 
scanning. On discharge, Diltiazem was discontinued due to the bradycardia found postoperatively, 
and Gliclazide was also discontinued due to hypoglycaemia experienced each morning. Mr. Haynes 
additionally dictated a letter to SUA advising him of the above requests and referrals. 

I contacted SUA by telephone on Friday 26 June 2020. He reported that haematuria had recurred 
following further catheterisation on 20 June 2020 but that it had since resolved. He remained keen 
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to have a further trial removal of the indwelling urethral catheter. I was able to confirm with him 
that he did have an appointment for CT scanning on Monday 29 June 2020, but that no 
appointment had yet been arranged for him to have bone scanning performed. As I had obtained a 
provisional report of the finding of Gleason 5+5 adenocarcinoma on histopathological examination 
of resected prostatic tissue, I advised SUA that the prostate cancer was found to be more 
aggressive than it had been previously. 

SUA was unable to recall whether he had been administered Leuprorelin on 3 June 2020. I 
contacted the GP practice by telephone to ensure that he had been. As Mr. Haynes had requested 
that he next be prescribed Decapeptyl 11.25 mg every three months, I also requested the GP 
practice to ensure that he be prescribed and administered this during the week commencing 
Monday 29 June 2020. 

I was particularly concerned that SUA may proceed to have radical radiotherapy with an indwelling 
urethral catheter still in place, as I had experienced some of the worst adverse outcomes of radical 
radiotherapy in such circumstance. I therefore wrote to Sr. Travers, Urology/Continence Nurse 
Specialist at SWAH, requesting an appointment for SUA to have a further trial removal of the 
indwelling urethral catheter, and requesting that he would be taught how to self-catheterise in the 
event that he was unable to pass urine satisfactorily following removal of the indwelling urethral 
catheter. Lastly, I submitted by email to the cancer tracker an update to his previous clinical 
summary for further MDM discussion with the reports of histopathological examination of 
resected prostatic tissue, bone and CT scans when available. 

The formal report of histopathological examination found that approximately 60% of resected 
prostatic tissue was infiltrated by Gleason 5+5 adenocarcinoma. There was evidence of perineural 
and lymphovascular infiltration. 

CT scanning of his chest, abdomen and pelvis was performed on 29 June 2020, revealing 
advanced, metastatic disease progression. He was reported to have one metastatic lymph node 
located within the mediastinum, to the left of his oesophagus. He was reported to have extensive, 
retroperitoneal, para-aortic, perirectal, presacral and pelvic lymphadenopathy. There was a large, 
soft tissue mass infiltrating the left internal and external obdurator muscles. There was thickening 
of the rectosigmoid with perirectal soft tissue stranding, and he was reported to have thickening 
of the wall of his bladder with perivesical stranding. An appointment was arranged for him to have 
a radioisotope bone scan at Craigavon Area Hospital on 19 August 2020, by which date SUA was 
deceased. 

SUA was reviewed by a Consultant Urologist (name redacted) at Craigavon Area Hospital on 14 
July 2020. In the letter which he dictated to the GP that day, he advised that SUA had initially 
been diagnosed with locally advanced prostate cancer in August 2019. He wrote that SUA was 
‘commenced on a low dose of Bicalutamide initially’. This was not correct. As related above, SUA 
was initially prescribed Bicalutamide 150mgs, in addition to Tamoxifen 10 mg daily, following 
which he experienced adverse effects which he was unable to tolerate. He advised SUA that his 
disease had progressed and that treatment with curative intent could no longer be offered. He 
also wrote that he advised ‘switching to an LHRH analogue’ and he advised SUA to discontinue 
Bicalutamide. He was prescribed Dexamethasone 0.5 mg daily and Omeprazole 20 mg daily. He 
also wrote that SUA’s family did ask whether radiotherapy given sooner may have impacted upon 
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the course of his disease. He advised that he could not be certain of this, but would initiate 
assessment of his management to date in order to answer this question and also to assess if any 
lessons could be learned. There is no written evidence in the records and information provided of 
SUA having been offered any palliative or psychological support at this consultation, or of referral 
to the Palliative Care Service of the Western Health & Social Care Trust. Similarly, there is no 
written evidence of engagement with or by a Urological Cancer Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS). 
Lastly, there is no documentary evidence in the records provided of a review appointment being 
intended or arranged. 

SUA attended the North West Cancer Centre at Altnagelvin Area Hospital on Wednesday 15 July 
2020 when he met with a Registrar in Oncology (name redacted), and with a Consultant in Clinical 
Oncology (name redacted). It was noted that SUA attended with his daughter, and that both 
remained upset that SUA’s prostate cancer was incurable. The course of his disease was explained 
to SUA and his daughter, and it was agreed that approval would be sought for the addition 
Abiraterone. It was intended that SUA would return for further review on 27 July 2020, but he was 
unable to do so as he remained an inpatient in SWAH following his acute admission on 23 July 
2020. 

SUA had been having increasingly difficulties at his home since discharge from DHH on 22 June 
2020. He attended the Emergency Department at SWAH on 10 July 2020 due to blockage of the 
indwelling urethral catheter, resulting in pain and bypassing of urine around the catheter. There 
was no evidence of significant urinary infection. He again presented to the Emergency Department 
at SWAH at 00:58 am on 20 July 2020 due to having distal penile pain associated with the 
indwelling urethral catheter. He wished to have the catheter removed. When he again attended 
the Emergency Department on 22 July 2020, it is recorded that he had had the indwelling urethral 
catheter replaced on 20 July 2020 when he had also been prescribed oral antibiotics for a 
presumed urinary infection. 

SUA remained in the Emergency Department until his admission to SWAH on 23 July 2020 for 
further management of decreased oral intake, abdominal pain and diarrhoea. The discharge letter 
of 28 July 2020 reported that urinary culture at the time of replacement of the indwelling urethral 
catheter on 20 July 2020 had confirmed the presence of a coliform infection. It was noted that his 
global renal function had deteriorated on admission. Losartan and Bendroflumethiazide were 
discontinued due to their nephrotoxicity, and SUA was managed with intravenous hydration and 
antibiotics. Ultrasound and CT scanning was reported to have demonstrated further pelvic 
progression of carcinoma resulting in a mild left upper urinary tract obstruction. SUA recovered 
clinically and was discharged on 28 July 2020. 

The discharge letter of 28 July 2020 related that the finding of mild left upper tract obstruction 
was discussed with Urology, that SUA’s further management would be discussed at MDM, and 
that he would be contacted directly with the outcome of that discussion. A copy of the discharge 
letter of 28 July 2020 was sent to the Department of Urology. There is no record in the information 
provided to me of SUA’s further management having been discussed subsequently at MDM or of 
SUA having had any further contact from the Department of Urology at CAH. 

SUA and his caring family continued to experience increasing difficulties at home following his 
discharge from SWAH on 28 July 2020. On 3 August 2020, the Out of Hours service was contacted 
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to report that his indwelling urethral catheter was leaking and that he was distressed and 
exhausted. His GP referred him to the Northern Ireland Hospice Specialist Nursing Service on 5 
August 2020 as his family was finding things very tough, being up all though the night with SUA 
who was very unsettled and anxious. He then referred SUA to the Social Work Service on 7 August 
2020 as he was concerned that his family were exhausted and unable to manage. 

The Out of Hours Service was again contacted on 8 August 2020 as SUA was not sleeping and was 
restless, though he had settled the night before after taking Diazepam and Zopiclone. His wife and 
daughter reported that he was not drinking much and appeared to be dehydrated. He was 
confused and weak. The urethral catheter continued to leak and he was febrile with a 
temperature of 37.8 degrees, even though he had been prescribed Augmentin the previous day. 
His wife and daughter were unable to cope, as he required 24 hour care. His wife did not want him 
to be readmitted to hospital. His daughter reported that she had been advised by an oncologist 
the previous Monday that her father had about six months to live. It was reported that a package 
of palliative care was to commence on Monday 10 August 2020. 

The Out of Hours Service was again contacted on 9 August 2020 due to concern that SUA had an 
irregular heart rate. It would appear that the irregularity was considered to be related to urinary 
infection. 

SUA was brought by ambulance to the Emergency Department at SWAH on 13 August 2020. It was 
reported that he had been having Augmentin administered intravenously at home for urinary 
infection, and that it had not been possible to gain further peripheral venous access due to his 
state of dehydration. The major diagnostic finding on 13 August 2020 was that there had been a 
significant deterioration in his global renal function, his estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) 
having decreased from 57 ml/min on 10 August 2020 to 10 ml/min. It was noted that his serum 
PSA level had increased from 33.45ng/ml on 01 July 2020 to 62.27ng/ml on 30 July 2020. He 
remained Covid 19 negative on PCR testing. 

SUA was admitted to SWAH on 13 August 2020 from the Emergency Department. It would appear 
Personal Information redacted by the 

USIfrom the Mortuary Summary of  that SUA continued to be managed with 
intravenous hydration and antibiotic therapy following his admission on 13 August 2020. His global 
renal function had improved significantly by 15 August 2020 when his eGFR was 48 ml/min. Then 
oxygen saturation levels deteriorated on 17 August 2020. It was considered that he probably had 
developed pulmonary oedema due to fluid overload. This was confirmed on a further Chest XRay 
on 17 August 2020 when he was reported to have a mild left pleural effusion in addition to 
pulmonary oedema. He had also developed severe heart failure, reflected in a grossly elevated, 
serum ProBNP concentration in excess of 35,000ng/L. Despite intravenous diuretic therapy, he 
continued to deteriorate. A decision was made to focus on comfort care. He died on Personal Information 

redacted by the USI

The certified cause of death was metastatic prostatic carcinoma which he was stated to have had 
for one year. 

Aidan O’Brien 
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WIT-83429

Comments concerning the SAI Report of Service User A 

Introduction 

In his letter of 11 July 2020, Mr Haynes, Associate Medical Director, advised that the case of 
Service User A

Personal 
information 
redacted by USI

 was a potential Serious Adverse Incident. The case was reported by completion of 
Datix Form  on 14 July 2020. The Datix Form was opened for assessment on 22 July 2020. 
The concern was stated as ‘MDM outcome not followed and patient has subsequently developed 
progression of disease’. The incident date was 31 October 2019 (the date of the MDM). 

1.0 Executive Summary: Factual Inaccuracies 

The executive summary states that the patient was discussed at MDM on 31 October 2019 and 
that a ‘recommendation to commence LHRH analogue and refer for an opinion from a clinical 
oncologist regarding external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) was agreed’. This statement is 
incorrect. The MDM Outcome stated that the patient had ‘intermediate risk prostate cancer to 
start ADT and refer for ERBT(sic)’. 

The executive summary then states that ‘this was not actioned’. That is correct, as it was not the 
recommendation recorded in the MDM Outcome of 31 October 2019. 

The executive summary then states that he was ‘commenced on Bicalutamide 50 mg daily’. This is 
also incorrect as he had already been commenced on Bicalutamide 150 mg daily. 

The executive summary states that he was ‘commenced on LHRH analogue’ on 1 June 2020’. This 
too is incorrect; had the injection administered on 03 June 2020. 

3.0 SAI Review Terms of Reference 

It is worthy of note that the aims and objectives of this review include: 

• Carry out a systematic multidisciplinary review of the process used in the diagnosis, 
multidisciplinary team decision making and subsequent follow up and treatment provided 
for each patient identified, using a Root Cause Analysis (RCA) Methodology 

• Reviewing individually the quality of treatment and care provided to each patient identified 
and consider any factors that may have adversely influenced or contributed to subsequent 
clinical outcomes 

It is evident that these aims and objectives were not met. If all factors that may have adversely 
influenced or contributed to the subsequent clinical outcome of SUA were considered, they were 
not included in the Report. 
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WIT-83430

5.0 Description of Incident/Case: Factual Inaccuracies, Omissions and Comments 

In the description of the case, in the first paragraph on page 4 of the Report, it is related that SUA 
was reviewed by Dr.1 on 23 September 2019 and was told that he had high risk, prostate cancer. It 
then states that ‘no staging investigations were requested’. It omitted to relate that no staging 
investigations were requested on 23 September 2019. The staging investigations were requested 
on 14 October 2019. 

In the second paragraph on page 4 of the Report, it is written that ‘However, although XX’s PSA 
was noted to be rising (21.8ng/ml), a plan was made to re-check the PSA.’ The implication of this 
statement is unclear. It may be that it was mistakenly considered that the increased serum PSA 
level was found on 14 October 2019, following a period of androgen deprivation using 
Bicalutamide, and that repeating the serum PSA level was inappropriate. It may not have been 
appreciated that the increased serum PSA level of 21.8ng/ml had been found at his review on 23 
September 2019 and prior to the commencement of androgen deprivation. 

Again, in the third paragraph on page 4, it is stated that the case was discussed at the MDM of 31 
October 2019 when ‘a recommendation to commence androgen deprivation therapy (a LHRH 
analogue) and refer for an opinion from a Clinical Oncologist regarding external beam radiation 
therapy (EBRT) was agreed’. As indicated above, this repeated claim is incorrect. 

It is worthy of note that it is stated in the seventh paragraph on page 4 that a ‘planned review 
appointment for 27 April 2020 had been made’ but thereafter omitted to inform why it had not 
taken place. It had been cancelled by the Trust due to the Covid 19 pandemic lockdown. 

It later states, in the third paragraph on page 5, that Dr 2, on 22 June 2020, ‘dictated a letter 
(typed on 26 June 2020)…’ This is incorrect as the letter was typed on 25 June 2020. 

It then states, in the same paragraph, that a ‘referral letter was sent on the same day by Dr 2 to 
Nurse 1 asking to arrange a further trial of voiding two weeks later’. This too is incorrect as the 
letter was addressed to Ms. K. Travers, Urology / Continence Nurse Specialist at South West Acute 
Hospital (SWAH), and not to Nurse 1 who had performed the prostatic biopsies in August 2019. 
This incorrect assertion is restated, in the fourth paragraph on page 5, with regard to my letter 
dictated on 26 June 2020 and typed on 02 July 2020, in which it asserted that I made reference to 
‘the need for trial removal of catheter by Nurse 1 as indicated by Dr 2 letter’. The letter which I 
dictated on 26 June 2020 was addressed to Ms Travers, and not to Nurse 1. 

It is worthy of note that there is no reference to the patient having been reviewed by Dr 2 once 
again on 14 July 2020. Dr 2 dictated a letter addressed to the patient’s GP following that review. 
The letter was typed on 15 July 2020. In the letter, Dr 2 incorrectly advised the GP that the patient 
had initially been prescribed ‘low dose Bicalutamide’. As related above, this advice was incorrect. 
In addition, and even though SUA was advised that he had incurable cancer, there is no record of 
the patient having any consultation with a Urology Cancer Clinical Nurse Specialist. Similarly, there 
is no record of the patient having a consultation with, or being directed to, Palliative Care Services. 
There is no record of any planned or intended further urological review, either in person or 
remotely. 
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WIT-83431

In the fifth paragraph on page 5, it is stated that the patient was reviewed by Dr 3 (Consultant 
Oncologist) in Altnagelvin Area Hospital on 15 July 2020 and that the patient ‘was deemed not fit 
for any other treatment option’. This too is incorrect as he was considered fit for treatment with 
Abiraterone. 

In the sixth paragraph on page 5, the patient’s first admission to South West Acute Hospital on 23 
July 2020 is related. The Report does refer to contact having been made with Urology following 
the finding of left hydronephrosis on ultrasound scanning, and that Urology had advised CT 
scanning which indicated that the left upper tract dilatation was due to further progression of 
prostatic carcinoma in the pelvis. However, the Report omits to relate that prior to the patient’s 
discharge from South West Acute Hospital on 28 July 2020, there had been an undertaking to have 
his current clinical status discussed again at MDM and for direct contact to be subsequently made 
with the patient concerning his further management. There is no evidence in the provided 
information of further MDM discussion having taken place, and there was no further contact with 
the patient. 

It is concerning that the SAI Report has omitted any reference to the challenges faced by SUA, his 
wife and daughter, following his discharge from South West Acute Hospital on 28 July 2020. Those 
management challenges may have been obviated or mitigated by engagement with Urology 
Cancer Nurse and/or Palliative Care Nurse Services following his review on 14 July 2020, and/or by 
execution of the undertaking by Urology to contact the patient following his discharge from SWAH 
on 28 July 2020. 

It is remarkable

’ Personal Information redacted by 
the USI

 that the management of the patient following his
Personal Information redacted by 

the USI

 readmission

Personal Information redacted by 
the USI

 to South West 
Acute Hospital on 13 August 2020, leading to his death on , should be simply 
related as  XX passed away in SWAH’. It is concerning that any reference to the 
cause of his acute readmission and to the fluid overload prior to his death on , has 
been omitted. 

6.0 Findings 

The introduction to this section states that the patient was investigated appropriately up to and 
including the original biopsies. It is remarkable that the Report makes no reference to the fact that 
patients referred in 2019 with a suspicion of prostatic carcinoma waited up to 15 weeks for a first 
outpatient consultation. Had SUA’s referral not been triaged by me, he may not have had a first 
outpatient consultation until late September 2019. Moreover, the patient may have awaited that 
length of time without having had any prostatic imaging requested and performed prior to that 
first consultation. In that case, the patient would have had to await prostatic MRI scanning prior to 
having prostatic biopsies performed. He would probably have had both performed during October 
2019. He may have had the diagnosis discussed at MDM by the end of October 2019. He then 
would have had CT and bone scans requested and performed prior to further MDM discussion in 
late November 2019 or early December 2019. 

Patients referred with a suspicion of prostate cancer have had to wait such long periods of time 
for first outpatient consultations, in breach of Ministerial targets, primarily due to the inadequacy 
of the urological service provided by the Trust. The impact of that inadequacy has been 
compounded by having triage of referrals undertaken by consultant urologists while ‘urologist of 
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WIT-83432

the week’ (UOW). Consultant urologists declined in 2015 to undertake to request imaging in 
advance of first outpatient consultations as they did not have enough time to do so while being 
UOW. Moreover, I believe that they were not incentivised to do so as they considered that they 
may be additionally held responsible for the reports of any such investigations requested. That 
concern would have been exacerbated on learning that the placing of patients on waiting lists for 
first outpatient consultations may have been contingent upon the report of such an investigation. 

The Report also states that the staging scans ‘would normally be expected to have been performed 
with a degree of urgency’ and that the initial assessment was satisfactory ‘although rather 
prolonged’. In addition to the above issues affecting triage, progress in assessment and diagnosis 
was adversely affected by the inadequate capacity for outpatient review appointments. The 
Report did not include an appreciation that the requirement for urgency had been mitigated by 
the patient having had ADT initiated while awaiting completion of staging. 

It is then stated that the ‘initial treatment should have been reversible ADT – most commonly a 
LHRH analogue – pending the results of the staging scans’. The initial treatment was a reversible 
ADT in the form of Bicalutamide 150 mg daily. Fortunately, the choice of Bicalutamide enabled its 
early discontinuation when it appeared that the patient had suffered intolerable, adverse effects 
of Bicalutamide or of Tamoxifen, which had also been prescribed. If similar adverse toxicity had 
been experienced following the administration of a LHRH agonist, reversibility and relief from 
adverse effects would have been much more prolonged. 

It is then stated that ‘the prescribed hormone therapy did not conform to the Northern Ireland 
Cancer Network (NICAN) Urology Cancer Clinical Guidelines (2016), which was signed off by the 
Southern Health and Social Care Trust (SHSCT) urology multidisciplinary meeting, as their protocols 
for cancer care for Cancer Peer Review (2017)’. This statement is incorrect. The only 
recommendation in the above Guidelines relevant to Service User A appears on page 58 of the 
Guidelines. It states that ‘In patients with locally advanced PCa T3-4 N0 M0, concomitant and 
adjuvant hormonal therapy for a total duration of 3 years, with external-beam irradiation for 
patients with WHO 0-2 performance status, is recommended, as it improves overall survival’. The 
initial prescription of Bicalutamide 150 mg daily, to minimise the increased risk of a major adverse 
cardiovascular event associated with LHRH analogues in a man with a previous history of 
ischaemic heart disease, and with Tamoxifen 10 mg daily, to minimise the risk and severity of 
gynaecomastia developing as a consequence of taking Bicalutamide, did conform to the 
Guidelines. 

It is then stated that the ‘subsequent management with unlicensed anti-androgenic treatment 
(Bicalutamide) at best delayed definitive treatment’. This statement is incorrect as Bicalutamide 
150 mg daily is licensed for the management of locally advanced prostate cancer at high risk of 
disease progression, either alone or as adjuvant treatment to prostatectomy or radiotherapy, and 
in locally advanced, non-metastatic prostate cancer when surgical castration or other medical 
intervention is inappropriate. 

Secondly, the definitive treatment recommended for SUA at the MDM on 31 October 2019 was 
the combination of ADT and EBRT and did not consist of EBRT alone. Optimal ADT had been 
initiated in September 2019, but had to be discontinued in October 2019 due to possible, 
significant adverse toxicity, and prior to resumption at the lower daily dose of 50 mg in November 
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WIT-83433

2019. Progression of his recommended treatment was subsequently delayed due to the need for a 
further period of time for him to recover from the adverse toxicity, followed by the disease 
progression while resuming adequate androgen deprivation. 

It is then stated that Bicalutamide (50mg) is ‘currently only indicated as a preliminary anti-flare 
agent and is only prescribed before ADT’. This too is incorrect as Bicalutamide 50 mg daily is 
licensed in advanced prostate cancer, in combination with gonadorelin analogue or surgical 
castration. In addition, in March 2020, the Section of Oncology of the British Association of 
Urological Surgeons (BAUS) recommended Bicalutamide 50 mg daily for patients with low- and 
intermediate-risk, non-metastatic prostatic carcinoma while awaiting radical prostatectomy or 
radiotherapy deferred during the Covid 19 pandemic. However, I would contend that its 
unlicensed use for a period of time in a patient suspected of having had significant intolerance of 
150 mg daily was reasonable and appropriate. 

It is then stated that treatment ‘for prostate cancer is based on achieving biochemical castration 
(Testosterone < 1.7nmol/L), which is best accomplished with ADT through a LHRH analogue, by a 
LHRH antagonist and by bilateral subcapsular orchidectomy’. This statement is also concerning as 
it would at least imply that the hormonal treatment of any patient with prostate cancer 
necessitates castration, irrespective of how it is achieved, and irrespective of its reversibility. 
Castration is certainly indicated in the management of patients with metastatic disease, as 
treatment with androgen receptor blockade without castration has been found to be inferior. 
However, castration may not be required in the management of patients with non-metastatic 
cancer as Bicalutamide 150 mg daily has not been found to be inferior to castration in the 
management of high risk, locally advanced disease. 

As Bicalutamide 150 mg daily has not been found to be oncologically inferior to castration in the 
management of non-metastatic, locally advanced, prostate cancer, in combination with radical 
radiotherapy, Bicalutamide should be considered as the primary treatment modality due to its 
lesser adverse toxicity profile, particularly of a systemic nature. 

With reference to SUA, using Bicalutamide in the first instance avoided the increased risk of 
serious adverse events of a cardiovascular nature in a man with a previous history of ischaemic 
heart disease. 

It is then stated that ‘following discussion with the families, the review team have noted that the 
variance from regional care pathways and the anti-androgen dosage used in this case was not 
discussed’ with the patient. This statement is incorrect on two counts. Firstly, there was no 
variance from the regional care pathways. Secondly, the prescription of the lower dose of 
Bicalutamide was certainly discussed with the patient as it arose due to his presumed intolerance 
of the higher dose. 

It is then stated that ‘he could not and did not give informed consent to this alternative care 
pathway’. For all of the reasons stated above, the initially prescribed ADT was not an alternative 
pathway excluded from the recommended pathway. However, it is true to state that I did not 
discuss with him the alternatives of surgical and medical castration. In view of its oncological non-
inferiority to castration, its lesser adverse toxicity profile and particularly in view of his previous 
history of ischaemic heart disease, I considered that prescribing Bicalutamide 150 mg daily initially 
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WIT-83434

was the most appropriate option for SUA, unless and until evidence of metastatic disease was 
found on further staging. It would be perverse to insist that one would expect a patient to be 
asked to give consent to one form of androgen deprivation which at the outset could be as 
effective as another form of androgen deprivation, but less harmful. 

It is then stated that the review team ‘identified that the MDMs were not quorate due to the 
absence of an oncologist at the meetings’. This statement is correct. Despite approaches over a 
number of years, the Trust failed to provide an adequate oncological service sufficient to ensure 
that Urology MDMs have been quorate. 

It is then stated that the specific MDM recommendation of 31 October 2019 ‘to prescribe a LHRH 
analogue and to refer to clinical oncology for external beam radiotherapy’ was not actioned. This 
statement is incorrect. Even if it was wrongly considered by the Review Team that the only form of 
ADT was pharmacological castration, it is remarkable that it persists in claiming that the MDM of 
31 October 2019 recommended a LHRH agonist, when it did not. With regard to referral to clinical 
oncology, the patient had experienced significant adverse effects since being prescribed 
Bicalutamide 150 mg daily and Tamoxifen 10 mg daily. Having been advised to discontinue taking 
both for two weeks, he resumed taking Bicalutamide 50 mg daily upon my advice. Even though he 
still had not fully recovered from the adverse effects, he was persuaded with reluctance to remain 
on Bicalutamide 50 mg daily until his review in January 2020 following his return from holiday. 
Indeed, it would have been his 

Personal 
Information 

redacted by the 
USI

preference not to have resumed any hormonal treatment until 
after his return from holiday  in December 2019. He was certainly not prepared to consider 
any further hormonal treatment until then. I believed that it inappropriate to refer him for EBRT in 
November 2019 for the reasons which I have related in the Clinical History. 

It is then stated that ‘Dr 1 neither provided a noted rationale for this inaction nor was it discussed 
with the patient’. This statement is at best disingenuous as SUA’s intended treatment was 
explained and discussed with him at review in September 2019, in November 2019, in January 
2020 and by telephone in October 2019 and in March 2020. My letter of 26 June 2020, addressed 
to his GP, referred to the patient being reluctant to consider the initiation of any treatment for his 
prostate cancer in late 2019. Moreover, if the Review Team had not compiled its draft report prior 
to allowing me a reasonable opportunity to have an input following provision of requested, almost 
complete, clinical records, it would have been fully appraised of the rationale for any alleged 
inaction. 

It is then stated that the patient ‘could not and did not give informed consent for this action’. This 
statement is incorrect. Remaining on Bicalutamide 50 mg daily was the only undertaking to which 
he was agreeable. 

It is then stated that the patient ‘did not have a Cancer Nurse Specialist (CNS) or Key Worker to 
support his care’. This statement is correct. There has been a failure on the part of CNSs to arrange 
holistic needs assessments, to provide further information required, to provide any support 
services required and requested, and to provide their contact details for the patient. Even though 
this patient was reviewed by me at SWAH, where no Cancer CNSs were available, those based at 
Craigavon Area Hospital could still have contacted the patient by telephone to fulfil these 
obligations. CNSs were certainly aware of his diagnosis and proposed management, as they 
attended MDMs when both were discussed. Moreover, the Trust’s Urology Cancer MDT’s 
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WIT-83435

Operational Policy of 01 September 2017 is explicit in asserting that it is the joint responsibility of 
the MDT Lead Clinician and of the MDT Core Nurse Member to ensure that all newly diagnosed 
cancer patients have a Key Worker allocated. 

It is then stated that the Review Team had been informed that I, Dr 1, ‘excluded all CNSs from the 
care of his patients at clinic’. I find this allegation to be egregiously, offensively untrue. I have 
never excluded any CNS from the care of my patients at clinics. On the contrary, I have requested 
the involvement of CNSs in the care of my patients on many occasions, and that involvement was 
always gladly given. 

It is then stated that without appropriate CNS support, the patient and his family ‘had difficulties 
in accessing support and care, especially in the community. This resource was provided by the 
SHSCT but was denied to XX by exclusion of CNS involvement’. Most importantly, the Report does 
not clarify whether a CNS had been allocated in the first instance. As stated above, I have never 
excluded CNSs from involvement in the care of my patients. I am unable to address whether a CNS 
had been allocated or excluded from the patient’s further care at his review by Dr 2 on 14 July 
2020. The apparent failure of engagement by or with palliative and cancer CNS services when the 
patient was reviewed in July 2020 resulted in a lack of proactive provision of support when the 
patient and his family most needed that support. It may be that the pandemic lockdown continued 
to have CNSs deployed elsewhere when the patient was reviewed in July 2020. If so, it should still 
have been possible to have the patient and his family directed towards those services in the 
community. There is no evidence from the correspondence dictated by Dr 2 of any such 
consideration or direction. 

It is then stated that the patient’s case ‘was not re-discussed at the MDM despite clear progression 
of his disease’. I had noted reference to his further discussion at MDM in the correspondence 
from Dr 2 of 22 June 2020, but I did not find any evidence of this having happened. I therefore 
submitted by email an update to the cancer tracker on 26 June 2020, requesting that his further 
management be discussed at MDM again when the reports of histopathology, CT and bone 
scanning were available. As the patient did not subsequently have a bone scan performed, that 
may have been the reason for lack of further MDM discussion. Nonetheless, contact had been 
made with the urology service prior to the patient’s discharge from South West Acute Hospital on 
28 July 2020 to advise of the radiological finding of further disease progression resulting in mild, 
left upper tract dilatation. An undertaking had been given to have his further management 
discussed at MDM and to make contact with the patient thereafter. However, there was no 
evidence from the information provided that this took place. It is regrettable that the further 
management of his progressive disease was apparently not discussed at MDM. 

It is then stated that ‘the absence of any CNS input to XX’s care meant that they were unaware of 
the disease progression and could not refer back to MDM independently’. This may be true. It 
certainly would have been my practice to have involved a Urology Cancer CNS or Palliative Care 
CNS or both when reviewing a patient who was being advised that his/her cancer had progressed 
to an advanced, incurable stage. It was my practice to arrange CNS participation in advance of the 
consultation. Having CNS participation at the patient’s review on 14 July 2020 may have provided 
an additional assurance of MDM discussion. 
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WIT-83436

It is then stated that the patient ‘received uniprofessional treatment and care despite multi-
professional resources being available’. This statement is correct. Even though there was no 
Urology Cancer CNS available at the outpatient clinics at South West Acute Hospital, there was a 
failure by CNSs at Craigavon Area Hospital to contact the patient to ensure assessment and 
provision of any additional advice, information and support required and requested on an ongoing 
basis. This failure was primarily due to a lack of allocation or appointment of a Key Worker / CNS 
by those responsible for doing so. 

It is then stated that his ‘care did not follow regional guidance and treatment recommendations 
from the MDM were ignored’. As detailed in the clinical history and explained above, this 
statement is incorrect. 

It is then stated that the patient was ‘denied the opportunity of multidisciplinary professional 
referral and care, initially from a clinical oncologist when radical radiotherapy should have been 
considered’. Again, as detailed above, this statement is incorrect. Radical radiotherapy was 
considered at MDM on 31 October 2019, and again at review of the patient on 11 November 2019. 
However, at that time, the patient was just beginning to tolerate ADT and did not wish to consider 
any further hormonal treatment until his further review in January 2020. 

It is then stated that he was similarly denied multidisciplinary professional referral and care ‘from 
high quality palliative care when it became necessary’. As I was not involved in his care at that 
time, I cannot clarify whether he was actively denied referral to palliative care, or that it was 
unavailable, or that it just was not considered. If engagement by or with palliative care in July 2020 
was unavailable, he could have been directed to those services in the community. Either way, the 
patient and his family certainly did not receive it when he most needed it. 

It is then stated that the patient ‘developed metastases whilst being inadequately treated for high-
risk prostate cancer’, and that the ‘opportunity to offer him radical treatment with curative intent 
was lost’. I do not agree with this statement. 

Firstly, he was initially prescribed Bicalutamide 150 mg daily at review on 23 September 2019. As 
related above, Bicalutamide 150 mg daily was prescribed as it has non-inferior oncological efficacy 
to castration as neo-adjuvant and adjuvant, androgen deprivation therapy combined with radical 
radiotherapy in the management of high risk, locally advanced, prostatic carcinoma. Bicalutamide 
was chosen because of its lesser adverse toxicity profile, and particularly in view of the patient’s 
history of ischaemic heart disease and comorbid risk factors for further cardiovascular events. It 
would have been improper to have initially prescribed a LHRH agonist prior to determining 
whether there was any evidence of metastatic disease. 

Secondly, having experienced significant adverse toxicity, he was advised on 14 October 2019 to 
discontinue taking Bicalutamide (and Tamoxifen) for a short period of time prior to resumption at 
the lower dose of 50 mg daily on 01 November 2019. If he had been found to have evidence of 
metastatic disease by the time of his further review on 11 November 2019, pharmacologically 
induced castration would have been advised and prescribed. As there was no evidence of 
metastatic disease on staging, and even though he was still not as well as he had been prior to 
having hormonal treatment initiated, he was persuaded to continue taking Bicalutamide 50 mg 
daily until his further review in January 2020 following his return from holiday abroad. He was 
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WIT-83437

certainly not prepared to consider any further hormonal treatment until then. Moreover, he had 
an impressive, progressive biochemical response to reduced doses of Bicalutamide by January 
2020, when the dose of Bicalutamide was increased to 100 mg daily, with the intent that it would 
be increased further to 150 mg daily if remaining tolerant of it, in addition to referral for 
consideration of radiotherapeutic options. 

The increase in his serum PSA level to 5.37ng/ml on 05 March 2020 was unexpected. I considered 
and discussed with the patient the possible explanations. As he had remained well since review in 
January 2020, having had no recurrence of adverse effects, I advised him to increase the dose of 
Bicalutamide to 150 mg daily, and to have a serum PSA level repeated prior to his further review in 
April 2020. I believe that it was appropriate to have his serum PSA level repeated to check its 
validity, rather than acting upon one unexpected value. That review did not take place due to 
cancellation of clinics as a consequence of the pandemic. If it had taken place as planned, the 
symptomatic and biochemical evidence of disease progression would have been available. I would 
certainly have converted his hormonal therapy to combined androgen blockade and restaged his 
disease by repeating CT and bone scanning. Depending upon his priorities at that time, I would 
have either had him discussed again at MDM with the reports of both scans, or alternatively had 
him admitted for prostatic resection following the scans and followed by MDM discussion. Either 
way, he would have then been referred to oncology for consideration of his further management 
following a complete reassessment of his disease status. 

The consequences of the pandemic lockdown were significant for SUA. By the time that I learned 
in May 2020 that he had since developed urinary retention requiring catheterisation, I arranged 
his admission for endoscopic resection of his prostate gland as it was the patient’s dominant wish 
to have the prospect of being free of an indwelling urethral catheter, as he was otherwise feeling 
well, and even though I did appreciate that the further increase in his serum PSA level to 
12.08ng/ml in April 2020 indicated that he had disease progression. As indicated in my letter of 1 
June 2020 and addressed to his GP, I then planned to have him subsequently restaged prior to 
oncological referral for consideration of his further management. 

The increase in serum PSA levels from 2.23ng/ml in January 2020 to 5.37ng/ml in March 2020 was 
significant, in that it increased despite having doubled the daily dose of Bicalutamide which had 
previously resulted in a marked reduction in serum PSA levels of the order of 90% from September 
2019 to January 2020. The increase from January 2020 represented a PSA doubling time of only six 
weeks. The further increase in serum PSA levels to 12.08ng/ml by 7 April 2020 despite increasing 
the daily dose of Bicalutamide to 150 mg daily further reflected rapid disease progression, with 
the PSA doubling time decreasing to four weeks. In view of the extent of metastatic disease found 
on CT scanning on 29 June 2020, it would be reasonable to expect that SUA would have been 
found to have evidence of metastatic disease, albeit less advanced, if he had had staging repeated 
in March or April 2020. If so, a LHRH agonist or antagonist would have been prescribed, but his 
disease would have progressed relentlessly, as it did subsequently. 

The statement that he ‘developed metastases while being inadequately treated for high risk 
prostate cancer’ risks the inference of a definite causal relationship, that he developed metastases 
because he was inadequately treated. As related, the initial intent was that he would be 
‘adequately’ treated. It was as a consequence of the experience of adverse toxicity that his 
treatment may have been considered ‘inadequate’ for a period of time. However, that 
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WIT-83438

‘inadequate’ treatment resulted in an impressive biochemical, disease response initially. 
Biochemical evidence of rapid disease progression emerged while his treatment returned to 
‘adequacy’ and persisted after it had done so. The ‘opportunity to offer him radical treatment with 
curative intent was lost’ due to his experience of adverse effects of the adequate hormonal 
treatment initially prescribed in September 2019, and to his consequent wish not to consider any 
further hormonal treatment until his review in January 2020. Thereafter, radical treatment with 
curative intent would not have been curative, even if available despite Covid 19. 

It is worthy of note that the cause of the patient’s death on Personal Information redacted by 
the USI  was registered as 

metastatic prostate cancer and that it was recorded that he had had metastatic prostate cancer 
for one year. While there was no evidence of metastatic disease in October 2019, it is indeed 
entirely possible, if not probable, that SUA had occult metastatic disease ab initio, particularly in 
the context of unquantifiable suppression of PSA secretion due to Finasteride. If that had been the 
case, he was not curable. 

It would be reasonable to presume that SUA would have been found to have metastatic disease if 
staging scans had been repeated in March 2020 or April 2020, as he was found to have extensive, 
metastatic disease in June 2020. If he had been found to have metastatic disease two or three 
months earlier, he could have been considered for adjuvant treatment, such as with Enzalutmide, 
Docetaxel or Abiraterone, as was considered in July 2020. However, his serum PSA kinetics from 
January 2020 confirmed that his disease was rapidly progressive. It is therefore unlikely that such 
additional treatment would have had a significant beneficial impact upon his disease, and any 
impact may have been outweighed by adverse toxicity. 

Family Engagement 

The review team met with the family of SUA following his death. They were advised that the 
patient did not have a CNS to support him through his cancer diagnosis. The family described how 
difficult it had been to access district nursing and palliative care services during the pandemic, 
which resulted in his admission to hospital and subsequent passing. As related above, a Urology 
Cancer CNS service was unavailable at South West Acute Hospital in Enniskillen. There was a 
primary failure of allocation of a Key Worker and of the Urology Cancer CNSs at Craigavon Area 
Hospital to contact or engage with the patient and with his family. That failure was particularly 
significant at or following his review by Dr 2 in July 2020 when their support was most required. 
The failure to engage with or by Palliative Care Services at or following his review in July 2020 was 
even more regrettable. 

It was reported that the family considered that SUA had died sooner than had been expected. It 
may be the case that the advice given in August 2020 that he had about six months to live was 
generous. Nevertheless, it would appear that fluid overload following his acute admission to 
SWAH on 13 August 2020,

Personal Information redacted by 
the USI

 resulting in pulmonary oedema and heart failure, may have hastened 
his death on . The Report does not include any reference to, or commentary 
regarding, his management at South West Acute Hospital. 

Questions from the Family 
10 
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WIT-83439

The Report related that the family had enquired about the initial biopsy of 20 August 2019 ‘as they 
had been informed that it may not have been representative and that XX may have had aggressive 
cancer from this date’. It related that the Review Team had scrutinised the report and found that 
the biopsy sample was adequate and comprised appropriate numbers of biopsy cores of both 
lobes of the prostate gland, that the biopsy report had been signed off by consultant pathologists 
with specific interest in urological cancer and that the biopsy was deemed representative of the 
tumour. It concluded that the Review Team would ‘dispute the statement of Dr 1 as there is no 
evidence to support his contention that the biopsy may not have been representative’. 

While it is remarkable that a Review Team would deem it appropriate to dispute a ‘statement’ 
allegedly made by me without enquiring of me concerning the alleged statement, the Team’s 
conclusion is concerning. The weight of prostatic tissue retrieved by a 18G biopsy needle has been 
reported to range from 5 to 10 mg. Assuming that the volume of the patient’s prostate was 
reliably calculated to be 34 ml on MRI scanning, it would have required a minimum of 34 biopsies 
to be taken to have sampled 1% of his prostate gland. Thirteen biopsy cores will have sampled less 
than 0.4% of SUA’s prostate gland. Moreover, transrectal, ultrasound guided biopsies are well 
known to be compromised by difficult or impossible access to all regions of the prostate gland, 
and particularly to the anterior midline region of the gland. 

The Team’s conclusion is concerning in the face of the urological literature being replete with 
reports of upgrading of prostate cancer on template transperineal biopsies, on multiparametric 
MRI targeted biopsies, on Doppler ultrasound guided biopsies, on super-microvascular ultrasound 
guided biopsies and on elastography ultrasound guided biopsies compared to transrectal 
ultrasound guided biopsies. The most definitive diagnostic biopsy is when the entire prostate 
gland is resected at radical prostatectomy. When the histopathological findings of 17,598 patients 
who had undergone radical prostatectomy in UK from 2011 to 2016, were compared with the 
histopathological findings of their diagnostic biopsies, upgrading had occurred in 4,489 patients 
(25.5%) and upstaging in 5,389 patients (30.6%). 

Histopathological examination and reportage of SUA’s prostatic biopsies would have been 
meticulous and of a quality assured standard by an experienced pathologist. However, irrespective 
of how arguably adequate the quality and number of biopsy cores have been in any individual 
case, it cannot be asserted that there is no evidence that the biopsy may not have been 
representative. 

7.0 Conclusions 

‘XX was investigated appropriately up to and including the original biopsies.’ 

In fact, the investigation of SUA was expedited by virtue of his enhanced triage. 

‘The staging scans (bone and CT) would normally be expected to have been performed with a 
degree of urgency.’ 

Both scans were requested three weeks following review of the patient on 23 September 2019 
when neo-adjuvant hormonal therapy had been initiated. There had not been adequate time 
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WIT-83440

available to request the scans at the review appointment of 23 September 2019, and initiation of 
hormonal treatment had minimised the need for urgency in doing so. 

‘These would have demonstrated no metastases and this should have led to a referral to a Clinical 
Oncologist as it would have been reasonable to consider radical treatment with external beam 
radiotherapy.’ 

It is evident that the intent was to refer SUA for consideration of radical radiotherapy. However, 
his referral was deferred due to his apparent intolerance of androgen deprivation, necessitating its 
modification, and most importantly, his lack of consent to any further hormonal treatment until 
after his review in January 2020. 

‘Conventionally this would have been preceded by at least 4 months of neo-adjuvant ADT and this 
could have been started before the results of the scans were available.’ 

Neo-adjuvant ADT was commenced in September 2019 prior to the results of staging scans being 
available. 

‘XX suffered disease progression whilst being inadequately treated for high-risk prostate cancer.’ 

The reason for the inadequate treatment of his prostate cancer had been his apparent intolerance 
of its adequate treatment. 

‘The opportunity to offer him radical treatment (with curative intent) was recommended by the 
MDM, but was not actioned by those responsible for his care.’ 

As related above, the MDM recommendation was not actioned due to the patient’s apparent 
intolerance of neo-adjuvant ADT and due to the time required to enable him to safely tolerate 
androgen deprivation that would have been expected to be adequately effective prior to radical 
radiotherapy which would have been contraindicated due to disease progression, and which in 
any case was unavailable due to Covid 19. 

‘The local progression of the disease should have been considered in the light of both the 
symptomatic deterioration and PSA changes.’ 

It is evident that disease progression was considered and discussed with the patient in March 2020 
following the increase in his serum PSA level that month. He was then advised to increase the dose 
of Bicalutamide to 150 mg daily as a consequence. Radical radiotherapy for prostate cancer had 
been suspended as a consequence of the Covid 19 pandemic by the time that the patient was 
found to be in urinary retention in April 2020. 

8.0 Lessons Learned 

• ‘The effective management of urological cancers requires a co-operative multi-disciplinary 
team, which collectively and inter-dependently ensures the support of all patients and their 
families through diagnosis, treatment planning and completion, and survivorship.’ 
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WIT-83441

Agreed. 

• ‘A single member of the team should not choose to, or be expected to, manage all of the 
clinical, supportive and administrative steps of a patient’s care.’ 

Agreed, though it should remain the responsibility of the urologist to completely inform 
and advise the patient concerning the diagnosis and management options, their merits and 
risks etc. The involvement of clinical nurse specialists in patient care should not be an 
excuse to outsource these primary responsibilities of the urologist who is best placed to 
provide them. 

• ‘A key worker, usually a cancer nurse specialist, should be independently assigned to every 
patient learning of a new cancer diagnosis.’ 

Agreed, as has been the Operational Policy since 2017 

• ‘The multi-disciplinary team meeting is primarily a forum in which the relative merits of all 
appropriate treatment options for the management of their disease can be discussed. Any 
other function is secondary to, and if necessary be sacrificed to, this aim.’ 

Agreed, though I am unaware of the other functions referred to and which may need to be 
sacrificed to the primary aim of the MDM. 

• ‘The multi-disciplinary team meeting should be quorate, and all participants must feel able 
to contribute to discussion.’ 

Agreed 

It is regrettable that the Trust failed to ensure that all MDMs were quorate since their 
establishment in 2010 even though it has been aware of the lack of quoracy since then. 

• ‘Any divergence from a MDT recommendation should be justified by further MDT discussion 
and the informed consent of the patient.’ 

I would have a concern regarding the above lesson learned, as I believe it carries an 
unintended risk of compromising the rights of the individual patient. It has been my 
experience that the MDT may be ill informed of the patient’s global status when discussed 
at MDM, and that there may be good reason for the clinician to diverge from a 
recommendation on further consultation and assessment of the patient. It may also in 
effect be coercive for the patient, being advised of the recommendation(s) and 
compromising of his/her right to choose. The choice of the clinician and patient could be 
recorded and the choice discussed and registered with the MDT at a further MDM. 

This difficulty could largely be obviated by ensuring that the Chair of MDM accurately 
dictates an agreed recommendation that includes all of the appropriate management 

13 

Error! Unknown document property name. 



Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 04/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

 
 

  

   
      

    
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

     
     

 
 
 

  
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
 

       
   

    
      

      
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

     
  

   
    

  
 

 
 
 
 

WIT-83442

options for each patient. Otherwise, an unintended consequence may be that the policy 
could add significantly to the numbers of cases to be discussed at MDM with all of the 
additional, time-consuming administration required of clinicians, without time being 
provided. 

• ‘Each MDM requires a Chair responsible for the audit and quality assurance of all aspects of 
its primary function.’ 

Agreed. 

Having been both Lead Clinician and Chair, I believe that this should be the responsibility of 
the Lead Clinician of the MDT, or one delegated to act as such, rather than of the Chair of 
MDM. 

• ‘The clinical record should include the reason for any deferments or variation in MDM 
management decisions’ 

Agreed, apart from emphasising that the MDM makes management recommendations, not 
decisions 

• ‘After any patient interaction, best practice includes the prompt communication with the 
patient (and their General Practitioner) in plain English of the rationale for any decisions 
made. 

I am unaware of any explicit requirement to write to the patient following any interaction, 
though I do agree that it would be optimal. I would be concerned that the requirement to 
write to the patient and to the GP following any interaction will consume time which may 
be subtracted from and compromise the interaction, or indeed become a substitute for the 
interaction. Adequate time will be required and should be provided to ensure that all can 
be implemented without compromise of any. 

• ‘An operational system that allows the future scheduling of any investigations or 
appointments should be available during all clinical interactions’ 

Agreed 

The Trust has failed to date to provide an adequate service to facilitate the scheduling of 
investigations and appointments. While investigative procedures have not been so 
affected, the failure to provide adequate capacity for review appointments has resulted in 
patients waiting years beyond the intended review time, with resultant potential and 
actual harm being suffered. 
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WIT-83443

9.0 Recommendations and Action Planning 

Implementation of the Recommendations can only be achieved if the Trust provides a service 
adequately resourced to do so. In this regard, it is worthy of note that the last lesson learned 
above, ‘An operational system that allows the future scheduling of any investigations or 
appointments should be available during all clinical interactions’, has not translated into a 
recommendation and action to be planned in this section. Since 1992, the Trust has failed in its 
duty of care to patients by its failure to provide a service sufficiently adequate to ensure that any 
and all patients are reviewed after the interval intended by the clinician. 

It would therefore be my concern that the cumulative effect of the nine recommendations and 
actions planned will add to the quantum of work, responsibility and accountability for clinicians, 
without the Trust being obliged to provide adequate resources, personnel and time to ensure their 
implementation, and avoidance of further compromise of the safety of the service. 

Summary concerning SUA in Overarching SAI Report 

The Summary concerning Service User A again reiterates that the patient was started on an anti-
androgen as opposed to androgen deprivation therapy, and that this did not adhere to the NICAN 
Urology Cancer Guidelines (2016). As I have related, this is incorrect. The Guidelines do not 
stipulate that androgen deprivation must be by castration. 

It is ironic that the Summary notes that the ‘guidance was issued when Dr 1 was the regional chair 
of the Urology Tumour Specialty Group and should have had full knowledge of the contents’. I can 
assure the Inquiry that I did have full knowledge of its contents, as I read them many times. 

Again, the Summary records that there had been no discussion with the patient that the treatment 
was at ‘variance’ with regionally recommended practice, and that there was no evidence of 
informed consent to this ‘alternative’ care pathway. The treatment was not at variance and the 
pathway was not alternative. 

The Summary relates that ‘similar practice in prescribing an anti-androgen had been challenged. 
Any challenges made regarding the appropriateness of treatment options were not minuted nor 
was the issue escalated’. I have no memory of any such challenge. I have no doubt that the reason 
for my not having any memory of such challenge is because there never was any challenge. If 
there had been such a challenge, I would have been well able to address it, and would have 
remembered doing so. 

It is concerning that the Summary should relate that, following his initial assessment, the patient’s 
subsequent management ‘with unlicensed anti-androgenic treatment (Bicalutamide) at best 
delayed definitive treatment’. Bicalutamide 150 mg daily is licensed for the neo-adjuvant and 
adjuvant hormonal management of patients with non-metastatic, locally advanced prostatic 
carcinoma. It proceeds to assert that ‘Bicalutamide monotherapy (150 mg) is not recommended 
for intermediate risk, localised prostate cancer (reference is EAU guidelines), and further it 
decreases overall survival’. Apart from the fact that SUA did not have intermediate risk prostate 
cancer, it was evidently never intended that he would be managed with Bicalutamide alone. As 
has been asserted, it is concerning to read that treatment for prostate cancer is ‘based on 
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achieving biochemical castration’, even though Bicalutamide 150 mg daily has been found to be 
non-inferior to castration in the management of non-metastatic, locally advanced disease, has 
been licensed as a consequence, and is preferable to castration due to its adverse toxicity profile. 

The Summary then relates that ‘there were no resources for a Urology Cancer Nurse Specialist to 
attend outreach clinics’ but that ‘their contact numbers should have been provided to the patient’. 
The first is a contradiction of the claim that the Trust had invested to ensure that all cancer 
patients did have access to a CNS. The second carefully avoids explicitly asserting by whom the 
contact numbers should have been provided. I would have considered that it was the least to be 
expected of Clinical Nurse Specialists that they contact the patients who have attended outreach 
clinics to offer any further supports requested, subsequent to their appointment or allocation to 
those patients by the MDT Core Nurse Member whose responsibility it has been to do so. 

It is worthy of note that the Executive Summary begins by stating that the ‘purpose of the review is 
to consider the quality of treatment and the care provided by Doctor 1 to the patients identified 
and to understand if actual or potential harm occurred’. As with all patients identified, the purpose 
of the review was to understand if SUA had suffered actual or potential harm as a consequence of 
the quality of treatment and care provided by me. It was focussed on the treatment and care 
provided by one doctor, rather than the treatment and care received by the patient. For example, 
I found it worthy of note that SUA had remained on Finasteride for nine years without having had 
a serum PSA level checked prior to May 2019. A few serum PSA levels during those years may 
have had SUA travel a different course with a different outcome. 

Aidan O’Brien 
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Clinical History of Patient SUF 

WIT-83445

Patient SUF was Personal 
Information 

redacted by the 
USI

 old when referred by his GP on 03 May 2019 for assessment and 
management of lower urinary tract symptoms associated with serum PSA levels of 11.64ng/ml in 
March 2019 and 11.15ng/ml in April 2019. The GP also reported that the patient had lost 7lbs 
during the previous two months. The GP considered that the prostate gland was mildly enlarged 
and did not palpate any features of prostatic malignancy. 

I triaged the referral on 07 May 2019 as I was Urologist of the Week (UOW) from Thursday 02 May 
2019. I requested an ultrasound scan of his urinary tract on 07 May 2019. In doing so, I requested 
that the volume of his prostate gland and the volume of residual urine following micturition be 
assessed by ultrasound scanning. I also requested that an appointment be arranged for him to 
attend a New Patient Clinic following ultrasound scanning. 

The purpose of requesting ultrasound scanning prior to first consultation was primarily to have an 
assessment of prostatic volume available at the time of first consultation, in addition to screening 
for other pathology of the urinary tract. In someone with no previous serum PSA levels available, 
and in someone whose second serum PSA level was lower than the first, his serum PSA levels may 
have been a consequence of a large prostate gland which was benign. He had the ultrasound scan 
performed on 08 May 2019 when both upper urinary tracts were reported to be normal. He was 
reported to have a prostate volume of 50ml and to have complete bladder voiding on micturition. 

This initial assessment enhanced the significance of his serum PSA levels. The relationship of 
serum PSA levels to prostatic volume is known as PSA Density (PSAD). It is calculated by dividing a 
serum PSA level by prostatic volume, and is expressed in ng/ml/ml. The international consensus 
has been that the upper limit of the normal range of PSAD, denoting a benign prostate, has 
historically been either 0.1ng/ml/ml or 0.15ng/ml/ml. Therefore, if his 50ml prostate gland had 
been entirely benign, the upper limit of his serum PSA levels would have been 7.5ng/ml, at most. 
He had a mean serum PSA level of 11.4ng/ml. His PSAD was 0.228, at least. Such a PSAD is not only 
associated with an increased risk of having prostatic carcinoma, but it is also predictive of the 
carcinoma being more clinically significant, if the presence of carcinoma is proven. 

Patient SUF then attended as an outpatient on 28 May 2019 when he was assessed by Mr 
Hennessey, Locum Consultant Urologist, who additionally considered that he could palpate a 
nodule within the left lateral lobe of the prostate gland. He prescribed Tamsulosin to relieve the 
patient of symptoms presumed to be due to bladder outlet obstruction, and he requested MRI 
scanning of his prostate gland. 

MRI scanning was performed on 13 June 2019. It was reported that there was probable tumour 
within the peripheral zone of the left lateral lobe of the prostate gland. There was no definite 
evidence of extracapsular infiltration. However, as I related in my letter of 19 July 2019, addressed 
to the GP, I was concerned, on reviewing the images, by adjacent irregularity of the capsule of the 
prostate gland. Irregularity may have been an indication of involvement of the capsule by 
carcinoma, without any extracapsular infiltration. Equally well, it may have had no pathological 
significance. There was no suspicion of metastatic disease. As important as the reported features 
of probable carcinoma was the report that the volume of the prostate gland was only 19ml. As I 
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WIT-83446

related in subsequent correspondence, calculation of prostatic volume by MRI scanning was more 
reliable than by ultrasound scanning. The calculated PSAD was reported to be 0.58mg/ml/ml. This 
more reliable PSAD was even more significant in its prediction of the presence of clinically 
significant carcinoma. 

I met Patient SUF for the first time as an outpatient on 19 July 2019. He reported persistent 
significant symptoms consistent with bladder outlet obstruction, including hesitancy of 
micturition, a poor urinary flow and post-micturition incontinence in addition to having to rise up 
to six times during the night to pass urine. I advised him to proceed with prostatic biopsies. 
Importantly, he expressed concern and anxiety regarding the risk of progression of any prostatic 
carcinoma while awaiting biopsies. It was for that reason that I prescribed Bicalutamide 50 mg 
daily. I repeated his serum PSA, as well as a serum testosterone level, arranged for him to return 
on 30 July 2019 for biopsies, and I submitted a clinical summary to the Cancer Tracker by email, 
requesting that he be discussed at MDM with the histopathological report of the biopsies. 

There are a number of comments worth making at this point. Firstly, it is evident that this patient 
had two urological issues of significance to be addressed. He had severe, lower urinary tract 
symptoms (LUTS) which had not improved since Tamsulosin had been prescribed in May 2019, and 
he probably had clinically significant, prostatic carcinoma awaiting diagnostic confirmation and 
assessment. The LUTS may or may not have been caused by his prostate, and may or may not have 
been caused by any malignancy of his prostate gland. Irrespective of the extent of any causal 
relationship with any prostatic carcinoma that he may be found to have, the management of any 
prostatic carcinoma could not be divorced from the assessment and management of such 
significant LUTS. 

Secondly, even though I related in my letter of 19 July 2019, addressed to his GP, that I had 
advised Patient SUF that it would be prudent to proceed with prostatic biopsies in view of the 
reported findings of MRI scanning, I did not explicitly record in my hand-written notes or in that 
letter that I had informed him of the findings. However, the primary purpose of the review 
consultation was to advise the patient of the report of the MRI scan. Not only did I inform him of 
the findings, it has been my practice to demonstrate the findings on digitalised images at 
consultation. In any case, one has to provide the patient with a rational justification for proceeding 
with prostatic biopsies. Moreover, it was explicitly stated in the clinical summary submitted to the 
Cancer Tracker and contained in the MDM report that I did do so. 

Thirdly, on having been advised of the reported findings on MRI scanning, Patient SUF was 
understandably anxious with regard to the risk of disease progression, while awaiting its 
confirmation. As his serum PSA levels were greater than 10ng/ml, any confirmed carcinoma would 
be classified as intermediate risk, at least. Subsequently finding that his serum PSA level that day 
had increased to 13.44ng/ml did further justify his concern. The increase in his serum PSA level 
from 11.15ng/ml three months earlier indicated a PSA doubling time of 1.2 years. Such a PSA 
doubling time would be persuasive of active therapeutic management. 

While some such anxious patients can be reassured that the risk of progression during a relatively 
short period of time is minimal, it is entirely possible to eliminate that anxiety by initiating a 
degree of androgen deprivation therapy which would probably be sufficient to prevent 
progression of a malignancy during a relatively short period of time during which its presence 
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WIT-83447

would be confirmed. It was for that reason that I prescribed Bicalutamide 50 mg daily. I 
additionally chose Bicalutamide 50 mg daily as it would have been associated with minimal risk of 
adverse toxicity, as that would have been all the more appropriate if carcinoma were not to be 
confirmed on biopsies. Bicalutamide may also have resulted in some improvement in his urinary 
symptoms. 

Patient SUF had prostatic biopsies performed on 30 July as arranged. He was found to have overall 
Gleason 3+4, prostatic carcinoma, which was present in 12 of 14 biopsy cores. Such prevalence 
was indicative of a significant volume of tumour within his prostate gland. That was also reflected 
in the findings of a maximum continuous tumour length of 6.3mm, and of tumour occupying 
approximately 21% of total core tissue volume. It is also worthy of note that all three biopsies 
taken from the apex of the prostate gland contained Gleason 4+3 carcinoma, rather than 3+4 
carcinoma. Lastly, there was evidence of perineural infiltration which is associated with an 
increased risk of extracapsular infiltration. 

The patient’s diagnosis and management was listed for MDM discussion on 08 August 2019. This 
MDM was a virtual MDM conducted by Mr. Haynes, Consultant Urologist. Such a ‘virtual MDM’ 
was not one conducted by Zoom. Instead, it was an on-line review conducted by one consultant 
urologist of the cases listed, if it was evident on prior scheduling that there would be no other 
urologists available to attend. It had been our experience that deferring the usual discussion of 
patients to subsequent weeks led to further cumulative delays in MDM discussion of patients, 
their subsequent review and ongoing management. The reason for non-attendance on that date 
would have been a combination of annual leave and one being UOW. I was on annual leave. It had 
been my practice when conducting such a virtual MDM to have circulated my proposed MDM 
recommendations by email to all other consultants for any comments and proposed amendments. 
I do not have any evidence that Mr Haynes did do so. 

There was no discussion of Patient SUF’s diagnosis or of his management options at the Virtual 
MDM of 08 August 2019. It was the recommendation of one consultant urologist. In preparing to 
chair a MDM, Mr Haynes could have been aware of the increase in the patient’s serum PSA levels 
prior to Bicalutamide being prescribed. It was all the more incumbent that he should have been 
fully appraised of all aspects of Patient SUF’s confirmed prostatic carcinoma to date, in view of the 
absence of any MDM discussion. However, it remains unknown whether he had been aware of the 
further increase in Patient SUF’s serum PSA level prior to Bicalutamide having been prescribed and 
biopsies having been conducted. It is not possible to know whether he would still have included 
active surveillance as a management option if he had known. Nevertheless, active surveillance was 
included as a management option. Moreover, Mr Haynes did not comment upon or record any 
recommendation concerning the Bicalutamide 50 mg daily which had already been prescribed. 

The MDM plan was stated as “Discussed at Urology MDM 08.08.19. [Patient SUF] has an 
intermediate risk organ confined prostate cancer. Mr O’Brien to review in outpatients and discuss 
management with curative intent or surveillance”. It is unfortunate that it was recorded that 
Patient SUF was discussed at MDM on 08 August 2019 when he was not. It is regrettable that the 
MDM Plan with each and every patient has always stated that the patient was discussed at MDM 
on a particular date, irrespective of whether the MDT actually met at a MDM to discuss any 
patients on that date. In this case, it was additionally regrettable that the proposed 
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recommendations do not appear to have been circulated by the consultant urologist who 
undertook this virtual MDM, providing an opportunity for scrutiny. 

It is opportune at this point to review the current recommendations for Patient SUF’s prostate 
cancer (NICE guideline [NG131] Published: 09 May 2019 Last updated: 15 December 2021). His 
prostate cancer is categorised as Cambridge Prognostic Group 3 (CPG3), at least. This is because 
he had Gleason 3+4 = 7 carcinoma, had a diagnostic PSA level between 10ng/ml and 20ng/ml, and 
had been considered to have localised, organ confined disease, as there had been no convincing 
evidence of extracapsular infiltration on MRI scanning. Management guideline 1.3.10 recommends 
for people with CPG3 localised prostate cancer: 

• Offer radical prostatectomy or radical radiotherapy, and 
• Consider active surveillance (in line with recommendation 1.3.14) for people who choose 

not to have immediate radical treatment 

It is evident that patients with CPG3 disease are to be offered radical treatment with curative 
intent as the preferred management option, active surveillance being reserved for those who 
decline such treatment with curative intent. Even though there was no convincing evidence of 
capsular involvement, I did believe that capsular irregularity, coupled with perineural infiltration, 
increased the risk of capsular infiltration which would have placed Patient SUF in CPG4 for whom 
NICE recommends that active surveillance should not be offered. In any case, NICE guidelines 
recommended that Patient SUF should be offered management with curative intent. 

Moreover, CPG3 encapsulates a spectrum of prostatic carcinoma. It would have captured a 
localised, Gleason 3+4, prostatic carcinoma involving two core biopsies in a patient whose serum 
PSA levels were between 10ng/ml and 20ng/ml. The finding of perineural infiltration did not 
impact upon its categorisation. Active surveillance may have been a more reasonable option if 
carcinoma had been found to involve only two biopsy cores, involving less than 10% of total core 
tissue volume, with a maximum tumour length of 2mm, with no perineural or lymphatic 
infiltration and with a repeat serum PSA level which had not increased as it had done. 

I reviewed Patient SUF on 03 September 2019. As related in a subsequent letter addressed to his 
GP, I informed him of the findings of histopathological examination of the prostatic biopsies. As 
indicated by that letter, I have no doubt that I would have described the findings in detail, as that 
was my practice, and which was the primary reason for his review on that date. I would also have 
summarised all that was known of his prostate cancer to date: the rate of increase in serum PSA 
levels, the significance of his PSAD, the MRI findings and the extent of carcinoma hopefully 
confined to his prostate gland. While I did not make a record of it, I would have informed him of 
the management options recommended by MDM, even though there had been no actual MDM, as 
it was my practice in all cases. Nevertheless, I would not have recommended active surveillance, 
and did not recommend it, as I did not consider it optimal, prudent or reasonable, and as reflected 
in the NICE guidance. Moreover, the patient had been so anxious concerning the risk of disease 
progression just two months previously. Instead, I recommended androgen deprivation prior to 
radical radiotherapy as indicated in my letter dated 27 October 2019. 

However, his confirmed prostate cancer was not the only issue. He continued to have severe LUTS 
which had not been relieved by the combination of Tamsulosin and Bicalutamide. These urinary 
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symptoms could have been due to pathology entirely unrelated to his confirmed prostatic 
carcinoma, and all the more so in view of the finding that his prostate gland was not enlarged, and 
may not have been causing bladder outlet obstruction. He could have had detrusor overactivity, 
particularly as he had been found to have complete bladder voiding on micturition on ultrasound 
scanning. Indeed, androgen deprivation may result in an increase in bladder outlet resistance in a 
minority of patients, and reflected in more severe LUTS, rather than less severe. 

It is for these reasons that the management of prostate cancer should not be divorced from the 
management of significant LUTS. NICE recommendation 1.3.4 advises: 

• Offer a urological assessment to people who have troublesome urinary symptoms before 
treatment. 

The essence of the review consultation of 03 September 2019 was to advise Patient SUF that he 
did have prostate cancer with the characteristics as described, to advise him that he would be best 
served by management with curative intent, consisting of the combination of androgen 
deprivation and radical radiotherapy, to advise of the need to assess, manage and resolve his 
urinary symptoms prior to radical radiotherapy, and to ensure that continuing to take 
Bicalutamide 50 mg daily prevented disease progression while doing so. I therefore advised him to 
remain on both Tamsulosin and Bicalutamide until he attended on 27 September 2019 for flexible 
cystoscopy and urodynamic studies. I repeated his serum PSA level. I made the following 
handwritten entry in the clinical records: 

LUTS unchanged 
Plan: 
PSA = 8.41* 
F/C & UDS 27.09.19 

*The PSA level of 8.41 was added to this handwritten clinical record by me when the patient was 
reviewed on 27 September 2019, at which stage the PSA result from the test on 3 September 2019 
was available. 

He attended for flexible cystoscopy and urodynamic studies at 09.00 am on 27 September 2019. 
He understandably and wisely preferred not to undergo any invasive procedure that morning as 
he was dressed to attend a funeral later that day. There was no significant change in his urinary 
symptoms. I was pleased to advise him that his serum PSA level had decreased to 8.41ng/ml by 03 
September 2019. As it had done so and as he had not experienced any side effects from his 
medication to date, I additionally prescribed Oxybutynin MR 5 mg daily as his mixed LUTS were 
predominantly of a storage nature. I repeated a serum PSA and arranged a further appointment 
for him to attend for review on 08 November 2019, particularly to determine whether taking 
Oxybutynin had resulted in any improvement in his urinary symptoms. 

In writing to his GP on 27 October 2019, I advised him that I had found Patient SUF’s serum PSA 
level to have decreased further to 6.37ng/ml when repeated on 27 September 2019, and I 
additionally requested the GP to facilitate the patient having his serum PSA level repeated by the 
practice nurse during the first week of November 2019, and so that the result would be available 

5 

00003911/100.7607538.1 

https://27.09.19


Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 04/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

 
 

 

     
     

 
     

 
 

      
   

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

     
    

       
  

    
   

 
       

   
  

      
     

   
 

     
      

 
     

      
    

        
     

  
    

  
      

    

WIT-83450

when he returned for review on 08 November 2019. I similarly wrote to the patient requesting 
that he arrange an appointment with the practice nurse to have his serum PSA level repeated. 

Patient SUF did have his serum PSA level repeated on 01 November 2019 when it had decreased 
further to 4.51ng/ml. 

Patient SUF attended for review on 08 November 2019 as arranged. My handwritten clinical note 
dated 8 November 2019 states the following: 

LUTS have increased in severity 
Esp: Nocturia x 7-8 
PSA decreased to 4.51 
Tender right breast 

Plan 
Rx Tamoxifen 10 mgs daily 
Rx Omeprazole 20 mgs daily 
F/C & UDS 13 Dec 2019 

The dominant issue at his review on 08 November 2019 was that there had been a significant 
increase in the severity of his urinary symptoms, and even though he had been prescribed 
Oxybutynin by his GP on 27 September 2019 as requested. He was by then rising seven or eight 
times each night to pass urine. I again advised him of the need for further assessment of his lower 
urinary tract anatomy and dysfunction so as to enable its management, and certainly prior to 
radical radiotherapy. He agreed once again to return on 13 December 2019 for flexible cystoscopy 
and urodynamic studies. 

I was pleased to advise Patient SUF on 08 November 2019 that his serum PSA level had decreased 
to 6.37ng/ml by 27 September 2019, and further to 4.51ng/ml when repeated on 01 November 
2019. Even though there had been a progressive decrease in serum PSA levels since July 2019, I 
considered that increasing the dose of Bicalutamide at that time was contraindicated as the 
increased severity of his urinary symptoms may have been attributable to Bicalutamide. 
Moreover, he reported tenderness of his right breast, without enlargement, and for which I 
prescribed Tamoxifen 10 mg daily. Lastly, he reported recurrence of some indigestive symptoms, 
for which I additionally requested the GP to prescribe Omeprazole, as I noted he had previously 
been prescribed Omeprazole, presumably in relation to his hiatus hernia and oesophageal reflux. 

Patient SUF attended on 13 December 2019 for flexible cystoscopy and urodynamic studies, but he 
declined to have either performed, despite my reassurance and persuasion. I was surprised that 
he declined, particularly as he had both procedures explained to him when he attended 
previously. He certainly was not going to agree to have any invasive procedure performed that 
day. In any case, he did report a significant improvement in his urinary symptoms. His only 
persistent symptom was nocturia which had improved significantly. He reported having to rise 
three times each night to pass urine. He did not report any obstructive or voiding symptoms. I 
considered that he probably primarily had detrusor over-activity which was being relieved by 
Oxybutynin. He agreed to have his serum PSA level repeated and I advised him that I would 
arrange a further review when I would have the result. 
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	Introduction 
	It is now 15 years since the document ‘A Quality Urological Service for Patients in the New Millennium’ with guidelines on workload, manpower and standards of care in urology was published by BAUS. Delivery of urological care has been transformed in the interim due to changes in the socio-political environment allied to advances in medical care. Examples include the introduction of new technology, the move away from open surgery, the development of rapid diagnostic services, increased public expectation and
	At present there are approximately 1000 consultant urologists working in the UK. The UK has one of the lowest rates of consultants per head of the population in Europe and consultant urologists have a challenging role delivering expert and timely clinical care. 
	Careful job planning is crucial to enable consultants to fulfil their role successfully and support them to deliver high quality safe patient care.  At its most basic, job planning may include routine outpatients, diagnosis and management of complex cases, operating and contributing to the efficient running of the urology unit. In addition, all consultant urologists are expected to participate in quality improvement initiatives, as outlined in the GMC document ‘Good Medical Practice’. For consultant urologi
	Hence, the roles of a consultant urologist are many and diverse; teaching, training, researching, managerial decision making, running departments and developing local services. It would not be expected that all consultants are involved in all these activities at the same time but rather that they are undertaken across a team of consultants at specialty/directorate level. The NHS depends on consultants being involved in the wider management and leadership of the organisations they work in, and the NHS genera
	A successful job plan should facilitate these activities and reflect the diverse roles that the consultant plays in shaping and developing services.  It should also enable a healthy work-life balance, avoiding burnout. 
	This document details the essential components of a successful job plan and offers guidance on the activity that consultants might deliver on behalf of their trust, aiming to deliver safe timely care, focusing on the individual needs of the patient.  Much of the source material can be accessed elsewhere and a comprehensive list of references is detailed in Appendix 6. 
	Kieran J. O’Flynn 
	President, BAUS 
	2 Making Job Planning a Success         
	2.1 What is a job plan? 
	Job plans are an annual agreement between the employer and the consultant setting out: 
	2.2 What are the hallmarks of a successful job plan? 
	Key to a successful job plan is a fit for purpose process. Job planning should be: 
	It is important that the support offered by non-medical personnel (e.g. surgical care practitioners, administrative staff, specialist nurses etc) is shared between all consultants in the department. 
	Agreement should also be sought on any action(s) the consultant and/or trust should take to reduce or remove potential organisational or systems barriers. 
	2.3 How might a job plan be constructed? 
	The services provided by a consultant fall into 4 broad categories: 
	Consultants remain accountable to their employer for the achievement of agreed objectives in both DCC and SPA time. While consultants receive an SPA allowance, this is generally to support CPD and other activities commensurate to the consultant grade and to the service objectives of the employer. This gives the employer the right to monitor the performance of the consultant during SPA time, looking at time spent and outcomes achieved. 
	2.4 When should the job plan be reviewed? 
	The job plan should be reviewed on an annual basis.  All aspects of the job plan should be used to consider, amongst other possible issues: 
	3 Direct Clinical Care 
	For consultant urologists, this includes the following: 
	• outpatient activities 
	• operating sessions including pre-op and post-op care 
	3.1 Outpatient activities 
	For most urologists, the majority of their clinical practice is based in outpatients. The conversion rate from outpatient activity to an inpatient stay has reduced in recent years with the greater use of outpatient diagnostics and day case facilities. Increasingly the model for the provision of outpatient services has shifted with more activity being delivered on a one-stop basis where the patient is discharged after a single comprehensive appointment that may include imaging (e.g. ultrasound and/or CT) and
	BAUS’ view is that enormous clinics are no longer appropriate. Patients deserve a full discussion where their concerns can be listened to and addressed. Recent clarification of the law concerning consent (Montgomery vs Lanarkshire Health Board, 2015) mandates that, in the event an intervention or operative procedure is planned, the urologist is required to share all relevant information with the patient to help him/ her decide whether (or not) to proceed with an intervention or procedure. Not only must urol
	3.2 Weekend working 
	With increasing pressure towards 7-day working, trusts may request that urologists provide regular non-emergency Saturday working. At present this can only be done by mutual agreement.  New consultant appointments by trusts may specify regular Saturday work and an individual who applies for a post on this basis would demonstrate their consent to the arrangements. Urologists should seek assurances that the same level of support and mentoring would be available on Saturdays as would be available to them, and 
	Table 1 BAUS recommendations for consultant clinical activity, based on 1PA (4 hours in England, 3.75 hours in Wales), including time for clinical supervision and dictation  
	Clinical Activity Suggested Comment no. of patients per consultant 
	New outpatient visit - specialist 30-45 minutes. Number of patients seen will be dictated by the complexity of the patients seen, allowing sufficient time for counselling and consenting 
	Follow-up outpatient - specialist 15-45 minutes depending on nature of the problem 
	Outpatients (one-stop) 7-8 To include provision of flexible cystoscopy, imaging, TRUS and consent as applicable 
	Urodynamic clinic 4-5 40-50 minutes per patient 
	ESWL (am/pm session) 3-6 40-50 minutes depending on complexity of patient 
	Flexible cystoscopy 8-10 25-30 minutes. Need to allow sufficient time for confirmation of consent 
	Flexible cystoscopy and botox 4-6 40-60 minutes. Need to allow sufficient time for confirmation of consent 
	Multidisciplinary team meeting General allocation 0.5-1PA direct clinical (oncology, stones, reconstruction etc) care depending on time 
	Theatre For an all day list (8 hours/2PAs) an allocation of 2.5 PAs is desirable to cover pre- and post-op ward rounds 
	3.3 Emergency work 
	Survey evidence shows that urological emergencies account for approximately 20-25% of all surgical admissions. BAUS believes that consultant urologists should have reduced clinical commitments when on call, particularly in the morning, to allow all emergency admissions to be reviewed daily by the on-call consultant. There should be no scheduled private practice whilst on call.  In larger units with a high emergency workload, and in the setting of an increasingly consultant led service, BAUS’ view is that th
	Emergency work will fall into two main categories: 
	i. Predictable emergency work: this is emergency work that takes place at regular and predictable times, often as a consequence of a period of on-call work e.g. daily weekend ward rounds. This should be programmed into the working week as scheduled programmed activity (PA); 
	ii. Unpredictable emergency work arising from on-call duties: this is work done whilst on call and associated directly with the consultant’s on-call duties e.g. recall to hospital to see urgent admissions or operate on an emergency basis. It will also include offering telephone advice to colleagues and remotely reviewing imaging and test results. 
	3.4 On-call availability 
	P
	BAUS Guide to Job Planning
	Urologists who need to attend their trust after 12am (midnight) should not be expected to attend for regular day time work on the following morning.  On the rare occasion that the consultant has to work through the night, he/she should not be expected to work the following day. It is accepted that, in addition to providing on-call cover at their base hospital, urologists may also be required to provide advice to a number of units across the network. Under such circumstances, local arrangements will need to 
	A BAUS audit of emergency provision by urologists demonstrated that in teaching hospitals 25% of urologists are free of other duties and 85% are supported by a properly constituted mid-grade rota. In larger DGHs (population >350000), only 15% are free from other duties and only 55% have mid-grade support. For smaller DGHs, only 5% are free of other duties and only 15% have mid-grade cover. Many urologists support emergency care in smaller hospitals, with support from a ‘hospital at night team’ or FY1/FY2 co
	3.5 Acting down 
	The term ‘acting down’ is used to refer to situations where, as the result of an emergency or crisis, a consultant is required to undertake duties which would normally be performed by a non-consultant member of medical staff.  It does not apply to duties that a consultant undertakes as part of his or her normal workload but which could also be undertaken by a non-consultant member of staff. 
	Acting down places an increased burden on consultants and should be the exception rather than the rule.  All efforts should be made to avoid it through, for example, effective management of absences (including holidays and sickness) and absence cover for non-consultant career grades by comparable staff. 
	Consultants are not contractually obliged to act down or to be compulsorily resident on-call to cover the duties of non-consultant staff. In general, consultants are only requested to act down when there is a critical shortage of non-consultant staff and the only alternative would be to close the department. NHS Employers does not endorse any one approach and trust arrangements will be a matter for local discussion and agreement with the affected urologists. 
	3.6 Patient administration 
	All consultant urologists will need dedicated time to review referrals, outcomes from MDTs, results from investigations, queries from GPs and consultant colleagues, and dictate and sign off correspondence. This work is directly related to patient care and would normally attract an allowance of 1 PA, although an extra allowance should be allocated when the administrative burden is high. 
	3.7 On-call availability supplement 
	Most consultant urologists are required to participate in an on-call rota; the clinician will be paid a supplement in addition to basic salary, in recognition of his or her availability to work during on-call periods. The availability supplement will be paid at the appropriate rate set out in Table 2 below. 
	Table 2 Frequency of rota commitment and availability supplement 
	Frequency of Value of availability supplement rota commitment as a percentage of full-time basic salary  for Category A duties 
	1 in 1 to 1 in 4 8.0% 
	P
	BAUS Guide to Job Planning
	The level of supplement will depend on both: 
	Less than full-time consultants, whose contribution when on call is the same as that of full-time consultants on the same rota, should receive the appropriate percentage of the equivalent full-time salary. 
	While the employing trust will determine the category of the urologists on-call duties i.e. Category A or B, it is BAUS’ strong view that Category A should apply to almost all urologists. The consultant is typically required to review emergency admissions and return immediately to the hospital when called or has to undertake interventions with a similar level of complexity to those that would normally be carried out on site, e.g. any emergency operative procedure. 
	3.8 Additional /extra programmed activities 
	Schedule 6 of the current consultant contract (2003) deals with extra programmed activities and spare professional capacity. Consultant urologists wishing to undertake private practice, and who wish to remain eligible for pay progression, are required to offer up the first portion of any spare professional capacity (up to a maximum of 1 PA per week). 
	Where a consultant intends to undertake such work, the employing organisation may (but is not obliged to) offer the consultant the opportunity to carry out up to 1 extra PA per week on top of the standard commitment set out in their contract of employment. In practice, many trusts are happy to do so, recognising that they get extra work from the consultant with little extra cost. 
	Schedule 6.2 of the terms and conditions of the current consultant contract sets out the provisions regarding offers to consultants and the periods of notice required. There is flexibility to agree a fixed number of extra PAs to be undertaken as required over the course of the year and trusts may find this provision particularly helpful in that arrangements can be tailored to reflect varying service needs. 
	One approach, for example, is to assess on a departmental basis how many extra PAs are likely to be required during the course of a year to temporarily increase capacity, for example for waiting list work, to cover clinics and lists, or to cover a vacancy. 
	4 Supporting Professional Activities (SPAs) 
	4.1 Categories of SPAs 
	The consultant contract (2003) defined categories of PAs. Within a full-time framework of 10 PAs, the contract states that a full-time consultant surgeon would normally devote on average 7.5 PAs per week to DCC and 2.5 to SPAs. However, over the past decade, many new consultant appointments have been made with a reduction in the number of SPAs and many urologists have found their SPA time reduced. 
	SPAs may include: 
	CPD activities encompass clinical, personal, professional and academic activities. BAUS strongly supports the value of SPAs to ensure urologists have time to maintain and develop their skills, undertake CPD and contribute to the BAUS audits. Urologists are expected to gather evidence of audit and outcomes to support annual appraisal and revalidation. 
	BAUS concurs with the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges estimate that 
	1.5 SPAs per week is the minimum time required for a consultant to meet the needs for CPD for revalidation purposes. However, any job plan with only 1.5 SPAs leaves no time for teaching, undergraduate examination, research, trainee supervision, managerial input or clinical governance work outside of audit of personal practice. For these reasons, BAUS recommends the inclusion of a minimum of 2.5 SPAs in a 10 PA contract, enabling a consultant urologist to fulfil these commitments. 
	Expectations in relation to SPA allocation should be detailed in the job plan. Those consultants with less than full-time contracts will need to devote proportionately more of their time to supporting professional activities as they will have the same need as full-time colleagues to participate in continuing professional development. 
	Additional SPA time should be linked to the employing organisation’s objectives, such as research, clinical management or specific medical education roles. Added SPAs should be evidenced by a commitment to training, teaching, research, governance etc. Individual urologists should be prepared to justify, through the job planning process, that their allocated SPA time is appropriate, or to negotiate for additional time as required. Table 3 illustrates some examples. 
	Table 3 Suggested SPA allocations for additional Trust roles 
	Activity Role Duties Allocation (SPA) 
	Surgical tutor (RCS) Support core surgical training and education within the hospital setting 
	Clinical lead Delivering strategic, operational 1-2 and clinical responsibilities 
	Rota co-ordinator Developing a fair and equitable 0.25-0.5 rota for consultant and junior colleagues 
	Junior doctors’ leads May be responsible for day to 
	0.5-1 day placement of junior doctors to meet both educational needs and department requirements 
	Research e.g. NIHR funded studies Recruitment to national trials 
	1-2 
	4.2  Additional responsibilities (Trust based) 
	These are special responsibilities agreed between a consultant and the employing organisation which cannot be absorbed within the time that would normally be set aside for SPAs. These activities will not be undertaken by the generality of consultants in the employing organisation. 
	Roles may include (the list is not exhaustive): 
	5 External Duties (Outside Trust) 
	In addition to DCC activity and SPAs, urologists often take on extra responsibilities outside the trust. Examples include (the list is not exhaustive): 
	Most of these types of work are not remunerated and consultants will need to work with their managers to determine what allocation of time may be appropriate. Trusts are not obliged to give a consultant in excess of 10 days per year (30 days per 3-year cycle) for study/professional leave, although some will choose to do so, recognising the wider benefits for the NHS. Where the work is regular, it should be set out and scheduled. Where it is irregular, an allocation of PAs can be agreed or there could be a s
	(e.g.deanery/LETB/Departments of Health), agreement to substitute this activity for DCC activity is unlikely unless the full cost of the PA is recoverable from the other body. If the consultant and clinical director agree the consultant’s clinical workload should remain the same, then additional PAs for DCC may be offered. 
	Any potential commitment to external duties is likely to impact on the service provided at trust level and this should be discussed with colleagues and management before applying for the post so that: 
	Opportunities to contribute in this way are likely to arise and vary during the course of a consultant urologist’s career recognising that individuals may wish to take up additional responsibilities at different stages in their careers. Consultants and employers should agree outcomes for these activities and arrangements for reporting back to the employer and inclusion in the consultant’s appraisal/revalidation folder. 
	6 Criteria for Pay Thresholds 
	Following the annual job plan review, the clinical manager who has conducted the review will report the outcome, via the medical director, to the chief executive. The report will be copied to the urologist, and to the chief executive of any other NHS organisation with which the consultant holds a contract of employment.  For the purposes of decisions on pay thresholds, the report will set out whether the consultant has: 
	7 Leave Entitlements 
	7.1 Annual leave 
	A week’s annual leave for a full time consultant is 5 days or 10 PAs.  If the urologist has time out of the system during the week, he/she should not pro rata the week’s annual leave. 
	The easiest way is to annualise the PA allocation for leave – 2 PAs per day of annual leave (for a consultant more than 7 years in post) = 64 PAs leave per annum. For time off that is less than a week, allocate the same number of PAs that a consultant would work in that day – e.g. 3 PA theatre day = 3 PAs of leave. This does not take into account the non-timetabled activity so a working week would always be equivalent to the number of PAs are worked in that given week, according to the job plan. 
	Consultants are entitled to annual leave at the following rates per year, exclusive of public holidays and extra statutory days: 
	Table 4 Annual leave entitlement against number of years of completed service as a consultant 
	Up to seven years 30 days 
	Seven or more years 32 days 
	The leave entitlements of consultants in regular appointment are additional to 8 public holidays and 2 statutory holidays or days in lieu thereof. The 2 statutory days may, by local agreement, be converted to a period of annual leave. 
	P
	7.2  Professional and study leave 
	This includes: 
	The recommended standard for consultants is leave with pay and expenses within a maximum of 30 days (including off-duty days falling within the period of leave) in any period of 3 years for professional purposes within the United Kingdom. 
	8 Annualised Job Planning 
	Many consultants (those with senior managerial responsibility, single parents, clinical academics etc) do not have a working/domestic pattern that lends itself to preparing a job plan based on weekly activities. Both the consultant and the employing trust/health board (where applicable) may be best served by adopting a job plan that is wholly or partially annualised.  A major advantage of an annualised job plan is that it will enable the trust to have a clear understanding of the activities a consultant wil
	Annualised job plans are likely to have some weekly fixed sessions and, in addition, will include the major responsibilities the individual will be expected to take on over the coming year and usually the relative amounts of time spent on each activity. The principles of job planning remain unchanged. The job plan should be a prospective document that sets out the requirements of the organisation and the priorities for the individual to meet those requirements.  Like all other job plans it should include th
	All, or part, of a job plan may need to be agreed on an annualised basis for the following reasons (the list is not exhaustive): 
	As an example - an individual and the organisation may agree that during 28 weeks of school term time, an individual works an 11 PA job plan. In the remaining weeks only 8 PAs are worked, with the total amount being averaged over the year to derive a 10 PA job plan.  A description of working out an annualised job plan is detailed in Appendix 2 (pages 29-31). 
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	9 Burnout Among Urologists in the Workplace 
	9.1 Rates of burnout in urologists and causative factors 
	The traditional characterisation of a consultant urologist/surgeon would include intense ambition, high intelligence, focus and organisation at work, and perfectionism.  Such an achiever would be expected to thrive on stress rather than suffer burnout.  Occupational burnout or job burnout is characterized by exhaustion, lack of enthusiasm and motivation, feelings of ineffectiveness, and also may have the dimension of frustration or cynicism.  All these factors may contribute to reduced efficiency in the wor
	In 2015, the British Association of Urological Surgeons and the Irish Society of Urology published their collaborative study in the BJUI revealing rates of self-reported burnout and causative factors among urologists. The study used an internationally accepted and reproducible research tool, the Maslach Burnout Inventory, which measures emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation and loss of personal achievement. Key findings from the cross sectional survey of 575 urologists were: 
	Self-reported burnout was more common in certain subgroups. Consultants reported higher levels than trainees, particularly those consultants under 44 years of age.  Ethnicity was not a factor. While gender was not a factor overall, higher levels of emotional exhaustion were reported among females.  Posts with responsibility or leadership were an adverse factor, whereas those with research commitments reported lower levels of burnout. 
	The top three reported stressors included: 
	The least three potential stressors reported included operating stress, clinical decision making and appointment status.  It appears the old adage that a surgeon is happiest when left to operate in theatre applies. 
	8% of urologists reported seeking professional help for burnout and 7% had taken time off work. 1 1% reported taking prescription drugs to cope with burnout/depression/anxiety at work.  A further 18% reported taking non-prescription drugs/alcohol to cope, more commonly amongst trainees (28%) than consultants (13%). 
	When asked, 80% of urologists considered medical staff should be evaluated in their workplace for symptoms of burnout.  60% reported they would avail themselves of workplace counselling if it was provided. 60% reported they would be happy to discuss burnout with their medical colleagues. 
	P
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	66-68 years of age or will face being penalised with their pension arrangements should they choose to retire early.  Consultants in the latter stages of their careers are unlikely to have the same mental or physical reserves as their younger colleagues and new working arrangements will need to be developed to safeguard both the consultant staff and the service. 
	9.2 What help is currently available? 
	For any urologist suffering symptoms or signs that may be related to workplace stress, or in a burnout situation, there are agencies which offer help although services may vary in different locations.  Hospital occupational health and GP services are available to all.  Some trusts offer a specialist service for doctors in distress.  Discussion with work colleagues can be most helpful. Advice may also be sought through the surgical Royal Colleges or the BMA Counselling Service (telephone: 0330 123 1245) whic
	10 Appendices 
	Appendix 1 Specimen Consultant Urologist Job Plan 
	Based on an 11 PA contract with 1 extra PA of DCC activity, enabling the consultant to do private practice with 1:6 on call 
	Wednesday 8am–12pm Private practice 2pm-6pm OPD DCC 1 
	Predictable Ward round on-call DCC 0.75 emergency on-call 
	Appendix 2 Working Out an Annualised Job Plan 
	The trust has a commitment to deliver elective and emergency urological services 52 weeks of the year.  Most trusts recognise that consultants will work for 42 weeks of the year allowing for 6 weeks (30+ days, depending on seniority) annual leave, 2 weeks (10 days) professional/study leave and sundry bank holidays etc. Hence the cost to the trust of providing a designated session (PA) 52 weeks of the year is 52÷42 = 1.23. 
	Figure 1 Job plan for a consultant on a 1:8 with a 10 PA annualised job plan and no elective duties when on call 
	52 weeks 
	Consultant 
	Routine clinical work 
	On call 
	35.5 weeks 6 weeks 
	Key: block of 4 weeks 
	For a consultant on a 10 PA contract, 420 PAs of activity will need to be provided by the consultant annually. The precise nature of the PAs will depend on the requirements of the trust, frequency of on call and the services (clinical, managerial, educational etc) provided by the consultant. 
	Figure 2 Number of PAs of activity to be delivered based on type of contract 
	Contract Annual number of PAs to be delivered based on 42 week working year 
	12PA 504 
	11PA 462 
	10PA 420 
	9PA 378 
	8PA 336 
	7PA 294 
	6PA 252 
	For a consultant working in an 8 consultant unit, where all consultants take part in a dedicated on call rota, with no routine duties, each consultant will perform on call duties 6.5 weeks of the year, free of elective care.  In a year: 
	Two elements need to be factored into provision of emergency care, namely routine clinical activity (ward rounds, urgent clinic reviews etc) and unpredictable activity in which a PA would be 3 hours (‘premium time’ - which for consultants is currently the hours between 7pm and 7am and all day Saturday and Sunday). For urology it is estimated that, when on call, there are 3 hours of unpredictable activity per day ie 21 hours or 7 PAs per week. When the consultant is on call, they are unlikely to be providing
	A consultant on a 1:8 rota will be engaged in routine clinical activity (i.e. not on call) for 35.5 weeks of the year. Annualised over a working year, each PA of activity can be calculated as follows -(35.5÷42) x1 = 0.845. As an example, a consultant doing a regular Tuesday clinic between 9am and 1pm will be working 0.845 PAs on an annual basis. 
	1 PA  - 1 routine clinic 42 weeks per year 
	0.155 PA - No routine clinic when on call 
	6.5 weeks per year 
	0.845 PA - 1 routine clinic 35.5 weeks per year 
	With respect to emergency care, a trust would need to make provision for 827 PAs of DCC per year (52 weeks). This would allow for predictable on-call (ward rounds etc), unpredictable care (emergency review and theatre) and the provision of emergency/review clinics 5 days per week. 
	Appendix 3 Specimen Timetable for a Less Than Full-time Urologist with a Standard or Annualised Job Plan.* 
	Based on a consultant doing a 1:12 on call with 6 PAs per week 
	Day Time Work PAs Number of annualised PA (based on 37.7 weeks routine work) and no routine work on call 
	Monday AM OPD 1 0.897 PM Flexible cystoscopy 1 0.897 
	Total 
	6.25 5.95 PAs (average) 
	*A consultant wishing to work a 6PA week might prefer to work a standard 42 week year delivering care on a weekly basis. Alternatively, the consultant and the trust may be better served by a contract that reflects the constraints and demands on the service and/or family and domestic considerations. On an annualised contract the consultant would deliver 252 PAs of care during a 42 week working year across the spectrum of urological care. 
	Activity Time PAs   Total number of Trust requirements 
	allocation allocated PAs per annum per week Per year (PAs) (working 42 weeks (52 week year) a year) 
	Outpatient 4 hour session 0.845 PA 35.49 PAs (52X1)/42= 1.23x52= session 1.23 PAs 63.96 PAs 
	Urodynamics/ 4 hour session 0.845 PA 35.49 PAs (52x1)/42=  1.23x52= flexi/TRUS 1.23 PAs 63.96 PAs 
	Administration/ 1.5PA 1.5 PA 63 PAs 1.5 PAs 1.5x52= ward round/ (allocation) 78 PAs meeting patients 
	MDT 0.5PA (allocation) 0.5 PA 21 PAs 0.5 PA 0.5 x52=  26 PAs 
	Undergraduate 2 hours (0.5 PA) (0.5x16)/42 = 7.98 PAs teaching 16 weeks per year 0.19 PA 
	SPA (audit, 1.5 PA (allocation) 1.5 PA 63 PAs 1.5 PA 1.5x52= governance, 78 PAs training etc) 
	Theatre list 9 hours 2.625 PAs 110.25 PAs (52x2.625)/42= 3.25x52= +1.5 hours 3.25 PAs 169 PAs pre- and post-op 
	On-call (based on 1:8) 
	Predictable on-call 2 hours, 7 days 0.5x6.5/42= 3.36 PAs 0.5x7= 3.5x52= (ward round etc) per on call week 0.08 PA 3.5 PAs 182 PAs 
	Emergency clinic 0.75 (3 hours) (3.73x6.5) /42= 24.36 PAs 0.75x5 days= 3.75x52= 
	(3 hours) 0.58PA 3.75 PAs 195 PAs Unpredictable 7x3=21 (7x6.5)/42= 45.36 PAs 7x52/42= 8.66x52= on-call hours/week 1.08PAs 8.66 PAs 450.3 PAs (3 hours per day) or 7PA 
	Appendix 4 Time Allocation and Assigned PAs on an Annualised Contract 
	Total 362.72 PAs 
	Day Time Work Category Number ofannualised PAs 
	Monday AM OPD DCC 0.845 PM Private practice 
	Appendix 5 Specimen Timetable and Urologist Annualised Job Plan 10 PAs 
	Based on a consultant doing a 1:8 on call with 35.5 weeks devoted to routine clinical care and 6.5 weeks of emergency care 
	Tuesday AM One stop clinic/urodynamic clinic DCC 0.845 PM Operating list (16.5 weeks/year) DCC 0.392 (16.5/42) 
	Wednesday All day Operating list (2.5 PAs) DCC 2.113 
	Thursday AM MDT (stone/oncology) meeting DCC 0.5 PM Research SPA 0.845 
	Friday AM Clinical governance SPA 1 Benign firm weekly meeting PM Clinic (18 weeks/year) DCC 0.42 (18/42) 
	Annualised  Job Plan 
	Total 4.615 
	Annualised clinical sessions DCC 4.615 Admin/ward rounds etc DCC 1.5 Urgent access sessions DCC 1 On-call DCC 0.875 Clinical meetings (MDT) DCC 0.5 
	P
	Total 10.865 Rounded Total 10.5 
	Appendix 6 Additional Reading 
	GMC. Good Medical Practice.  Published 25 March 2013. Came into effect 22 April 2013. 
	http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/good_medical_practice.asp 
	NHS Employers.  Consultant Contract [Terms and Conditions – Consultants (England) 2003] 
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	The Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. Advice on SPAs in Consultant Job Planning. AOMRC, 8 February 2010. 
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	The Royal College of Surgeons of England.  Emergency Surgery: Standards for unscheduled care.   Guidance for providers, commissioners and service planners.  February 2011. 
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	BMA.  Information on job planning – including detailed guides on job planning (via the link below).  Includes A Guide to Consultant Job Planning (July 2011). 
	http://www.bma.org.uk/support-at-work/contracts/job-planning 
	Medical Protection Society.  New Judgment on Patient Consent.  20 March 2015. 
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	); ; ; (mark.d.haynes ); ; O"Brien, Aidan; ; odonoghuejp ; Tony Glackin ( ); ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; 
	From: To: ; Carroll, Ronan; ; ; 
	Cc: ; ; ; ; ; ; 
	Subject: HOLD THE DATE Date: 22 June 2018 04:04:32 
	Dear all 
	We are planning to hold a Urology Service Development Day and therefore we would be grateful if you could hold Monday 24 September for this workshop. I am hoping to book somewhere like the Seagoe Parish Hall, but I will confirm the venue nearer the time. 
	In the meantime it would be great if you could hold the date and I will come back with more details. 
	Regards 
	Martina 
	Martina Corrigan Head of ENT, Urology, Ophthalmology and Outpatients Craigavon Area Hospital 
	From: 
	To: ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; Subject: Away day - monday 24 September Date: 06 September 2018 12:49:04 Importance: High 
	Dear all 
	Just checking if you are happy for this to still go ahead? As means of an update regarding myself…… 
	If this is still going ahead then I can get Stephen to bring me down and collect me until I am confident regarding the driving but I am conscious I would have liked to be prepared for this beforehand. 
	I will be guided by yourselves. 
	Thanks 
	Martina 
	Martina Corrigan Head of ENT, Urology, Ophthalmology and Outpatients Craigavon Area Hospital 
	INTERNAL: EXT EXTERNAL : Mobile: 
	From: 
	Subject: RE: Away day - monday 24 September Date: 08 September 2018 11:58:15 
	Thanks 
	I suppose the point I was trying to make was that we need to make sure that the Away Day, is well structured with a tight agenda and clear objectives of what we want to achieve. I feel that we really need to ensure that it is a worthwhile day particularly as clinical activity has been cancelled and also as there are so many others due to attend (Consultants/Thorndale staff/Ward staff/Lead nurses and Ronan Carroll) are all scheduled to be at this event. 
	Whilst I will ensure that I will be there if this was to go ahead, I am just concerned that we have not prepared anything and I would have really liked to be involved in the preparation for this day with regards to objectives, papers/stats etc……. so as we all will get the full benefit of this away day. 
	Regards 
	Martina 
	Martina Corrigan Head of ENT, Urology, Ophthalmology and Outpatients Craigavon Area Hospital 
	Subject: Re: Away day - monday 24 September 
	No = I think we should still have was going to send you a few points you may wish to consider a start and finish time that is not all day ? 9-30 to 2 or 10-30 to 1 with consultants and 1-3 with the nurses just an idea. It would be best that Martina is there though but if not possible it can still be an opportunity 
	MY 
	Sent: ‎ ‎‎‎ September‎ ‎‎‎
	Friday, 7 ‎ 2018‎ 16:01 
	To: , , , 
	, , michael.young , 
	, , , 
	Dear Martina, I think we might be best postponing the away day until your return. October is already scheduled. So November is looking like the earliest suitable time. 
	Tony 
	Get 
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
	I will be guided by yourselves. Thanks Martina 
	Martina Corrigan Head of ENT, Urology, Ophthalmology and Outpatients 
	INTERNAL: EXT EXTERNAL : Mobile: 
	The Information and the Material transmitted is intended only for theperson or entity to which it is addressed and may beConfidential/PrivilegedInformation and/or copyright material. 
	Any review, transmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking ofany action in reliance upon this information by persons or entitiesother than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you receive this in error,please contact the sender and delete the material from any computer. 
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	Southern Health & Social Care Trust IT Department 
	From: To: ; ; Subject: FW: Date: 
	Denise/Lynn 
	Please see below. Can these images be imported or do we need the discs? If so, can these discs be requested from RVH so that the images are imported for MDT this week? Thanks Marc 
	From: O'Brien, Aidan Sent: 23 June 2019 16:52 To: Williams, Marc Subject: FW: 
	Marc, 
	I have just triaged a referral regarding this old man whom I would hope to have discussed at our MDM on Thursday 27 June 2019. All of his recent, relevant imaging has been performed at RVH. I do hope that it is not inappropriate for me to ask you if you could arrange to have the images imported for MDM discussion. The relevant scans are 
	· CT Thorax, Abdomen and Pelvis 0n 20 March 2019 · CT Kidney on 17 April 2019 · PET CT 15 June 2019 
	I will be in SWAH all day tomorrow, otherwise I would ask the PACS staff in Radiology. I do not have an email address for them, 
	Thank you, 
	Aidan. 
	From: O'Brien, Aidan Sent: 23 June 2019 16:31 To: McVeigh, ShaunaCc: cancer.tracker 
	Shauna, 
	I would be grateful if you would list this man for MDM discussion on Thursday 27 June 2019, but only if the images of recent scans have been successfully imported from RVH have been 
	imported to facilitate discussion. I have asked Dr. Marc Williams to have the images imported. Please enter the following clinical summary on CaPPS: 
	‘This old man was found to have a mild Haemophilia A in 2011, since when he has only required prophylactic Factor VIII therapy in relation to surgical procedures. He had a papillary carcinoma of the right thyroid lobe managed by right thyroid lobectomy in 2014, followed by complete thyroidectomy in 2015, followed by radio-iodine therapy in 2015. There has been no evidence of recurrence since. In 2017, he had a diagnosis of an inherited, non-ischaemic, dilated cardiomyopathy, with a left ventricular ejection
	He has been known to have cervical lymphadenopathy since 2016. There was no evidence of malignancy on fine needle aspiration cytology in 2017. The cervical lymphadenopathy had become more pronounced on clinical review and was considered pathological on ultrasound scanning in March 2019. On CT scanning, he was reported to have extensive lymphadenopathy extending from his neck to both groins, in addition to having small, bilateral pulmonary nodules. He was found to have suspicious atypia on further fine needl
	On CT scanning in March 2019, he was also reported to have a mixed density lesion of the lower pole of the right kidney, measuring 4.9 cm in axial diameter. On triphasic CT scanning in April 2019, the lesion was reported to have a maximum diameter of 6.5 cm. The lesion was reported to have a maximum SUV of 2.9 on PET CT scanning on 15 June 2019. As the lymphadenopathy had a maximum SUV of 9.0, these findings suggested a synchronous different right renal pathology. Renal involvement by lymphoma would be cons
	Thank you, 
	Aidan. 
	From: Drake, Mary < Sent: 15 August 2019 17:46 
	HI Aidan, As you correctly state, Mr has commenced chemotherapy for follicular NHL. I would be happy to accept your guidance wrt biopsy of the renal lesion – if it appears to be a renal cell ca, maybe the best approach would be for him to complete chemo, and then be considered for partial nephrectomy. I hope that chemo will be finished in around 12 weeks or so. Happy to discuss All the best, Mary 
	From: O'Brien, Aidan [mailto:Sent: 15 August 2019 17:06To: Drake, Mary 
	Dear Dr. Drake, 
	This is Aidan O’Brien, Consultant Urologist at Craigavon Area Hospital. 
	You had referred this man to the Department of Urology at Belfast City Hospital in June 2019 for consideration of biopsy of a right renal lesion found on CT scanning performed in the assessment of extensive lymphadenopathy, since found to be a follicular lymphoma. If renal lesional biopsy confirmed renal involvement by lymphoma, that would have been considered an indication for treatment. Presumably because the patient lives in in our catchment area, your referral was redirected to us. When discussed at our
	In speaking with Kathryn Boyd, Consultant Haematologist here, she advised that it is her understanding that Factor VIII is administered prophylactically for surgical procedures only in Belfast. Haemophiliacs are no longer managed in Craigavon. If that is so, then he would need to have the biopsy performed in Belfast. 
	However, I do note that you have since commenced chemotherapy, though currently suspended due to an arrhythmia. On viewing the images, I suspect that this lesion is a cystic, renal cell carcinoma. If it was his only pathology, I don’t think that biopsy would be strongly indicated. Instead, one would consider partial ? radical nephrectomy. 
	I have arranged to meet as an outpatient tomorrow. My question in the interim is ‘Is renal lesional biopsy still required?’ 
	I would be grateful for your advice, 
	Thank you, 
	Aidan. 
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	From: Haynes, Mark < Sent: 04 October 2019 12:37 
	Thanks Aidan 
	As everything with regards the renal mass will be done in BCH I am happy to take this on from here. 
	As we were unclear as to what was happening he has been booked to my OP next week and I will discuss with him then. Given that the renal mass is enlarging and the nodes have responding I would favour proceeding to nephrectomy without biopsy, once his thrombocytompaenia has recovered, with factor VIII cover, in BCH, and can start the process of POA etc in BCH after I meet him on Monday. 
	Mark 
	From: O'Brien, Aidan Sent: 04 October 2019 12:18 To: Haynes, MarkCc: Elliott, Noleen Subject: RE: 
	Mark, 
	I did not appreciate that was listed for MDM discussion yesterday. By the time that I reviewed on 16 August, he had already begun treatment for lymphoma, based upon the high SUV levels on PET CT scanning and upon the bone marrow findings. The chemotherapy consists of six cycles of O-CHOP three weeks apart. He has had a CT scan performed in Belfast following three cycles, demonstrating a significant response of the lymphadenopathy to treatment. However, it has been reported that there has been an increased i
	I have been in contact with Dr. Mary Drake who had been managing the patient, finding her to be on leave . 
	She advised that his further management has been taken over by Professor Morris, Consultant Haematologist, while she is off. I have not been able to speak to Professor Morris. In any case, I have spoken with the patient who remains extremely well. He has had his fourth cycle last Thursday, 26 September 2019. He is scheduled to have his fifth on 17 October, and the last on 07 November 2019. Dr. Drake has advised me that after a period of recovery, and on the assumption that he still did have a maintained res
	So, I had planned to have his further management discussed at our MDM next week when I would be present to advise of the above, and when we may be able to review the recent CT images from Belfast. I had also arranged for his further management to be discussed at the Haematology MDM in Belfast, by Dr. Oonagh Shields, Chair of their MDM, so that we may be have their advice regarding the optimal timing for biopsy / surgery etc. 
	I will provide an update for our MDM for next week, 
	Aidan. 
	From: Haynes, MarkSent: 04 October 2019 08:06 
	Subject: RE: 
	Hi Aidan 
	This man was brought back to MDM yesterday by Shauna for clarity regarding where things are with his investigation. He has not yet had a biopsy and there is no OP letter on ECR from when you saw him on 16 August. Is the biopsy in hand? Can I help by organising while I am in BCH? Mark 
	From: Haynes, MarkSent: 24 July 2019 11:09To: O'Brien, Aidan; Elliott, Noleen Subject: 
	Morning Aidan 
	This man was discussed at MDM on 27 June regarding a renal lesion and the outcome was that your were going to organise a renal biopsy (with Factor VIII). A further referral has come in about his renal lesion which I am triaging as nil extra needed. Have you the biopsy in hand? 
	Mark 
	Mr Andrew Anthony Tughans Marlborough House 30 Victoria Street Belfast 
	Dear Mr Anthony, 
	RE: UROLOGY STRUCTURED CLINICAL RECORD REVIEW PROCESS 
	I wish to update you on progress regarding our lookback on patients under the care of your client between January 2019 and June 2020 while he were employed as Consultant Urologist within the Southern Health and Social Care Trust. 
	As a result of this lookback we have identified to date a further 53 patients whose care we have found to have met the threshold for a Serious Adverse Incident Review. Further to discussions with the Department of Health and Health and Social Care Board the review of these cases will not be undertaken as Serious Adverse Incident reviews but instead will be conducted using a Structured Clinical Record Review that is underpinned by Structured Judgement Review Methodology. The use of this methodology will supp
	Upon completion of this exercise it is anticipated that a summary themed report detailing the outcomes of this work will be produced. A copy of this will be shared with your client when it becomes available. 
	I trust you will pass this update on to your client. 
	Yours sincerely 
	Dear Ms Frizell 
	MR AIDAN O’BRIEN 
	On 20 May I was forwarded a letter by DLS. I assume there was an administrative error as it was not on headed paper nor signed off. I assume however, as you were copied into the covering email, that you are the correct Solicitor I should respond to. If not, please direct me elsewhere. 
	The correspondence in question advised me that you were updating me on the lookback on patients under the care of Mr O’Brien from January 2019 to June 2022 in his capacity as an NHS consultant. I should make it clear that, other than being made aware that there was such a process ongoing, Mr O’Brien has neither been provided with substantive information in relation to it nor invited to contribute in any way to it. We have no way of telling how the Trust went about identifying the 53 patients your letter ref
	We have not been provided with any information by you in relation to the discussions between your client and the DOH whereby it was concluded Serious Adverse Incident Review’s (“SAI”) should not be undertaken, but rather Structured Clinical Records Reviews (“SCR”) were the preferred method of investigation. Please provide the relevant documentation to me. You will be aware of the serious concerns my client has in relation to how the SHSCT went about the SAI’s undertaken in late 2020/early 2021. 
	I would welcome the following clarification from the letter of 20 May: 
	A full list of our partners is available for inspection at the above office | Partners qualified to practice in the Republic of Ireland: Andrew Anthony, Neil Smyth, Timothy Kinney & Alistair Wilson. Service address in the Republic of Ireland: Hamilton House, 28 Fitzwilliam Place, Dublin 2. 
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
	The following clinical history of Service User / Patient A has been compiled from photocopies of documentation contained within the patient’s hospital chart and from information retrieved from the Northern Ireland Electronic Care Record (NIECR. 
	Clinical History 
	have mixed hyperlipidaemia when he presented with angina in May 2004, leading to a diagnosis of ischaemic heart disease in July 2004. He underwent cardiac catheterisation in September 2004. He suffered acute myocardial infarction in May 2016 and underwent percutaneous coronary arterial intervention for triple vessel disease in June 2016. At the time of his referral in June 2019, he had remained on Bendroflumethiazide 2.5mg daily since 2003, Aspirin 75mg daily since 2004, Rosuvastatin 10mg daily since 2006, 
	SUA had also had a diagnosis of osteoarthritis in 2004 and a clinical diagnosis of right greater trochanteric bursitis in 2008. He suffered duodenitis in 2004, remaining on Pantoprazole since 2005. He had varicose veins stripped from his right leg in 2006 and a right inguinal herniorrhaphy performed in 2012. He was found to have type II diabetes in 2017 and remained on Glicazide 30mg daily since then. He additionally had been taking Pregabalin 25mg twice daily for chronic pain since 2018. 
	SUA had been prescribed Finasteride 5mg daily in February 2010 for urinary symptoms indicative of bladder outlet obstruction. He had additionally been prescribed Oxybutynin MR 10mg daily in 2016 for storage urinary symptoms. He remained on both when referred by his GP on Thursday 13 June 2019 due to the finding of serum PSA levels of 19.16ng/ml in May 2019 and of 19.81ng/ml when repeated in June 2019. He was referred to Omagh Hospital and Primary Care Centre. The referral was triaged by a consultant urologi
	The redirected referral was received by the Southern Trust Booking Centre on Friday 14 June 2019. As I was Urologist of the Week from Thursday 13 June 2019, I triaged the referral. There were concerns within the Trust in February 2019 regarding the increasingly long periods of time newly referred patients suspected of, or at increased risk of, having prostate cancer, were awaiting a first outpatient consultation, and who were then waiting 67 days for a first appointment. By June 2019, some such patients wer
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	having MRI scanning. I then requested an appointment for SUA to have a MRI scan of his prostate gland at South West Acute Hospital (SWAH) in Enniskillen. 
	It was my usual practice to request that an appointment be arranged for such a patient from County Fermanagh at my clinic at SWAH, for the patient’s convenience, but also in view of the clinical urgency and in the context of long waiting times for appointments. However, in addition, my colleagues and I had learned in 2019 that newly referred patients were not necessarily being placed on waiting lists for first outpatient appointments if investigations, such as scans, were requested at triage. Instead, there
	I therefore requested that an appointment be arranged for him to attend my clinic at SWAH in Enniskillen on Monday 22 July 2019, or alternatively at a New Patient Clinic at CAH if an appointment could be arranged for him earlier than 22 July 2019, following MRI scanning, though that would have been most unlikely due to the long waiting times. The triaged referral was returned to the Office of Cancer Services at CAH on Monday 17 June 2019. The Office then arranged an appointment for SUA at my clinic at SWAH 
	SUA had MRI scanning performed on 10 July 2019. His ellipsoidal prostatic volume was calculated to be 32ml. He was reported to have an equivocal, PI-RADS 3 lesion within the left anterior mid-portion of the transition zone which otherwise had the appearances characteristic of benign nodular hyperplasia. However, there were appearances characteristic of carcinoma affecting the peripheral zone bilaterally, more so on the left side than on the right side. The suspect carcinoma was reported to abut the prostati
	I met SUA at my clinic at SWAH on Monday 22 July 2019 as arranged. He reported urinary symptoms of mild severity, consisting only of a sensation of unsatisfactory voiding following micturition and of nocturia, having to rise once or twice each night to pass urine. I found him to have a moderately enlarged, indurated prostate gland on examination. I informed SUA of the significance of his elevated serum PSA levels, of the findings on MRI scanning and of the probability that he would be found to have malignan
	Prostatic biopsies were performed by Ms O’Neill, Clinical Nurse Specialist, with antibiotic prophylaxis at CAH on 20 August 2019. There was no evidence of adenocarcinoma on histopathological examination of nine cores taken from the right lateral lobe of his prostate gland. However, he was found to have Gleason 4+3=7 adenocarcinoma in seven of eleven cores taken from the left lateral lobe. The maximum core tumour length was 6mm and tumour was reported 
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	to involve approximately 8% of total core tissue volume. There was no evidence of perineural, lymphovascular or extraprostatic infiltration. 
	Ultrasound scanning of his urinary tract was performed on 21 August 2019. Both upper urinary tracts were reported to be normal. He was reported to have a prostatic volume of approximately 40ml and to have a postmicturitional, residual urine volume of 204ml. 
	The findings were discussed at the Urology MDM, chaired by Mr O’Donoghue, on 29 August 2019, when Mr Glackin and Mr O’Brien, Consultant Urologists, Dr McConville and Dr Williams, Consultant Radiologists, Dr McClean, Consultant Pathologist and Ms O’Neill, Clinical Nurse Specialist, were also present. There was no consultant oncologist present. It was agreed that SUA had high risk prostatic carcinoma and that he would be reviewed by me to arrange a radioisotope bone scan and a CT scan of his chest, abdomen an
	I reviewed SUA at my next available clinic at SWAH on Monday 23 September 2019. I informed him of the high risk nature of his prostatic carcinoma particularly in view of him having serum PSA levels of almost 20ng/ml, levels which may have been suppressed by Finasteride which he had been taking since 2010. I explained that his serum PSA levels may have been significantly higher if he had not been taking Finasteride, and it was for that reason that it had been recommended at MDM that he should have bone and C
	I repeated his serum PSA level on 23 September 2019, finding it to have increased to 21.8ng/ml. I also found that he had a very normal serum testosterone level of 19.3nmol/L. I later requested appointments for him to have CT scanning and bone scanning performed at SWAH and CAH respectively. 
	SUA subsequently contacted my secretary to advise that he had experienced significant adverse effects since taking the combination of Bicalutamide and Tamoxifen. When I spoke with him by telephone on Monday 14 October 2019, he reported that he had particularly become fuzzy or light headed to the extent that he was concerned as to whether it was safe for him to drive. In view of such a risk to the safety of himself and to others, I advised SUA to discontinue taking both with immediate effect, and not to take
	3 
	00003911/100.7614373.1 
	that the update be included when his further management would be discussed at MDM when the reports of CT and bone scans would be available. 
	There was no evidence of metastatic disease on CT scanning performed on 28 October 2019 or on radioisotope bone scanning performed on 31 October 2019. 
	SUA’s intolerance of the combination of Bicalutamide 150 mg daily and Tamoxifen 10 mg daily, the discontinuation of both and the planned resumption of the lower dose of Bicalutamide was related in the update to the clinical summary discussed at the Urology MDM on 31 October 2019 when it was noted that there was no radiological evidence of metastatic disease. Those attending this MDM included Mr O’Donoghue, Mr Glackin, Mr Haynes and Mr O’Brien, Consultant Urologists, Dr Williams, Consultant Radiologist, Ms M
	When I reviewed SUA at the next available clinic at SWAH on Monday 11 November 2019, I was pleased to find him somewhat better than when I had spoken with him by telephone on 14 October 2019, though not quite as well as he had been prior to having Bicalutamide and Tamoxifen prescribed. I was pleased to inform him that there had been no evidence of metastatic disease on CT and bone scanning. He did not have a serum PSA level repeated and the result available prior to the consultation that day. I discussed wi
	effects of an increased dose of Bicalutamide. I was particularly concerned that he may have discontinued ADT altogether while on holiday if he felt unwell. He undertook to remain on Bicalutamide 50 mg daily until his further review in January 2020. 
	I did not consider it appropriate at his review on 11 November 2019 to refer SUA to Oncology with a view to considering radical radiotherapy. He had just embarked upon neo-adjuvant hormonal therapy to which he appeared to have experienced intolerance due to adverse effects which warranted discontinuation for a period of two weeks, prior to resumption of a lower dose of Bicalutamide. Though feeling somewhat better, he still did not feel as well as he did prior to commencement of hormonal therapy. I did not k
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	tolerant of a comparatively safer form of androgen deprivation therapy that was oncologically effective. 
	I repeated his serum PSA level on 11 November 2019 and was pleased to find that it had decreased significantly to 3.84ng/ml, reflecting the androgen dependency of his prostatic carcinoma. I contacted SUA by telephone on 2 January 2020, finding that he had continued to take Bicalutamide 50 mg daily since November 2019, without any adverse effects, and that he and his wife had thoroughly enjoyed their holiday. I asked him to arrange an appointment with the practice nurse to have a serum PSA level repeated pri
	I reviewed SUA on 27 January 2020. I was very pleased to find him eeping very well. He continued to tolerate Bicalutamide 50 mg daily without difficulty. His only persistent urinary symptom was that of nocturia, having to rise twice each night to pass urine. I was also pleased to find that his serum PSA level had decreased further to 2.23ng/ml when repeated on 7 January 2020. As he continued to have a progressive biochemical response to a tolerable, low dose of Bicalutamide, and wary of any further adverse 
	I contacted SUA by telephone on 07 March 2020 to enquire of his well-being and particularly of his tolerance of the increased dose of Bicalutamide, and with a view to increasing the dose further to 150 mg daily if he had remained tolerant of 100 mg daily. Entirely expecting that his serum PSA levels would have continued to decrease, it was my intent to refer him that day for consideration of radical radiotherapy or the combination of brachytherapy and radiotherapy, as discussed at review in January 2020. As
	However, on doing so, I noted that his serum PSA level had increased to 5.37ng/ml when repeated on 5 March 2020. He advised me that he had remained very well since review in January 2020. He confirmed that he had been taking the increased daily dose of 100 mg of Bicalutamide and reported no adverse effects since doing so. I therefore advised him to increase the daily dose to 150 mg. I considered with him the possible explanations for the unexpected increase in his serum PSA level, advising that it may have 
	SUA began to experience difficulty in passing urine later in March 2020. He attended the Emergency Department at SWAH on 23 March 2020, as his urinary flow was poor. However, I gathered from SUA subsequently that he was considered to be achieving adequate bladder voiding at that time. He again attended on 7 April 2020 due to increased difficulty in passing urine during 
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	the previous week. Though there was no evidence of bladder distention on examination, his bladder contained 600 ml of urine on ultrasound scanning following micturition. He was catheterised. Not only had he developed increased bladder outlet obstruction, his serum PSA level had increased to 12.08ng/ml even though he had been taking the increased dose of 150 mg of Bicalutamide daily since early March 2020. 
	Regrettably, he could not be reviewed on 27 April 2020 as the clinic was cancelled by the Trust due to the Covid 19 pandemic lockdown. 
	On subsequently learning of the need for catheterisation, I contacted SUA by telephone on Monday 1 June 2020. He advised that he found the indwelling catheter to be uncomfortable. He was otherwise feeling reasonably well. He did not report any systemic features of increased tumour burden. I discussed with him the significance of the further increase in his serum PSA level in April 2020, advising him that it should be concluded that his prostate cancer had progressed. Particularly as he had experienced no ad
	I also advised SUA to self-isolate and arranged for him to have Covid testing performed prior to his admission to Daisy Hill Hospital (DHH) in Newry on 17 June 2020 for endoscopic resection of his prostate gland. On endoscopic assessment, I found him to have a large, obstructive prostate gland which was resected. He was found to be febrile and bradycardic at 08.00 pm on 17 June 2020. Blood cultures were taken and telemetry was initiated. He was prescribed intravenous fluids and antibiotics. He remained well
	When I reviewed him as an inpatient on Saturday 20 June 2020, all postoperative haematuria had resolved. I advised that the indwelling urethral catheter be removed later that day, but he was unable to pass urine following its removal. He was re-catheterised. 
	SUA was reviewed as an inpatient by Mr. Haynes, Consultant Urologist, on Monday 22 June 2020. Mr. Haynes advised SUA that he could be discharged from DHH that day with an indwelling urethral catheter. A referral was made for a further trial removal of the catheter at SWAH two weeks later. A bone scan and a CT scan of chest, abdomen and pelvis were requested, and SUA was referred to Dr David Stewart, Consultant in Clinical Oncology at Altnagelvin Area Hospital for consideration of radical radiotherapy if no 
	I contacted SUA by telephone on Friday 26 June 2020. He reported that haematuria had recurred following further catheterisation on 20 June 2020 but that it had since resolved. He remained keen 
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	to have a further trial removal of the indwelling urethral catheter. I was able to confirm with him that he did have an appointment for CT scanning on Monday 29 June 2020, but that no appointment had yet been arranged for him to have bone scanning performed. As I had obtained a provisional report of the finding of Gleason 5+5 adenocarcinoma on histopathological examination of resected prostatic tissue, I advised SUA that the prostate cancer was found to be more aggressive than it had been previously. 
	SUA was unable to recall whether he had been administered Leuprorelin on 3 June 2020. I contacted the GP practice by telephone to ensure that he had been. As Mr. Haynes had requested that he next be prescribed Decapeptyl 11.25 mg every three months, I also requested the GP practice to ensure that he be prescribed and administered this during the week commencing Monday 29 June 2020. 
	I was particularly concerned that SUA may proceed to have radical radiotherapy with an indwelling urethral catheter still in place, as I had experienced some of the worst adverse outcomes of radical radiotherapy in such circumstance. I therefore wrote to Sr. Travers, Urology/Continence Nurse Specialist at SWAH, requesting an appointment for SUA to have a further trial removal of the indwelling urethral catheter, and requesting that he would be taught how to self-catheterise in the event that he was unable t
	The formal report of histopathological examination found that approximately 60% of resected prostatic tissue was infiltrated by Gleason 5+5 adenocarcinoma. There was evidence of perineural and lymphovascular infiltration. 
	CT scanning of his chest, abdomen and pelvis was performed on 29 June 2020, revealing advanced, metastatic disease progression. He was reported to have one metastatic lymph node located within the mediastinum, to the left of his oesophagus. He was reported to have extensive, retroperitoneal, para-aortic, perirectal, presacral and pelvic lymphadenopathy. There was a large, soft tissue mass infiltrating the left internal and external obdurator muscles. There was thickening of the rectosigmoid with perirectal 
	SUA was reviewed by a Consultant Urologist (name redacted) at Craigavon Area Hospital on 14 July 2020. In the letter which he dictated to the GP that day, he advised that SUA had initially been diagnosed with locally advanced prostate cancer in August 2019. He wrote that SUA was ‘commenced on a low dose of Bicalutamide initially’. This was not correct. As related above, SUA was initially prescribed Bicalutamide 150mgs, in addition to Tamoxifen 10 mg daily, following which he experienced adverse effects whic
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	the course of his disease. He advised that he could not be certain of this, but would initiate assessment of his management to date in order to answer this question and also to assess if any lessons could be learned. There is no written evidence in the records and information provided of SUA having been offered any palliative or psychological support at this consultation, or of referral to the Palliative Care Service of the Western Health & Social Care Trust. Similarly, there is no written evidence of engag
	SUA attended the North West Cancer Centre at Altnagelvin Area Hospital on Wednesday 15 July 2020 when he met with a Registrar in Oncology (name redacted), and with a Consultant in Clinical Oncology (name redacted). It was noted that SUA attended with his daughter, and that both remained upset that SUA’s prostate cancer was incurable. The course of his disease was explained to SUA and his daughter, and it was agreed that approval would be sought for the addition Abiraterone. It was intended that SUA would re
	SUA had been having increasingly difficulties at his home since discharge from DHH on 22 June 2020. He attended the Emergency Department at SWAH on 10 July 2020 due to blockage of the indwelling urethral catheter, resulting in pain and bypassing of urine around the catheter. There was no evidence of significant urinary infection. He again presented to the Emergency Department at SWAH at 00:58 am on 20 July 2020 due to having distal penile pain associated with the indwelling urethral catheter. He wished to h
	SUA remained in the Emergency Department until his admission to SWAH on 23 July 2020 for further management of decreased oral intake, abdominal pain and diarrhoea. The discharge letter of 28 July 2020 reported that urinary culture at the time of replacement of the indwelling urethral catheter on 20 July 2020 had confirmed the presence of a coliform infection. It was noted that his global renal function had deteriorated on admission. Losartan and Bendroflumethiazide were discontinued due to their nephrotoxic
	The discharge letter of 28 July 2020 related that the finding of mild left upper tract obstruction was discussed with Urology, that SUA’s further management would be discussed at MDM, and that he would be contacted directly with the outcome of that discussion. A copy of the discharge letter of 28 July 2020 was sent to the Department of Urology. There is no record in the information provided to me of SUA’s further management having been discussed subsequently at MDM or of SUA having had any further contact f
	SUA and his caring family continued to experience increasing difficulties at home following his discharge from SWAH on 28 July 2020. On 3 August 2020, the Out of Hours service was contacted 
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	to report that his indwelling urethral catheter was leaking and that he was distressed and exhausted. His GP referred him to the Northern Ireland Hospice Specialist Nursing Service on 5 August 2020 as his family was finding things very tough, being up all though the night with SUA who was very unsettled and anxious. He then referred SUA to the Social Work Service on 7 August 2020 as he was concerned that his family were exhausted and unable to manage. 
	The Out of Hours Service was again contacted on 8 August 2020 as SUA was not sleeping and was restless, though he had settled the night before after taking Diazepam and Zopiclone. His wife and daughter reported that he was not drinking much and appeared to be dehydrated. He was confused and weak. The urethral catheter continued to leak and he was febrile with a temperature of 37.8 degrees, even though he had been prescribed Augmentin the previous day. His wife and daughter were unable to cope, as he require
	The Out of Hours Service was again contacted on 9 August 2020 due to concern that SUA had an irregular heart rate. It would appear that the irregularity was considered to be related to urinary infection. 
	SUA was brought by ambulance to the Emergency Department at SWAH on 13 August 2020. It was reported that he had been having Augmentin administered intravenously at home for urinary infection, and that it had not been possible to gain further peripheral venous access due to his state of dehydration. The major diagnostic finding on 13 August 2020 was that there had been a significant deterioration in his global renal function, his estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) having decreased from 57 ml/min on 
	SUA was admitted to SWAH on 13 August 2020 from the Emergency Department. It would appear from the Mortuary Summary of  that SUA continued to be managed with 
	intravenous hydration and antibiotic therapy following his admission on 13 August 2020. His global renal function had improved significantly by 15 August 2020 when his eGFR was 48 ml/min. Then oxygen saturation levels deteriorated on 17 August 2020. It was considered that he probably had developed pulmonary oedema due to fluid overload. This was confirmed on a further Chest XRay on 17 August 2020 when he was reported to have a mild left pleural effusion in addition to pulmonary oedema. He had also developed
	The certified cause of death was metastatic prostatic carcinoma which he was stated to have had for one year. 
	Aidan O’Brien 
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	Comments concerning the SAI Report of Service User A 
	Introduction 
	In his letter of 11 July 2020, Mr Haynes, Associate Medical Director, advised that the case of Service User A was a potential Serious Adverse Incident. The case was reported by completion of Datix Form on 14 July 2020. The Datix Form was opened for assessment on 22 July 2020. 
	The concern was stated as ‘MDM outcome not followed and patient has subsequently developed progression of disease’. The incident date was 31 October 2019 (the date of the MDM). 
	1.0 Executive Summary: Factual Inaccuracies 
	The executive summary states that the patient was discussed at MDM on 31 October 2019 and that a ‘recommendation to commence LHRH analogue and refer for an opinion from a clinical oncologist regarding external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) was agreed’. This statement is incorrect. The MDM Outcome stated that the patient had ‘intermediate risk prostate cancer to start ADT and refer for ERBT(sic)’. 
	The executive summary then states that ‘this was not actioned’. That is correct, as it was not the recommendation recorded in the MDM Outcome of 31 October 2019. 
	The executive summary then states that he was ‘commenced on Bicalutamide 50 mg daily’. This is also incorrect as he had already been commenced on Bicalutamide 150 mg daily. 
	The executive summary states that he was ‘commenced on LHRH analogue’ on 1 June 2020’. This too is incorrect; had the injection administered on 03 June 2020. 
	3.0 SAI Review Terms of Reference 
	It is worthy of note that the aims and objectives of this review include: 
	It is evident that these aims and objectives were not met. If all factors that may have adversely influenced or contributed to the subsequent clinical outcome of SUA were considered, they were not included in the Report. 
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	5.0 Description of Incident/Case: Factual Inaccuracies, Omissions and Comments 
	In the description of the case, in the first paragraph on page 4 of the Report, it is related that SUA was reviewed by Dr.1 on 23 September 2019 and was told that he had high risk, prostate cancer. It then states that ‘no staging investigations were requested’. It omitted to relate that no staging investigations were requested on 23 September 2019. The staging investigations were requested on 14 October 2019. 
	In the second paragraph on page 4 of the Report, it is written that ‘However, although XX’s PSA was noted to be rising (21.8ng/ml), a plan was made to re-check the PSA.’ The implication of this statement is unclear. It may be that it was mistakenly considered that the increased serum PSA level was found on 14 October 2019, following a period of androgen deprivation using Bicalutamide, and that repeating the serum PSA level was inappropriate. It may not have been appreciated that the increased serum PSA leve
	Again, in the third paragraph on page 4, it is stated that the case was discussed at the MDM of 31 October 2019 when ‘a recommendation to commence androgen deprivation therapy (a LHRH analogue) and refer for an opinion from a Clinical Oncologist regarding external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) was agreed’. As indicated above, this repeated claim is incorrect. 
	It is worthy of note that it is stated in the seventh paragraph on page 4 that a ‘planned review appointment for 27 April 2020 had been made’ but thereafter omitted to inform why it had not taken place. It had been cancelled by the Trust due to the Covid 19 pandemic lockdown. 
	It later states, in the third paragraph on page 5, that Dr 2, on 22 June 2020, ‘dictated a letter (typed on 26 June 2020)…’ This is incorrect as the letter was typed on 25 June 2020. 
	It then states, in the same paragraph, that a ‘referral letter was sent on the same day by Dr 2 to Nurse 1 asking to arrange a further trial of voiding two weeks later’. This too is incorrect as the letter was addressed to Ms. K. Travers, Urology / Continence Nurse Specialist at South West Acute Hospital (SWAH), and not to Nurse 1 who had performed the prostatic biopsies in August 2019. This incorrect assertion is restated, in the fourth paragraph on page 5, with regard to my letter dictated on 26 June 2020
	It is worthy of note that there is no reference to the patient having been reviewed by Dr 2 once again on 14 July 2020. Dr 2 dictated a letter addressed to the patient’s GP following that review. The letter was typed on 15 July 2020. In the letter, Dr 2 incorrectly advised the GP that the patient had initially been prescribed ‘low dose Bicalutamide’. As related above, this advice was incorrect. In addition, and even though SUA was advised that he had incurable cancer, there is no record of the patient havin
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	In the fifth paragraph on page 5, it is stated that the patient was reviewed by Dr 3 (Consultant Oncologist) in Altnagelvin Area Hospital on 15 July 2020 and that the patient ‘was deemed not fit for any other treatment option’. This too is incorrect as he was considered fit for treatment with Abiraterone. 
	In the sixth paragraph on page 5, the patient’s first admission to South West Acute Hospital on 23 July 2020 is related. The Report does refer to contact having been made with Urology following the finding of left hydronephrosis on ultrasound scanning, and that Urology had advised CT scanning which indicated that the left upper tract dilatation was due to further progression of prostatic carcinoma in the pelvis. However, the Report omits to relate that prior to the patient’s discharge from South West Acute 
	It is concerning that the SAI Report has omitted any reference to the challenges faced by SUA, his wife and daughter, following his discharge from South West Acute Hospital on 28 July 2020. Those management challenges may have been obviated or mitigated by engagement with Urology Cancer Nurse and/or Palliative Care Nurse Services following his review on 14 July 2020, and/or by execution of the undertaking by Urology to contact the patient following his discharge from SWAH on 28 July 2020. 
	It is remarkable that the management of the patient following his readmission to South West Acute Hospital on 13 August 2020, leading to his death on , should be simply related as  XX passed away in SWAH’. It is concerning that any reference to the cause of his acute readmission and to the fluid overload prior to his death on , has 
	been omitted. 
	6.0 Findings 
	The introduction to this section states that the patient was investigated appropriately up to and including the original biopsies. It is remarkable that the Report makes no reference to the fact that patients referred in 2019 with a suspicion of prostatic carcinoma waited up to 15 weeks for a first outpatient consultation. Had SUA’s referral not been triaged by me, he may not have had a first outpatient consultation until late September 2019. Moreover, the patient may have awaited that length of time withou
	Patients referred with a suspicion of prostate cancer have had to wait such long periods of time for first outpatient consultations, in breach of Ministerial targets, primarily due to the inadequacy of the urological service provided by the Trust. The impact of that inadequacy has been compounded by having triage of referrals undertaken by consultant urologists while ‘urologist of 
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	the week’ (UOW). Consultant urologists declined in 2015 to undertake to request imaging in advance of first outpatient consultations as they did not have enough time to do so while being UOW. Moreover, I believe that they were not incentivised to do so as they considered that they may be additionally held responsible for the reports of any such investigations requested. That concern would have been exacerbated on learning that the placing of patients on waiting lists for first outpatient consultations may h
	The Report also states that the staging scans ‘would normally be expected to have been performed with a degree of urgency’ and that the initial assessment was satisfactory ‘although rather prolonged’. In addition to the above issues affecting triage, progress in assessment and diagnosis was adversely affected by the inadequate capacity for outpatient review appointments. The Report did not include an appreciation that the requirement for urgency had been mitigated by the patient having had ADT initiated whi
	It is then stated that the ‘initial treatment should have been reversible ADT – most commonly a LHRH analogue – pending the results of the staging scans’. The initial treatment was a reversible ADT in the form of Bicalutamide 150 mg daily. Fortunately, the choice of Bicalutamide enabled its early discontinuation when it appeared that the patient had suffered intolerable, adverse effects of Bicalutamide or of Tamoxifen, which had also been prescribed. If similar adverse toxicity had been experienced followin
	It is then stated that ‘the prescribed hormone therapy did not conform to the Northern Ireland Cancer Network (NICAN) Urology Cancer Clinical Guidelines (2016), which was signed off by the Southern Health and Social Care Trust (SHSCT) urology multidisciplinary meeting, as their protocols for cancer care for Cancer Peer Review (2017)’. This statement is incorrect. The only recommendation in the above Guidelines relevant to Service User A appears on page 58 of the Guidelines. It states that ‘In patients with 
	It is then stated that the ‘subsequent management with unlicensed anti-androgenic treatment (Bicalutamide) at best delayed definitive treatment’. This statement is incorrect as Bicalutamide 150 mg daily is licensed for the management of locally advanced prostate cancer at high risk of disease progression, either alone or as adjuvant treatment to prostatectomy or radiotherapy, and in locally advanced, non-metastatic prostate cancer when surgical castration or other medical intervention is inappropriate. 
	Secondly, the definitive treatment recommended for SUA at the MDM on 31 October 2019 was the combination of ADT and EBRT and did not consist of EBRT alone. Optimal ADT had been initiated in September 2019, but had to be discontinued in October 2019 due to possible, significant adverse toxicity, and prior to resumption at the lower daily dose of 50 mg in November 
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	2019. Progression of his recommended treatment was subsequently delayed due to the need for a further period of time for him to recover from the adverse toxicity, followed by the disease progression while resuming adequate androgen deprivation. 
	It is then stated that Bicalutamide (50mg) is ‘currently only indicated as a preliminary anti-flare agent and is only prescribed before ADT’. This too is incorrect as Bicalutamide 50 mg daily is licensed in advanced prostate cancer, in combination with gonadorelin analogue or surgical castration. In addition, in March 2020, the Section of Oncology of the British Association of Urological Surgeons (BAUS) recommended Bicalutamide 50 mg daily for patients with low-and intermediate-risk, non-metastatic prostati
	It is then stated that treatment ‘for prostate cancer is based on achieving biochemical castration (Testosterone < 1.7nmol/L), which is best accomplished with ADT through a LHRH analogue, by a LHRH antagonist and by bilateral subcapsular orchidectomy’. This statement is also concerning as it would at least imply that the hormonal treatment of any patient with prostate cancer necessitates castration, irrespective of how it is achieved, and irrespective of its reversibility. Castration is certainly indicated 
	As Bicalutamide 150 mg daily has not been found to be oncologically inferior to castration in the management of non-metastatic, locally advanced, prostate cancer, in combination with radical radiotherapy, Bicalutamide should be considered as the primary treatment modality due to its lesser adverse toxicity profile, particularly of a systemic nature. 
	With reference to SUA, using Bicalutamide in the first instance avoided the increased risk of serious adverse events of a cardiovascular nature in a man with a previous history of ischaemic heart disease. 
	It is then stated that ‘following discussion with the families, the review team have noted that the variance from regional care pathways and the anti-androgen dosage used in this case was not discussed’ with the patient. This statement is incorrect on two counts. Firstly, there was no variance from the regional care pathways. Secondly, the prescription of the lower dose of Bicalutamide was certainly discussed with the patient as it arose due to his presumed intolerance of the higher dose. 
	It is then stated that ‘he could not and did not give informed consent to this alternative care pathway’. For all of the reasons stated above, the initially prescribed ADT was not an alternative pathway excluded from the recommended pathway. However, it is true to state that I did not discuss with him the alternatives of surgical and medical castration. In view of its oncological non-inferiority to castration, its lesser adverse toxicity profile and particularly in view of his previous history of ischaemic 
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	was the most appropriate option for SUA, unless and until evidence of metastatic disease was found on further staging. It would be perverse to insist that one would expect a patient to be asked to give consent to one form of androgen deprivation which at the outset could be as effective as another form of androgen deprivation, but less harmful. 
	It is then stated that the review team ‘identified that the MDMs were not quorate due to the absence of an oncologist at the meetings’. This statement is correct. Despite approaches over a number of years, the Trust failed to provide an adequate oncological service sufficient to ensure that Urology MDMs have been quorate. 
	It is then stated that the specific MDM recommendation of 31 October 2019 ‘to prescribe a LHRH analogue and to refer to clinical oncology for external beam radiotherapy’ was not actioned. This statement is incorrect. Even if it was wrongly considered by the Review Team that the only form of ADT was pharmacological castration, it is remarkable that it persists in claiming that the MDM of 31 October 2019 recommended a LHRH agonist, when it did not. With regard to referral to clinical oncology, the patient had
	any further hormonal treatment until then. I believed that it inappropriate to refer him for EBRT in November 2019 for the reasons which I have related in the Clinical History. 
	It is then stated that ‘Dr 1 neither provided a noted rationale for this inaction nor was it discussed with the patient’. This statement is at best disingenuous as SUA’s intended treatment was explained and discussed with him at review in September 2019, in November 2019, in January 2020 and by telephone in October 2019 and in March 2020. My letter of 26 June 2020, addressed to his GP, referred to the patient being reluctant to consider the initiation of any treatment for his prostate cancer in late 2019. M
	It is then stated that the patient ‘could not and did not give informed consent for this action’. This statement is incorrect. Remaining on Bicalutamide 50 mg daily was the only undertaking to which he was agreeable. 
	It is then stated that the patient ‘did not have a Cancer Nurse Specialist (CNS) or Key Worker to support his care’. This statement is correct. There has been a failure on the part of CNSs to arrange holistic needs assessments, to provide further information required, to provide any support services required and requested, and to provide their contact details for the patient. Even though this patient was reviewed by me at SWAH, where no Cancer CNSs were available, those based at Craigavon Area Hospital coul
	6 
	Error! Unknown document property name. 
	Operational Policy of 01 September 2017 is explicit in asserting that it is the joint responsibility of the MDT Lead Clinician and of the MDT Core Nurse Member to ensure that all newly diagnosed cancer patients have a Key Worker allocated. 
	It is then stated that the Review Team had been informed that I, Dr 1, ‘excluded all CNSs from the care of his patients at clinic’. I find this allegation to be egregiously, offensively untrue. I have never excluded any CNS from the care of my patients at clinics. On the contrary, I have requested the involvement of CNSs in the care of my patients on many occasions, and that involvement was always gladly given. 
	It is then stated that without appropriate CNS support, the patient and his family ‘had difficulties in accessing support and care, especially in the community. This resource was provided by the SHSCT but was denied to XX by exclusion of CNS involvement’. Most importantly, the Report does not clarify whether a CNS had been allocated in the first instance. As stated above, I have never excluded CNSs from involvement in the care of my patients. I am unable to address whether a CNS had been allocated or exclud
	It is then stated that the patient’s case ‘was not re-discussed at the MDM despite clear progression of his disease’. I had noted reference to his further discussion at MDM in the correspondence from Dr 2 of 22 June 2020, but I did not find any evidence of this having happened. I therefore submitted by email an update to the cancer tracker on 26 June 2020, requesting that his further management be discussed at MDM again when the reports of histopathology, CT and bone scanning were available. As the patient 
	It is then stated that ‘the absence of any CNS input to XX’s care meant that they were unaware of the disease progression and could not refer back to MDM independently’. This may be true. It certainly would have been my practice to have involved a Urology Cancer CNS or Palliative Care CNS or both when reviewing a patient who was being advised that his/her cancer had progressed to an advanced, incurable stage. It was my practice to arrange CNS participation in advance of the consultation. Having CNS particip
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	It is then stated that the patient ‘received uniprofessional treatment and care despite multi-professional resources being available’. This statement is correct. Even though there was no Urology Cancer CNS available at the outpatient clinics at South West Acute Hospital, there was a failure by CNSs at Craigavon Area Hospital to contact the patient to ensure assessment and provision of any additional advice, information and support required and requested on an ongoing basis. This failure was primarily due to
	It is then stated that his ‘care did not follow regional guidance and treatment recommendations from the MDM were ignored’. As detailed in the clinical history and explained above, this statement is incorrect. 
	It is then stated that the patient was ‘denied the opportunity of multidisciplinary professional referral and care, initially from a clinical oncologist when radical radiotherapy should have been considered’. Again, as detailed above, this statement is incorrect. Radical radiotherapy was considered at MDM on 31 October 2019, and again at review of the patient on 11 November 2019. However, at that time, the patient was just beginning to tolerate ADT and did not wish to consider any further hormonal treatment
	It is then stated that he was similarly denied multidisciplinary professional referral and care ‘from high quality palliative care when it became necessary’. As I was not involved in his care at that time, I cannot clarify whether he was actively denied referral to palliative care, or that it was unavailable, or that it just was not considered. If engagement by or with palliative care in July 2020 was unavailable, he could have been directed to those services in the community. Either way, the patient and hi
	It is then stated that the patient ‘developed metastases whilst being inadequately treated for high-risk prostate cancer’, and that the ‘opportunity to offer him radical treatment with curative intent was lost’. I do not agree with this statement. 
	Firstly, he was initially prescribed Bicalutamide 150 mg daily at review on 23 September 2019. As related above, Bicalutamide 150 mg daily was prescribed as it has non-inferior oncological efficacy to castration as neo-adjuvant and adjuvant, androgen deprivation therapy combined with radical radiotherapy in the management of high risk, locally advanced, prostatic carcinoma. Bicalutamide was chosen because of its lesser adverse toxicity profile, and particularly in view of the patient’s history of ischaemic 
	Secondly, having experienced significant adverse toxicity, he was advised on 14 October 2019 to discontinue taking Bicalutamide (and Tamoxifen) for a short period of time prior to resumption at the lower dose of 50 mg daily on 01 November 2019. If he had been found to have evidence of metastatic disease by the time of his further review on 11 November 2019, pharmacologically induced castration would have been advised and prescribed. As there was no evidence of metastatic disease on staging, and even though 
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	certainly not prepared to consider any further hormonal treatment until then. Moreover, he had an impressive, progressive biochemical response to reduced doses of Bicalutamide by January 2020, when the dose of Bicalutamide was increased to 100 mg daily, with the intent that it would be increased further to 150 mg daily if remaining tolerant of it, in addition to referral for consideration of radiotherapeutic options. 
	The increase in his serum PSA level to 5.37ng/ml on 05 March 2020 was unexpected. I considered and discussed with the patient the possible explanations. As he had remained well since review in January 2020, having had no recurrence of adverse effects, I advised him to increase the dose of Bicalutamide to 150 mg daily, and to have a serum PSA level repeated prior to his further review in April 2020. I believe that it was appropriate to have his serum PSA level repeated to check its validity, rather than acti
	The consequences of the pandemic lockdown were significant for SUA. By the time that I learned in May 2020 that he had since developed urinary retention requiring catheterisation, I arranged his admission for endoscopic resection of his prostate gland as it was the patient’s dominant wish to have the prospect of being free of an indwelling urethral catheter, as he was otherwise feeling well, and even though I did appreciate that the further increase in his serum PSA level to 12.08ng/ml in April 2020 indicat
	The increase in serum PSA levels from 2.23ng/ml in January 2020 to 5.37ng/ml in March 2020 was significant, in that it increased despite having doubled the daily dose of Bicalutamide which had previously resulted in a marked reduction in serum PSA levels of the order of 90% from September 2019 to January 2020. The increase from January 2020 represented a PSA doubling time of only six weeks. The further increase in serum PSA levels to 12.08ng/ml by 7 April 2020 despite increasing the daily dose of Bicalutami
	The statement that he ‘developed metastases while being inadequately treated for high risk prostate cancer’ risks the inference of a definite causal relationship, that he developed metastases because he was inadequately treated. As related, the initial intent was that he would be ‘adequately’ treated. It was as a consequence of the experience of adverse toxicity that his treatment may have been considered ‘inadequate’ for a period of time. However, that 
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	‘inadequate’ treatment resulted in an impressive biochemical, disease response initially. Biochemical evidence of rapid disease progression emerged while his treatment returned to ‘adequacy’ and persisted after it had done so. The ‘opportunity to offer him radical treatment with curative intent was lost’ due to his experience of adverse effects of the adequate hormonal treatment initially prescribed in September 2019, and to his consequent wish not to consider any further hormonal treatment until his review
	It is worthy of note that the cause of the patient’s death on was registered as 
	metastatic prostate cancer and that it was recorded that he had had metastatic prostate cancer for one year. While there was no evidence of metastatic disease in October 2019, it is indeed entirely possible, if not probable, that SUA had occult metastatic disease ab initio, particularly in the context of unquantifiable suppression of PSA secretion due to Finasteride. If that had been the case, he was not curable. 
	It would be reasonable to presume that SUA would have been found to have metastatic disease if staging scans had been repeated in March 2020 or April 2020, as he was found to have extensive, metastatic disease in June 2020. If he had been found to have metastatic disease two or three months earlier, he could have been considered for adjuvant treatment, such as with Enzalutmide, Docetaxel or Abiraterone, as was considered in July 2020. However, his serum PSA kinetics from January 2020 confirmed that his dise
	Family Engagement 
	The review team met with the family of SUA following his death. They were advised that the patient did not have a CNS to support him through his cancer diagnosis. The family described how difficult it had been to access district nursing and palliative care services during the pandemic, which resulted in his admission to hospital and subsequent passing. As related above, a Urology Cancer CNS service was unavailable at South West Acute Hospital in Enniskillen. There was a primary failure of allocation of a Ke
	It was reported that the family considered that SUA had died sooner than had been expected. It may be the case that the advice given in August 2020 that he had about six months to live was generous. Nevertheless, it would appear that fluid overload following his acute admission to SWAH on 13 August 2020, resulting in pulmonary oedema and heart failure, may have hastened his death on . The Report does not include any reference to, or commentary 
	regarding, his management at South West Acute Hospital. 
	Questions from the Family 
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	The Report related that the family had enquired about the initial biopsy of 20 August 2019 ‘as they had been informed that it may not have been representative and that XX may have had aggressive cancer from this date’. It related that the Review Team had scrutinised the report and found that the biopsy sample was adequate and comprised appropriate numbers of biopsy cores of both lobes of the prostate gland, that the biopsy report had been signed off by consultant pathologists with specific interest in urolo
	While it is remarkable that a Review Team would deem it appropriate to dispute a ‘statement’ allegedly made by me without enquiring of me concerning the alleged statement, the Team’s conclusion is concerning. The weight of prostatic tissue retrieved by a 18G biopsy needle has been reported to range from 5 to 10 mg. Assuming that the volume of the patient’s prostate was reliably calculated to be 34 ml on MRI scanning, it would have required a minimum of 34 biopsies to be taken to have sampled 1% of his prost
	The Team’s conclusion is concerning in the face of the urological literature being replete with reports of upgrading of prostate cancer on template transperineal biopsies, on multiparametric MRI targeted biopsies, on Doppler ultrasound guided biopsies, on super-microvascular ultrasound guided biopsies and on elastography ultrasound guided biopsies compared to transrectal ultrasound guided biopsies. The most definitive diagnostic biopsy is when the entire prostate gland is resected at radical prostatectomy. 
	Histopathological examination and reportage of SUA’s prostatic biopsies would have been meticulous and of a quality assured standard by an experienced pathologist. However, irrespective of how arguably adequate the quality and number of biopsy cores have been in any individual case, it cannot be asserted that there is no evidence that the biopsy may not have been representative. 
	7.0 Conclusions 
	‘XX was investigated appropriately up to and including the original biopsies.’ 
	In fact, the investigation of SUA was expedited by virtue of his enhanced triage. 
	‘The staging scans (bone and CT) would normally be expected to have been performed with a degree of urgency.’ 
	Both scans were requested three weeks following review of the patient on 23 September 2019 when neo-adjuvant hormonal therapy had been initiated. There had not been adequate time 
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	available to request the scans at the review appointment of 23 September 2019, and initiation of hormonal treatment had minimised the need for urgency in doing so. 
	‘These would have demonstrated no metastases and this should have led to a referral to a Clinical Oncologist as it would have been reasonable to consider radical treatment with external beam radiotherapy.’ 
	It is evident that the intent was to refer SUA for consideration of radical radiotherapy. However, his referral was deferred due to his apparent intolerance of androgen deprivation, necessitating its modification, and most importantly, his lack of consent to any further hormonal treatment until after his review in January 2020. 
	‘Conventionally this would have been preceded by at least 4 months of neo-adjuvant ADT and this could have been started before the results of the scans were available.’ 
	Neo-adjuvant ADT was commenced in September 2019 prior to the results of staging scans being available. 
	‘XX suffered disease progression whilst being inadequately treated for high-risk prostate cancer.’ 
	The reason for the inadequate treatment of his prostate cancer had been his apparent intolerance of its adequate treatment. 
	‘The opportunity to offer him radical treatment (with curative intent) was recommended by the MDM, but was not actioned by those responsible for his care.’ 
	As related above, the MDM recommendation was not actioned due to the patient’s apparent intolerance of neo-adjuvant ADT and due to the time required to enable him to safely tolerate androgen deprivation that would have been expected to be adequately effective prior to radical radiotherapy which would have been contraindicated due to disease progression, and which in any case was unavailable due to Covid 19. 
	‘The local progression of the disease should have been considered in the light of both the symptomatic deterioration and PSA changes.’ 
	It is evident that disease progression was considered and discussed with the patient in March 2020 following the increase in his serum PSA level that month. He was then advised to increase the dose of Bicalutamide to 150 mg daily as a consequence. Radical radiotherapy for prostate cancer had been suspended as a consequence of the Covid 19 pandemic by the time that the patient was found to be in urinary retention in April 2020. 
	8.0Lessons Learned 
	• ‘The effective management of urological cancers requires a co-operative multi-disciplinary team, which collectively and inter-dependently ensures the support of all patients and their families through diagnosis, treatment planning and completion, and survivorship.’ 
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	Agreed. 
	• ‘A single member of the team should not choose to, or be expected to, manage all of the clinical, supportive and administrative steps of a patient’s care.’ 
	Agreed, though it should remain the responsibility of the urologist to completely inform and advise the patient concerning the diagnosis and management options, their merits and risks etc. The involvement of clinical nurse specialists in patient care should not be an excuse to outsource these primary responsibilities of the urologist who is best placed to provide them. 
	• ‘A key worker, usually a cancer nurse specialist, should be independently assigned to every patient learning of a new cancer diagnosis.’ 
	Agreed, as has been the Operational Policy since 2017 
	• ‘The multi-disciplinary team meeting is primarily a forum in which the relative merits of all appropriate treatment options for the management of their disease can be discussed. Any other function is secondary to, and if necessary be sacrificed to, this aim.’ 
	Agreed, though I am unaware of the other functions referred to and which may need to be sacrificed to the primary aim of the MDM. 
	• ‘The multi-disciplinary team meeting should be quorate, and all participants must feel able to contribute to discussion.’ 
	Agreed 
	It is regrettable that the Trust failed to ensure that all MDMs were quorate since their establishment in 2010 even though it has been aware of the lack of quoracy since then. 
	• ‘Any divergence from a MDT recommendation should be justified by further MDT discussion and the informed consent of the patient.’ 
	I would have a concern regarding the above lesson learned, as I believe it carries an unintended risk of compromising the rights of the individual patient. It has been my experience that the MDT may be ill informed of the patient’s global status when discussed at MDM, and that there may be good reason for the clinician to diverge from a recommendation on further consultation and assessment of the patient. It may also in effect be coercive for the patient, being advised of the recommendation(s) and compromis
	This difficulty could largely be obviated by ensuring that the Chair of MDM accurately dictates an agreed recommendation that includes all of the appropriate management 
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	options for each patient. Otherwise, an unintended consequence may be that the policy could add significantly to the numbers of cases to be discussed at MDM with all of the additional, time-consuming administration required of clinicians, without time being provided. 
	• ‘Each MDM requires a Chair responsible for the audit and quality assurance of all aspects of its primary function.’ 
	Agreed. 
	Having been both Lead Clinician and Chair, I believe that this should be the responsibility of the Lead Clinician of the MDT, or one delegated to act as such, rather than of the Chair of MDM. 
	• ‘The clinical record should include the reason for any deferments or variation in MDM management decisions’ 
	Agreed, apart from emphasising that the MDM makes management recommendations, not decisions 
	• ‘After any patient interaction, best practice includes the prompt communication with the patient (and their General Practitioner) in plain English of the rationale for any decisions made. 
	I am unaware of any explicit requirement to write to the patient following any interaction, though I do agree that it would be optimal. I would be concerned that the requirement to write to the patient and to the GP following any interaction will consume time which may be subtracted from and compromise the interaction, or indeed become a substitute for the interaction. Adequate time will be required and should be provided to ensure that all can be implemented without compromise of any. 
	• ‘An operational system that allows the future scheduling of any investigations or appointments should be available during all clinical interactions’ 
	Agreed 
	The Trust has failed to date to provide an adequate service to facilitate the scheduling of investigations and appointments. While investigative procedures have not been so affected, the failure to provide adequate capacity for review appointments has resulted in patients waiting years beyond the intended review time, with resultant potential and actual harm being suffered. 
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	9.0 Recommendations and Action Planning 
	Implementation of the Recommendations can only be achieved if the Trust provides a service adequately resourced to do so. In this regard, it is worthy of note that the last lesson learned above, ‘An operational system that allows the future scheduling of any investigations or appointments should be available during all clinical interactions’, has not translated into a recommendation and action to be planned in this section. Since 1992, the Trust has failed in its duty of care to patients by its failure to p
	It would therefore be my concern that the cumulative effect of the nine recommendations and actions planned will add to the quantum of work, responsibility and accountability for clinicians, without the Trust being obliged to provide adequate resources, personnel and time to ensure their implementation, and avoidance of further compromise of the safety of the service. 
	Summary concerning SUA in Overarching SAI Report 
	The Summary concerning Service User A again reiterates that the patient was started on an anti-androgen as opposed to androgen deprivation therapy, and that this did not adhere to the NICAN Urology Cancer Guidelines (2016). As I have related, this is incorrect. The Guidelines do not stipulate that androgen deprivation must be by castration. 
	It is ironic that the Summary notes that the ‘guidance was issued when Dr 1 was the regional chair of the Urology Tumour Specialty Group and should have had full knowledge of the contents’. I can assure the Inquiry that I did have full knowledge of its contents, as I read them many times. 
	Again, the Summary records that there had been no discussion with the patient that the treatment was at ‘variance’ with regionally recommended practice, and that there was no evidence of informed consent to this ‘alternative’ care pathway. The treatment was not at variance and the pathway was not alternative. 
	The Summary relates that ‘similar practice in prescribing an anti-androgen had been challenged. Any challenges made regarding the appropriateness of treatment options were not minuted nor was the issue escalated’. I have no memory of any such challenge. I have no doubt that the reason for my not having any memory of such challenge is because there never was any challenge. If there had been such a challenge, I would have been well able to address it, and would have remembered doing so. 
	It is concerning that the Summary should relate that, following his initial assessment, the patient’s subsequent management ‘with unlicensed anti-androgenic treatment (Bicalutamide) at best delayed definitive treatment’. Bicalutamide 150 mg daily is licensed for the neo-adjuvant and adjuvant hormonal management of patients with non-metastatic, locally advanced prostatic carcinoma. It proceeds to assert that ‘Bicalutamide monotherapy (150 mg) is not recommended for intermediate risk, localised prostate cance
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	achieving biochemical castration’, even though Bicalutamide 150 mg daily has been found to be non-inferior to castration in the management of non-metastatic, locally advanced disease, has been licensed as a consequence, and is preferable to castration due to its adverse toxicity profile. 
	The Summary then relates that ‘there were no resources for a Urology Cancer Nurse Specialist to attend outreach clinics’ but that ‘their contact numbers should have been provided to the patient’. The first is a contradiction of the claim that the Trust had invested to ensure that all cancer patients did have access to a CNS. The second carefully avoids explicitly asserting by whom the contact numbers should have been provided. I would have considered that it was the least to be expected of Clinical Nurse Sp
	It is worthy of note that the Executive Summary begins by stating that the ‘purpose of the review is to consider the quality of treatment and the care provided by Doctor 1 to the patients identified and to understand if actual or potential harm occurred’. As with all patients identified, the purpose of the review was to understand if SUA had suffered actual or potential harm as a consequence of the quality of treatment and care provided by me. It was focussed on the treatment and care provided by one doctor
	Aidan O’Brien 
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	Clinical History of Patient SUF 
	Patient SUF was old when referred by his GP on 03 May 2019 for assessment and management of lower urinary tract symptoms associated with serum PSA levels of 11.64ng/ml in March 2019 and 11.15ng/ml in April 2019. The GP also reported that the patient had lost 7lbs during the previous two months. The GP considered that the prostate gland was mildly enlarged and did not palpate any features of prostatic malignancy. 
	I triaged the referral on 07 May 2019 as I was Urologist of the Week (UOW) from Thursday 02 May 2019. I requested an ultrasound scan of his urinary tract on 07 May 2019. In doing so, I requested that the volume of his prostate gland and the volume of residual urine following micturition be assessed by ultrasound scanning. I also requested that an appointment be arranged for him to attend a New Patient Clinic following ultrasound scanning. 
	The purpose of requesting ultrasound scanning prior to first consultation was primarily to have an assessment of prostatic volume available at the time of first consultation, in addition to screening for other pathology of the urinary tract. In someone with no previous serum PSA levels available, and in someone whose second serum PSA level was lower than the first, his serum PSA levels may have been a consequence of a large prostate gland which was benign. He had the ultrasound scan performed on 08 May 2019
	This initial assessment enhanced the significance of his serum PSA levels. The relationship of serum PSA levels to prostatic volume is known as PSA Density (PSAD). It is calculated by dividing a serum PSA level by prostatic volume, and is expressed in ng/ml/ml. The international consensus has been that the upper limit of the normal range of PSAD, denoting a benign prostate, has historically been either 0.1ng/ml/ml or 0.15ng/ml/ml. Therefore, if his 50ml prostate gland had been entirely benign, the upper lim
	Patient SUF then attended as an outpatient on 28 May 2019 when he was assessed by Mr Hennessey, Locum Consultant Urologist, who additionally considered that he could palpate a nodule within the left lateral lobe of the prostate gland. He prescribed Tamsulosin to relieve the patient of symptoms presumed to be due to bladder outlet obstruction, and he requested MRI scanning of his prostate gland. 
	MRI scanning was performed on 13 June 2019. It was reported that there was probable tumour within the peripheral zone of the left lateral lobe of the prostate gland. There was no definite evidence of extracapsular infiltration. However, as I related in my letter of 19 July 2019, addressed to the GP, I was concerned, on reviewing the images, by adjacent irregularity of the capsule of the prostate gland. Irregularity may have been an indication of involvement of the capsule by carcinoma, without any extracaps
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	related in subsequent correspondence, calculation of prostatic volume by MRI scanning was more reliable than by ultrasound scanning. The calculated PSAD was reported to be 0.58mg/ml/ml. This more reliable PSAD was even more significant in its prediction of the presence of clinically significant carcinoma. 
	I met Patient SUF for the first time as an outpatient on 19 July 2019. He reported persistent significant symptoms consistent with bladder outlet obstruction, including hesitancy of micturition, a poor urinary flow and post-micturition incontinence in addition to having to rise up to six times during the night to pass urine. I advised him to proceed with prostatic biopsies. Importantly, he expressed concern and anxiety regarding the risk of progression of any prostatic carcinoma while awaiting biopsies. It 
	There are a number of comments worth making at this point. Firstly, it is evident that this patient had two urological issues of significance to be addressed. He had severe, lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) which had not improved since Tamsulosin had been prescribed in May 2019, and he probably had clinically significant, prostatic carcinoma awaiting diagnostic confirmation and assessment. The LUTS may or may not have been caused by his prostate, and may or may not have been caused by any malignancy of h
	Secondly, even though I related in my letter of 19 July 2019, addressed to his GP, that I had advised Patient SUF that it would be prudent to proceed with prostatic biopsies in view of the reported findings of MRI scanning, I did not explicitly record in my hand-written notes or in that letter that I had informed him of the findings. However, the primary purpose of the review consultation was to advise the patient of the report of the MRI scan. Not only did I inform him of the findings, it has been my pract
	Thirdly, on having been advised of the reported findings on MRI scanning, Patient SUF was understandably anxious with regard to the risk of disease progression, while awaiting its confirmation. As his serum PSA levels were greater than 10ng/ml, any confirmed carcinoma would be classified as intermediate risk, at least. Subsequently finding that his serum PSA level that day had increased to 13.44ng/ml did further justify his concern. The increase in his serum PSA level from 11.15ng/ml three months earlier in
	While some such anxious patients can be reassured that the risk of progression during a relatively short period of time is minimal, it is entirely possible to eliminate that anxiety by initiating a degree of androgen deprivation therapy which would probably be sufficient to prevent progression of a malignancy during a relatively short period of time during which its presence 
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	would be confirmed. It was for that reason that I prescribed Bicalutamide 50 mg daily. I additionally chose Bicalutamide 50 mg daily as it would have been associated with minimal risk of adverse toxicity, as that would have been all the more appropriate if carcinoma were not to be confirmed on biopsies. Bicalutamide may also have resulted in some improvement in his urinary symptoms. 
	Patient SUF had prostatic biopsies performed on 30 July as arranged. He was found to have overall Gleason 3+4, prostatic carcinoma, which was present in 12 of 14 biopsy cores. Such prevalence was indicative of a significant volume of tumour within his prostate gland. That was also reflected in the findings of a maximum continuous tumour length of 6.3mm, and of tumour occupying approximately 21% of total core tissue volume. It is also worthy of note that all three biopsies taken from the apex of the prostate
	The patient’s diagnosis and management was listed for MDM discussion on 08 August 2019. This MDM was a virtual MDM conducted by Mr. Haynes, Consultant Urologist. Such a ‘virtual MDM’ was not one conducted by Zoom. Instead, it was an on-line review conducted by one consultant urologist of the cases listed, if it was evident on prior scheduling that there would be no other urologists available to attend. It had been our experience that deferring the usual discussion of patients to subsequent weeks led to furt
	There was no discussion of Patient SUF’s diagnosis or of his management options at the Virtual MDM of 08 August 2019. It was the recommendation of one consultant urologist. In preparing to chair a MDM, Mr Haynes could have been aware of the increase in the patient’s serum PSA levels prior to Bicalutamide being prescribed. It was all the more incumbent that he should have been fully appraised of all aspects of Patient SUF’s confirmed prostatic carcinoma to date, in view of the absence of any MDM discussion. 
	The MDM plan was stated as “Discussed at Urology MDM  [Patient SUF] has an intermediate risk organ confined prostate cancer. Mr O’Brien to review in outpatients and discuss management with curative intent or surveillance”. It is unfortunate that it was recorded that Patient SUF was discussed at MDM on 08 August 2019 when he was not. It is regrettable that the MDM Plan with each and every patient has always stated that the patient was discussed at MDM on a particular date, irrespective of whether the MDT act
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	recommendations do not appear to have been circulated by the consultant urologist who undertook this virtual MDM, providing an opportunity for scrutiny. 
	It is opportune at this point to review the current recommendations for Patient SUF’s prostate cancer (NICE guideline [NG131] Published: 09 May 2019 Last updated: 15 December 2021). His prostate cancer is categorised as Cambridge Prognostic Group 3 (CPG3), at least. This is because he had Gleason 3+4 = 7 carcinoma, had a diagnostic PSA level between 10ng/ml and 20ng/ml, and had been considered to have localised, organ confined disease, as there had been no convincing evidence of extracapsular infiltration o
	It is evident that patients with CPG3 disease are to be offered radical treatment with curative intent as the preferred management option, active surveillance being reserved for those who decline such treatment with curative intent. Even though there was no convincing evidence of capsular involvement, I did believe that capsular irregularity, coupled with perineural infiltration, increased the risk of capsular infiltration which would have placed Patient SUF in CPG4 for whom NICE recommends that active surv
	Moreover, CPG3 encapsulates a spectrum of prostatic carcinoma. It would have captured a localised, Gleason 3+4, prostatic carcinoma involving two core biopsies in a patient whose serum PSA levels were between 10ng/ml and 20ng/ml. The finding of perineural infiltration did not impact upon its categorisation. Active surveillance may have been a more reasonable option if carcinoma had been found to involve only two biopsy cores, involving less than 10% of total core tissue volume, with a maximum tumour length 
	I reviewed Patient SUF on 03 September 2019. As related in a subsequent letter addressed to his GP, I informed him of the findings of histopathological examination of the prostatic biopsies. As indicated by that letter, I have no doubt that I would have described the findings in detail, as that was my practice, and which was the primary reason for his review on that date. I would also have summarised all that was known of his prostate cancer to date: the rate of increase in serum PSA levels, the significanc
	However, his confirmed prostate cancer was not the only issue. He continued to have severe LUTS which had not been relieved by the combination of Tamsulosin and Bicalutamide. These urinary 
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	symptoms could have been due to pathology entirely unrelated to his confirmed prostatic carcinoma, and all the more so in view of the finding that his prostate gland was not enlarged, and may not have been causing bladder outlet obstruction. He could have had detrusor overactivity, particularly as he had been found to have complete bladder voiding on micturition on ultrasound scanning. Indeed, androgen deprivation may result in an increase in bladder outlet resistance in a minority of patients, and reflecte
	It is for these reasons that the management of prostate cancer should not be divorced from the management of significant LUTS. NICE recommendation 1.3.4 advises: 
	• Offer a urological assessment to people who have troublesome urinary symptoms before treatment. 
	The essence of the review consultation of 03 September 2019 was to advise Patient SUF that he did have prostate cancer with the characteristics as described, to advise him that he would be best served by management with curative intent, consisting of the combination of androgen deprivation and radical radiotherapy, to advise of the need to assess, manage and resolve his urinary symptoms prior to radical radiotherapy, and to ensure that continuing to take Bicalutamide 50 mg daily prevented disease progressio
	LUTS unchanged 
	Plan: 
	PSA = 8.41* 
	F/C & UDS 
	*The PSA level of 8.41 was added to this handwritten clinical record by me when the patient was reviewed on 27 September 2019, at which stage the PSA result from the test on 3 September 2019 was available. 
	He attended for flexible cystoscopy and urodynamic studies at 09.00 am on 27 September 2019. He understandably and wisely preferred not to undergo any invasive procedure that morning as he was dressed to attend a funeral later that day. There was no significant change in his urinary symptoms. I was pleased to advise him that his serum PSA level had decreased to 8.41ng/ml by 03 September 2019. As it had done so and as he had not experienced any side effects from his medication to date, I additionally prescri
	In writing to his GP on 27 October 2019, I advised him that I had found Patient SUF’s serum PSA level to have decreased further to 6.37ng/ml when repeated on 27 September 2019, and I additionally requested the GP to facilitate the patient having his serum PSA level repeated by the practice nurse during the first week of November 2019, and so that the result would be available 
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	when he returned for review on 08 November 2019. I similarly wrote to the patient requesting that he arrange an appointment with the practice nurse to have his serum PSA level repeated. 
	Patient SUF did have his serum PSA level repeated on 01 November 2019 when it had decreased further to 4.51ng/ml. 
	Patient SUF attended for review on 08 November 2019 as arranged. My handwritten clinical note dated 8 November 2019 states the following: 
	LUTS have increased in severity 
	Esp: Nocturia x 7-8 
	PSA decreased to 4.51 
	Tender right breast 
	Plan Rx Tamoxifen 10 mgs daily Rx Omeprazole 20 mgs daily F/C & UDS 13 Dec 2019 
	The dominant issue at his review on 08 November 2019 was that there had been a significant increase in the severity of his urinary symptoms, and even though he had been prescribed Oxybutynin by his GP on 27 September 2019 as requested. He was by then rising seven or eight times each night to pass urine. I again advised him of the need for further assessment of his lower urinary tract anatomy and dysfunction so as to enable its management, and certainly prior to radical radiotherapy. He agreed once again to 
	I was pleased to advise Patient SUF on 08 November 2019 that his serum PSA level had decreased to 6.37ng/ml by 27 September 2019, and further to 4.51ng/ml when repeated on 01 November 2019. Even though there had been a progressive decrease in serum PSA levels since July 2019, I considered that increasing the dose of Bicalutamide at that time was contraindicated as the increased severity of his urinary symptoms may have been attributable to Bicalutamide. Moreover, he reported tenderness of his right breast, 
	Patient SUF attended on 13 December 2019 for flexible cystoscopy and urodynamic studies, but he declined to have either performed, despite my reassurance and persuasion. I was surprised that he declined, particularly as he had both procedures explained to him when he attended previously. He certainly was not going to agree to have any invasive procedure performed that day. In any case, he did report a significant improvement in his urinary symptoms. His only persistent symptom was nocturia which had improve
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